# **UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON**

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

# A study of insulin sensitivity in men: the association with fatty liver, cortisol metabolism and fitness

Helen Bridget Holt

Thesis for the degree of Doctor of Medicine

October 2006

# UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON <u>ABSTRACT</u> SCHOOL OF MEDICINE <u>Doctor of Medicine</u> A STUDY OF INSULIN RESISTANCE IN MEN: THE ASSOCIATION WITH FATTY LIVER, CORTISOL METABOLISM AND FITNESS by Helen Bridget Holt

Obesity prevalence is increasing and with it the prevalence of insulin resistance, diabetes and metabolic syndrome. The link between obesity and insulin resistance is not fully understood.

In a group of middle-aged men we measured blood pressure, fasting lipids and glucose, BMI, waist circumference, skin fold thickness, total fat on DEXA, bioimpedance, and plethysmography and visceral fat on MRI. We measured insulin sensitivity in muscle and liver using a euglycaemic, hyperinsulinaemic clamp technique with deuterated glucose, and suppression of non-esterified fatty acids during an oral glucose tolerance test. We demonstrated that BMI and waist correlate strongly with measures of visceral and truncal fat and also to insulin sensitivity and other metabolic syndrome features.

We measured hepatic steatosis using ultrasonography and demonstrated that fatty liver is associated with impaired suppression of non-esterified fatty acids, independently of body fat, indicating that men with fatty liver have abnormal adipocyte function.

We found a strong correlation between metabolism of cortisol measured by clearance of a tracer bolus of deuterated cortisol and insulin sensitivity in muscle and adipose tissue which was independent of body fat, suggesting that exposure to cortisol is higher in insulin-resistant individuals.

We measured fitness by oxygen uptake during maximal exercise, and physical activity energy expenditure using heart-rate monitoring. We did not find that either fitness or energy expenditure were related to insulin sensitivity independently of body fat suggesting that the beneficial effects of exercise are mediated through changes in body composition.

In conclusion we found that insulin resistance in fat is associated with the development of fatty liver and clearance of cortisol independently of fat mass but that total fat is associated with whole body insulin resistance and is more important than exercise. Abnormal adipocyte function and exposure to cortisol may underlie development of whole body insulin resistance in obese subjects.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION	11
2 BACKGROUND	14
2.1 Obesity	14
2.1.1 Epidemiology and metabolic consequences	14
2.1.2 Assessment of obesity	15
2.1.2.1 Measures of overall fatness	15
2.1.2.1.1 Body mass index (BMI)	16
2.1.2.1.2 Waist circumference	17
2.1.2.1.3 Skin fold thickness measurement	17
2.1.2.1.4 Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA)	
2.1.2.1.5 Bioimpedance and other measurements of total body water	۲۵۱۵ ۱۵
2.1.2.2. Moasures of regional fatness	
2.1.2.2 Weasures of regional fathess	20
2.1.2.2.2 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computerised tomography (CT)	20
2.2 Insulin resistance	20
2.2.1 Definition, pathogenesis and molecular mechanisms	20
2.2.2 Assessment of insulin sensitivity	24
2.2.2.1 Whole body insulin sensitivity	24
2.2.2.1.1 Model assessments of insulin resistance	24
2.2.2.1.2 Clamps	24
2.2.2.1.3 Oral glucose tolerance test	26
2.2.2.2 Assessment of hepatic insulin sensitivity	26
2.2.2.3 Suppression of non-esterified fatty acids	27
2.3 Motabolic syndromo	97
2.3 Metabolic Syllutolle	21
2.3.1 Definition, epidemiology and metabolic consequences	21 00
2.3.2 Fedicites of the metabolic synufome	∠0 20
2.3.2.1 Insulin resistance	20 29
2323 Dyslipidaemia	20
2.3.2.4 Hypertension	30
2.4 Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)	30
2.4.1 Definition, pathogenesis and epidemiology	30
2.4.2 Assessment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease	31
2.4.2.1 Ultrasonography	31
2.4.2.2 MRI spectroscopy	31
2.4.2.3 Liver enzymes	32
2.4.2.4 Liver biopsy	32
2.4.3 Interplay between the features of the metabolic syndrome	32
2.5 Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPAA)	33

2.6 Physical activity and fitness	35
2.6.1 Assessment of cardiorespiratory fitness and energy expenditure	36
2.6.1.1 Maximal oxygen uptake	
2.6.1.2 Energy expenditure	
	20
	03
3.1 Ethical approval	39
3.2 Research Facility	39
3.3 Recruitment	39
	40
3.4 Subjects	40
3.4.1 Inclusion criteria	40
3.4.2 Exclusion criteria	40
3.4.2.1 Medical history and examination	
3.5 Anthronometry and blood pressure	41
3.5 Antihopometry and blood pressure	
2.5.0 Hoight	41
2.5.2 Pedy Maga Index (PMI)	41
3.5.5 Body Mass Index (DMI)	41
3.5.4 Walst circumference	41
3.5.5 Hip circumference	42
3.5.6 Skin fold thickness	42
3.5.6.1 Biceps and Triceps	43
3.5.6.2 Subscapular	43
3.5.6.4 Calculating body fat percentage from skip fold thickness	43
3.5.7 Ricelectrical impedance	10
3.5.8 Air displacement plethysmography	44
359 Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA))	1 1 14
3.5.10 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)	4 1
3.5.11 Blood pressure	46
	40
3.6 Lipid profile	46
3.7 Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)	46
3.7.1 Ultrasonography	46
3.7.2 Liver enzymes	47
3.8 Whole body insulin sensitivity	47
3.8.1 Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT)	47
3.8.2 Euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp with deuterated glucose	47
	40
3.9 insulin sensitivity in different tissues	49
3.9.1 Insulin sensitivity in muscle and liver	49
3.9.2 Insulin sensitivity in adipose tissue	49

0.10	nypoinalanic pitulary autenar axis (nPAA) studies	
3.1	0.1 Morning cortisol	
3.1	0.2 Low dose ACTH test	
3.1	0.3 Conticosteroid binding globulin (CBG)	
ර. I	0.4 Free contisol	
ر. ا م	0.5 Consol clearance	
	3.10.5.1 Preparation of deuterated contisol	
	3 10 5 3 Linid extraction	51
2	3 10 5 4 Internal standards	52
3	8.10.5.5 Mass spectrometry	
3.11	Physical activity and fitness	53
3.1	1.1 Physical activity	53
З	B.11.1.1 Physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE)	53
Э	B.11.1.2 Physical activity questionnaires	54
3.1	1.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness	54
З	3.11.2.1 Treadmill assessment of VO <sub>2</sub> max	54
4.1	Introduction	56
4.1 4 2	Introduction	56 57
4.1 4.2	Introduction	56 57
4.1 4.2 4.3	Introduction Methods Results	56 57 58
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	Introduction Methods Results Discussion	56 57 58 74
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 5 T	Introduction Methods Results Discussion THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN FATTY LIVER AND INS	56 57 58 74 ULIN
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 5 T RESI	Introduction Methods Results Discussion HE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN FATTY LIVER AND INSUSTANCE IN OBESE SUBJECTS	56 57 58 74 ULIN 78
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 5 T RESI 5.1	Introduction Methods Results Discussion THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN FATTY LIVER AND INSUSTANCE IN OBESE SUBJECTS Introduction	
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 5 T RES 5.1 5.2	Introduction Methods Results Discussion THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN FATTY LIVER AND INSUSTANCE IN OBESE SUBJECTS Introduction Methods	
4.1 4.2 4.3 5.1 5.2 5.3	Introduction Methods Results Discussion THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN FATTY LIVER AND INSUSTANCE IN OBESE SUBJECTS Introduction Methods Results	
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 5 T RES 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4	Introduction Methods Results Discussion HE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN FATTY LIVER AND INSUSTANCE IN OBESE SUBJECTS Introduction Methods Results Discussion	
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 5 T RES 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5 T NSU	Introduction Methods Results Discussion THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN FATTY LIVER AND INSUSTANCE IN OBESE SUBJECTS Introduction Methods Results Discussion HE ROLE OF CORTISOL IN THE RELATIONSHIP BETULIN SENSITIVITY AND OBESITY	
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 5 T RES 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.4 T NSU 6.1	Introduction Methods Results Discussion THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN FATTY LIVER AND INSUSTANCE IN OBESE SUBJECTS Introduction Methods Results Discussion HE ROLE OF CORTISOL IN THE RELATIONSHIP BET LIN SENSITIVITY AND OBESITY	

6.3	Results
Dis	cussion
7 AC SY	THE ROLE OF BODY FAT, FITNESS AND PHYSICAL TIVITY IN INSULIN RESISTANCE AND THE METABOLIC NDROME
7.1	Introduction 114
7.2	Methods115
7.3	Results116
Dis	cussion 126
8	CONCLUSIONS

# TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 4-1: Distribution of BMI amongst the subjects	. 63
Figure 4-2 Bland-Altman plots comparing percentage fat measured by DEXA,	
Bod Pod, bioimpedance and skin fold measurement	64
Figure 4-3 Scatter plots of percentage fat measured by DEXA, Bod Pod,	
bioimpedance and skin fold measurement against BMI	66
Figure 4-4 Relationships between DEXA, Bod Pod, bioimpedance and skin fold	b
measured percentage total body fat and BMI	67
Figure 4-5 Scatter plot of waist circumference against BMI	68
Figure 4-6 Bland Altman plot standardised BMI and waist	69
Figure 4-7 Bland Altman plot standardised BMI against total fat on DEXA	70
Figure 4-8 Scatter plot of standardised trunk fat on DEXA against standardised	I
total fat on DEXA, BMI and waist circumference	71
Figure 5-1 Plasma glucose during the clamp	88
Figure 5-2 Plasma insulin during the clamp	88
Figure 5-3 NEFA suppression during the OGTT in lean men and obese men wi	th
and without fatty liver	
and white a range work	89
Figure 5-4 Suppression of hepatic glucose output on commencing insulin infusi	89 ion
Figure 5-4 Suppression of hepatic glucose output on commencing insulin infusi	89 ion 90
Figure 5-4 Suppression of hepatic glucose output on commencing insulin infusi Figure 6-1 The relationship between cortisol clearance and glucose disposal. 1	89 ion 90 05
Figure 5-4 Suppression of hepatic glucose output on commencing insulin infusi Figure 6-1 The relationship between cortisol clearance and glucose disposal. 1 Figure 7-1 Distribution of fitness in 25 subjects	89 ion 90 05 22
Figure 5-4 Suppression of hepatic glucose output on commencing insulin infusi Figure 6-1 The relationship between cortisol clearance and glucose disposal. 1 Figure 7-1 Distribution of fitness in 25 subjects	89 ion 90 05 22 23
Figure 5-4 Suppression of hepatic glucose output on commencing insulin infusi Figure 6-1 The relationship between cortisol clearance and glucose disposal. 1 Figure 7-1 Distribution of fitness in 25 subjects	89 ion 90 05 22 23 23

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisors Christopher Byrne and David Phillips for their advice, help and support in completing this project.

I am grateful for financial support for this study from the Wellcome Trust, from NHS Research and Development funds, and from Wessex Deanery who paid my salary for one year.

I wish to especially thank the nurses and administrative staff in the Clinical Research Facility for all their help in organising and running the research.

I would like to thank collaborators in Cambridge MRC unit, Nicolas Wareham and Ulf Ekelund for analysing the physical activity energy expenditure data and for their advice regarding analysis of the fitness data.

My thanks to Margot Umpleby, Fariba Shojaee-Moradie and Nicola Jackson in St Thomas' for supplying the deuterated glucose, analysing the samples and help with interpretation of the clamp isotope data.

I would like to thank Anthony Postle and Grielof Koster for analysing the deuterated cortisol samples and to the staff in pharmacy who prepared the samples for administration to volunteers.

I am grateful to Peter Wood who was a constant source of advice and encouragement in discussions on cortisol metabolism.

I would like to thank Chunli Wang for preparing the deuterated cortisol samples for analysis.

I wish to thank Lucinda England, Alexandra Ward, Ruth Poole, Richard I Holt, Junlong Zhang, Nicola Englyst and Cathy McHugh for all their advice and help.

I would like to thank Sarah Wilde for her help with statistical analyses and Keith Dewbury, Mary Hanna, Angela Darekar and the radiology and DEXA staff.

I am very grateful to my brother, Richard M Holt for proof reading.

I would like to thank all of my volunteers for giving so much of their time, for giving me very valuable and touching insights into many aspects of obesity which I use constantly in my clinical work, and for amusing me with their stories. Without their generosity this project would not have been possible.

Finally I would like to thank my family, especially my husband, David Morgan, who helped in so many ways, and my son, Daniel Morgan, who very much wanted to help. Your love and support on completing this thesis is appreciated.

# ABBREVIATIONS

ACTH	adrenocorticotropic hormone
11βHSD	11 beta hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
BMI	body mass index
DEXA	dual energy x-ray absorptiometry
HDL	high density lipoprotein
НРАА	hypothalamic pituitary adrenal axis
IL-6	Interleukin-6
LDL	low density lipoprotein
NAFLD	non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
NASH	non-alcoholic steatohepatitis
NEFA	non-esterified fatty acid
PAEE	physical activity energy expenditure
PEPCK	phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase
PAI	plasminogen activator inhibitor
РІЗК	phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase
РКВ	protein kinase B
PPAR	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
TNFα	tumour necrosis factor alpha

# **1 INTRODUCTION**

Obesity has been increasing in prevalence over recent decades, and although it is now well established that obesity is associated with increased risk of cardiovascular disease, many aspects of this association are not well understood. Obese subjects are at increased risk of developing insulin resistance and diabetes, hypertension and having high plasma levels of triglycerides with low levels of protective high-density lipoprotein, all of which lead to atherosclerosis. It was originally Reaven's observation that these cardiovascular risk factors tend to cluster together, in what is now called the metabolic syndrome <sup>1-4</sup>, a condition which has subsequently undergone many definitions by different health organisations. It remains poorly understood why some subjects develop obesity and associated health problems, whilst others seem to remain metabolically normal by comparison. Furthermore the metabolic syndrome now encompasses the development of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and it is not yet clear how this condition fits into the picture of obesity and insulin-resistance.

The aim of these studies was to carefully define a small group of men with regard to body composition and insulin resistance, to determine:

- the best method to assess body composition to identify subjects at increased cardiovascular risk and whether BMI remains useful;
- the relationship between fatty liver disease, obesity and insulin resistance;
- the role of the hypothalamic pituitary adrenal axis, with particular reference to the clearance of cortisol, to determine whether excess exposure to cortisol plays a role in the development of the metabolic syndrome;
- whether increased exercise and fitness are protective against cardiovascular risk factors independently of their effect on body composition..

There has been very much controversy recently about the best method to use to identify obese subjects at risk of developing cardiovascular disease. In particular it has been suggested that waist measurement, as a proxy for central obesity, is

used in preference to body mass index to identify individuals at risk <sup>5 6</sup>. Body composition was measured in detail, and because many methods are used for the evaluation of fatness and lean mass, the first aim of this study was a comparison of the different methods available, particularly because there has been much controversy regarding the best method to identify individuals with increased metabolic risk <sup>6-9</sup>.

Body composition and insulin resistance were measured in as precise detail as possible, to determine as far as possible the relationships between aspects of these measurements and the other modalities of interest. A literature search was undertaken to determine the best methods of measuring insulin resistance in this group of subjects. A euglycaemic, hyperinsulinaemic clamp was used with labelled glucose to allow measurement of suppression of endogenous glucose production <sup>10,11</sup> and suppression of non-esterified fatty acids during an oral glucose tolerance test was used to measure insulin sensitivity in adipose tissue <sup>12</sup>

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is now recognised as part of the metabolic syndrome <sup>13-15</sup>, and describes a range of disease through simple steatosis, or fatty infiltration, through non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) to cirrhosis. The underlying cause of NAFLD is uncertain but it is strongly associated with obesity and type 2 diabetes <sup>14,16,17</sup>. Establishing whether insulin resistance or obesity is the more important factor for the development of fatty liver is difficult because of the strong co-linear association between obesity and insulin resistance <sup>14,18-20</sup>. Recent literature has suggested that insulin resistance may be a more important factor than obesity for the development of NAFLD <sup>13,19,21</sup> and so the second aim of this study was to determine the relationship between fatty liver, fatness and insulin resistance.

It has been suggested that abnormalities of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis underlie the link between central obesity and insulin resistance because these features also occur in Cushing's syndrome, when a pathological

excess of cortisol results in a severe metabolic syndrome phenotype <sup>22</sup> and because cortisol increases gluconeogenesis <sup>23</sup>. In fact circulating cortisol levels are low or normal in obesity <sup>24-27</sup>, however ACTH and cortisol responses to stress increase with both obesity and impaired glucose disposal <sup>28</sup>. Urinary cortisol is increased in obesity suggesting that clearance is increased <sup>29,30</sup> and increased urinary cortisol has also been demonstrated to correlate with fasting glucose and insulin <sup>31</sup>. Cortisol clearance has not previously been studied directly in relation to detailed measurements of insulin sensitivity. A paradox arises because although morning cortisol is low in obesity, increased morning cortisol is associated with reduced insulin sensitivity. The third aim of this study was to determine the relationship between fatness, insulin sensitivity and cortisol clearance, and to determine its relationship with fatty liver, because it has been suggested that there may also be a subtle, chronic activation of the HPA axis in NAFLD <sup>33</sup>.

High levels of cardiorespiratory fitness and physical activity offer some protection against the excess cardiovascular risk associated with insulin resistance and the metabolic syndrome <sup>34</sup>, however there is still not consensus regarding the relative importance of fitness and physical activity to influence these factors. Furthermore it is unclear whether the relationship between insulin sensitivity, fitness and physical activity is conferred through alterations of body composition. The fourth aim of this study was to determine the relationship between fitness, physical activity, body composition and insulin sensitivity.

# 2 BACKGROUND

### 2.1 Obesity

#### 2.1.1 Epidemiology and metabolic consequences

Obesity is defined as a BMI greater than 30kg/m<sup>2</sup> and its prevalence is increasing, standing at 15-20% across most established market economies <sup>35</sup>. In America the prevalence of obesity increased from 22.9% to 30.5% between 1994 and 2000 according to the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III), with well over half of adults in the overweight or obese categories <sup>36</sup>.

The original Framingham epidemiological studies identified a link between obesity and the development of cardiovascular disease <sup>37</sup>, and this link is now well established, with increasing obesity thought to be responsible for slowing the decline in cardiovascular disease incidence seen in the Nurses' Health Study <sup>38</sup>. Obese individuals have a 40-fold increased risk of diabetes compared with lean individuals <sup>4</sup>. Obesity was not included in Reaven's original description of the metabolic syndrome <sup>1</sup> but it is the best predictor of subsequent development of metabolic syndrome <sup>39</sup>, and is often now considered to be the common factor in the development of the metabolic syndrome <sup>40,41</sup>.

It has been well described that obese women with the typical female pattern of peripheral fat accumulation are relatively insulin sensitive compared to those with central fat accumulation <sup>42</sup>. There is some evidence that the same association may be seen in men although the degree of variation in fat distribution is smaller <sup>4</sup>. One study showed that central fat accumulation is a risk factor beyond increased BMI for the development of diabetes in men <sup>43</sup>.

Abdominal fat is divided between the subcutaneous and visceral compartments, and there has been evidence presented suggesting a causal link between visceral fat and development of the dyslipidaemia and insulin resistance seen in the metabolic syndrome <sup>44-46</sup>, although this is not yet a universally accepted

mechanism <sup>47</sup>. Amount of visceral fat is strongly associated with adverse lipid profile, namely increased plasma triglycerides and Apo B cholesterol and reduced HDL cholesterol <sup>48,49</sup>. Visceral fat releases fatty acids directly to the portal circulation and Randle first introduced the concept that non-esterified fatty acids (NEFAs) may be causal in type 2 diabetes by resulting in impaired glucose oxidation and utilisation <sup>50</sup> This effect of visceral fat on dyslipidaemia seems to be independent of the effect of body mass index. Fat mass is increased by a combination of increased adipocyte size and number <sup>51</sup> and large abdominal adipocyte size also predicts the development of diabetes <sup>52</sup>.

#### 2.1.2 Assessment of obesity

Different methods are appropriate for defining fatness depending on the aims of measurement.

#### 2.1.2.1 Measures of overall fatness

There is clear evidence that overall obesity puts individuals at health risk. Obesity is defined by BMI, which does not define an individual's body composition, and it has been suggested that waist circumference rather than BMI is used for population screening in identifying individuals at cardiovascular risk <sup>5 53</sup>, although evidence that it is a more useful measure than BMI is lacking. As neither measure is used alone as a basis for instituting treatment, it may not matter which method is used to determine who should have plasma lipid and glucose and blood pressure measured. For small studies aimed at understanding more about how obesity relates to the risk factors for atherosclerosis however, much more detailed measurements of body composition are required. The methods which are used for assessing overall obesity are BMI, waist circumference, skinfold thickness, DEXA scanning, bioimpedance and other measurements of total body water, hydrostatic weighing and air displacement plethysmography. Each of these is considered below.

#### 2.1.2.1.1 Body mass index (BMI)

The simplest and most widely-accepted measure of overall obesity is a measure of weight adjusted for height, the body mass index (Quetelet index), defined as weight divided by height squared (kg/m<sup>2</sup>). The BMI does not give any indication of body composition but is closely correlated with more sophisticated measures of obesity and as such is a useful screening tool <sup>54</sup>. It has been widely used in population studies and predicts the development of diabetes <sup>4,55,56</sup>, ischaemic heart disease <sup>57,58</sup> and premature death <sup>59</sup>.

The cut-offs for overweight and obesity have varied in different studies. The WHO definition of overweight is BMI>25kg/m<sup>2</sup> and obesity BMI>30kg/m<sup>2 60</sup> although it is recognised that even within the normal weight category there is progressive risk of disease from BMI 20-22kg/m<sup>2 61</sup>.

The normal range of BMI should be modified for different populations, according to body composition and degree of risk associated with a high BMI in that population. In a North Indian population it was shown that in men a BMI of 21.4 kg/m<sup>2</sup> was associated with percentage body fat 21.3 %, whereas in a European population an equivalent percentage body fat equated with a BMI of 25.2 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. In women a BMI of 23.3 kg/m<sup>2</sup> was associated with percentage body fat equated with a BMI of 25.2 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. It has been suggested therefore that BMI over 22.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> is used to define overweight in South Asian males and BMI over 19 kg/m<sup>2</sup> to define overweight in South Asian females <sup>62</sup>. Across other Asian populations, namely Indonesians, Singapore Chinese, Malays, and Indian and Hong Kong Chinese BMI was 3-4 units lower for the same percentage body fat compared to individuals of European origin, with further slight variation between these populations and suggested definitions for obesity have ranged from BMI over 25kg/m<sup>2</sup> to BMI over 27.5kg/m<sup>2</sup> <sup>63</sup>.

In contrast, although there are slight differences in body composition between individuals of Afro-Caribbean and European origin there is close correlation

between BMI and total fat percentage so it is reasonable to use the same BMI indices of overweight and obesity in these populations <sup>64,65</sup>.

BMI becomes a less accurate measure of fatness in the elderly due to the changes in body composition which occur with age, namely loss of muscle mass and increased adiposity. Weight may remain stable or even decrease despite increasing obesity <sup>66-68</sup> and BMI is probably not an ideal tool to use in this group. There is also a minority of very muscular individuals in whom BMI is not a good measure of fatness.

In summary BMI is a simple and useful measure of fatness for population studies and to identify individuals who may be at risk of cardiovascular disease but appropriate normal values must be used for the ethnicity of the population or individual being studied and it is less useful in elderly or extremely muscular individuals.

#### 2.1.2.1.2 Waist circumference

Waist circumference measurement has been suggested as an alternative screening method to BMI to identify obese individuals <sup>5,8</sup>. It does have the potential advantage of combining a measure of overall fatness with an assessment of regional adiposity. Waist circumference is arguably more difficult to reproduce, requiring training in a standardised technique, usually measured at the midpoint between the lowest rib and iliac crest <sup>5</sup>. The levels which predict increased cardiovascular risk are greater than 94cm in men and greater than 80cm in women <sup>53</sup>. Its potential use in predicting visceral obesity will be discussed below but at present waist circumference is usually used in addition to rather than in place of BMI as a measure of overall fatness.

#### 2.1.2.1.3 Skin fold thickness measurement

Subcutaneous fat can be measured using calipers to determine skin fold thickness and a logarithm sum of four measurements located at the subscapular, supra-iliac, biceps and triceps areas used to estimate total body fat by the method of Durnin and Wormersley <sup>69</sup>. This method has the advantage of being relatively inexpensive but the disadvantages of this method are that it is technically difficult and shows considerable variation between observers. It has been suggested that because of these disadvantages, and as it does not provide a measure of intra-abdominal fatness, skin-fold thickness measurement offers no advantages over BMI <sup>70</sup>. Individual skin fold measurements have been used to estimate fat distribution, for example using the subscapular: triceps ratio as a marker for central obesity, and this measure has been shown to be weakly correlated to cardiovascular risk <sup>71</sup>. The method also causes particular difficulties in obese individuals in whom skin fold thicknesses are large and in elderly individuals in whom there is wide intra-individual variation in subcutaneous fat deposition <sup>72</sup>.

#### 2.1.2.1.4 Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA)

The unique x-ray absorption properties of fat allow DEXA scanning to be used to determine total body fat. It can also be used to give some information on regional distribution, which correlates with glucose intolerance <sup>73</sup> although it cannot be used to distinguish between visceral and subcutaneous fat. This method was shown to be very accurate measuring total fat using a four component model using body density, total body water and total body mineral in young individuals <sup>74</sup>

#### 2.1.2.1.5 Bioimpedance and other measurements of total body water

Total fat may be calculated from lean mass using methods which measure total body water. The gold-standard method uses isotope dilution but is now predominantly used only for validating other techniques <sup>74</sup>. The measurement of bioimpedance depends on the properties of body water to conduct an electrical current, and provides an indirect measurement from which total body fat can be estimated. It is readily measured and widely available but has a high degree of variance <sup>75</sup>. It does not measure fat or predict metabolic abnormalities any better than BMI and waist circumference <sup>69</sup>.

#### 2.1.2.1.6 Hydrostatic weighing and air displacement plethysmography

These methods allow calculation of total fatness from measurements of density, using equations derived from cadaver-dissection methods based on a small number of Caucasian males <sup>76</sup>. Density can be determined from hydrostatic weighing under water but this method is generally only used in small studies for validation of other techniques. A new method is air displacement plethysmography using the commercially available 'Bod Pod'. This is more acceptable to the subject but may underestimate density resulting in overestimation of fat percentage <sup>77</sup>. The values obtained correlate closely with those from hydrostatic weighing in obese but not lean individuals so it is probably a more useful tool for obese subjects <sup>78</sup>. Air displacement plethysmography ideally requires residual lung volume to be determined using inert gas dilution <sup>78</sup>, although an estimate may be used for individuals with normal lung function.

#### 2.1.2.2 Measures of regional fatness

Central fat accumulation is believed to confer additional metabolic risk over total fatness in determining the metabolic consequences of obesity <sup>79</sup>. Women with lower body obesity show increased suppression of lipolysis, compared with those with upper body fat <sup>80</sup>. Furthermore central fat may be divided into visceral and subcutaneous fat. In one study obese but metabolically normal post-menopausal women had 49% less visceral fat than metabolically abnormal women despite comparable total fat mass <sup>81</sup> and in men visceral fat correlates with insulin resistance and dyslipidaemia independently of total fat, subcutaneous abdominal fat and fitness <sup>82-84</sup>. The methods used to assess regional obesity are waist circumference, waist hip ratio and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computerised tomography (CT), and these are considered below, with MRI and CT additionally able to provide information on the ratio of visceral to subcutaneous fat deposition.

#### 2.1.2.2.1 Waist circumference and waist hip ratio (WHR)

The simplest measures of central obesity are waist circumference and waist/hip ratio. Waist circumference is particularly important in identifying a small subgroup of the population with central obesity despite a BMI in the normal range <sup>53</sup>. Waist circumference is the best surrogate for visceral fat as measured by MRI or CT scanning <sup>7,54</sup> and identifies individuals with other features of the metabolic syndrome <sup>53</sup>.

WHR in men largely reflects increasing waist circumference <sup>7</sup>, and is less useful than waist circumference alone in predicting the subsequent development of diabetes <sup>4</sup>.

#### 2.1.2.2.2 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computerised tomography (CT)

These cross-sectional imaging techniques can be used to measure total body fat, or can be used as single-slice techniques to determine how much abdominal fat is stored viscerally and how much is subcutaneous <sup>85-89</sup>. MRI is the preferred method as subjects are not exposed to ionising radiation. Visceral fat as determined by these methods correlates with features of the metabolic syndrome <sup>90</sup>.

### 2.2 Insulin resistance

#### 2.2.1 Definition, pathogenesis and molecular mechanisms

Insulin resistance is a state where there is reduced biological effect of insulin, and is the reciprocal of insulin sensitivity. Type 2 diabetes results from insulin resistance in peripheral tissues, compounded by inadequate insulin secretion by pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells. When a normal concentration of insulin produces a less than normal biological response the dose-response curve of effect against concentration is described as being shifted to the right, but a reduction in maximal effect is usually also seen. Insulin lowers blood glucose by facilitating glucose uptake, mainly by muscle and fat tissue and by inhibiting endogenous glucose production by the liver, and defects in all three tissues may co-exist in insulin resistant individuals <sup>91</sup>.

In muscle, abnormalities of glucose uptake may precede the development of diabetes by 10-20 years and muscle insulin resistance has been demonstrated in non-diabetic relatives of patients with diabetes <sup>92,93</sup>. About 75% of insulindependent glucose disposal occurs into skeletal muscle <sup>94</sup>. The cellular and molecular basis for insulin resistance is multifactorial. Abnormalities have been described in insulin receptor number and function. The insulin receptor consists of an extracellular ligand-binding domain and an intracellular tyrosine kinase domain. Binding of insulin to the extra-cellular portion activates its kinase activity resulting in phosphorylation of scaffolding proteins such as insulin receptor substrate (IRS) proteins <sup>91</sup>. Muscle IRS dysfunction may be caused by factors associated with adipocyte dysfunction such as increased circulating nonesterified fatty acids, and TNFa<sup>91,93,95</sup>. Recent studies using nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy have demonstrated that defects in intracellular glucose transport are the rate-limiting step in insulin resistant states. Downstream of IRS proteins activation of phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI-3-kinase) leads to activation of protein kinase B (PKB). In muscle PKB mediates the effects of insulin on glucose uptake via facilitated glucose transporters (GLUTs) and intracellular glucose metabolism. Mutations in PKB have been detected in subjects with insulin resistance <sup>91</sup>.

Functional abnormalities have been identified in muscle cell GLUT 4, the major glucose transporter which moves to the cell membrane in response to insulin <sup>96</sup>, and in glycogen synthase and hexokinase <sup>97</sup>. Recently the PPAR $\gamma$  co-activator-1 (PGC-1) has been recognised as playing a major role in glucose homeostasis in regulating GLUT4 expression in muscle cells and PGC-1 $\alpha$  may also play a role in the genes involved in the process of oxidative phosphorylation which commonly show reduced expression in the muscle of diabetic individuals <sup>91</sup>.

Non-esterified fatty acids have been implicated in the pathogenesis of muscle insulin resistance <sup>98</sup>. Randle described how glucose conservation is regulated by phosphorylation of pyruvate dehydrogenase in the mitochondria and that when glucose oxidation is turned off during starvation, non-esterified fatty acids are used instead as fuel <sup>99</sup>. In obesity circulating non-esterified fatty acid levels are high as a result of increased release from adipocytes, and acetyl CoA and NADH formed by fatty acid oxidation cause phosphorylation of the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex and reduced glucose utilisation. It has more recently been found that glucose uptake is the rate limiting step rather than intracellular glucose metabolism in fatty acid-induced insulin resistance <sup>91</sup>, indicating a mechanism whereby accumulation of intracellular fatty acids or their metabolites results in impairment of signalling pathways resulting in reduced translocation of GLUT4 into the plasma membrane. It has also been shown that NEFAs increase serine phosphorylation of IRS proteins, impairing insulin signal transduction <sup>91</sup>.

In the liver, insulin suppresses hepatic glucose output partly through direct effects on gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis <sup>45,100,101</sup>. Fasting blood glucose levels are predominantly determined by the rate of endogenous glucose production <sup>102</sup>. One study has shown that 56% of the variation in area under the glucose tolerance curve could be explained by impaired suppression of hepatic glucose output amongst a group of men with normal glucose tolerance, impaired glucose tolerance or 'mild' diabetes <sup>103</sup>. In subjects with type 2 diabetes there is impaired suppression of hepatic glucose output <sup>11</sup>. This is a result of the lack of inhibition of two key gluconeogenic enzymes, phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) and the glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic subunit (G6Pase). Insulin inhibits the expression of both of these enzymes and it is widely accepted that this process is mediated via activation of PKB <sup>91</sup>. Impaired hepatic glycogen storage and glycogen synthase activity is also seen in insulin resistance as a result of impaired phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) by PKB. There is also now emerging evidence for the role of cytokines secreted by adipocytes in regulating hepatic insulin sensitivity: Adiponectin, an adipocytokine which regulates energy homeostasis and glucose and lipid

metabolism, causes a reduction in molecules involved in gluconeogenesis in the liver <sup>104</sup>. In-vitro experiments with human hepatocytes have shown that exposure to leptin, another adipocytokine, caused attenuation of several insulin-induced activities, including tyrosine phosphorylation of the insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1), association of the adapter molecule growth factor receptor-bound protein 2 with IRS-1, and down-regulation of gluconeogenesis <sup>105</sup>. The adipocytokine resistin decreases hepatic glucose production as demonstrated by reduced mRNA of two key gluconeogenic enzymes glucose-6-phosphatase (G6Pase) and AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) in resistin knockout mice <sup>91</sup>.

There is increasing evidence for the role of adipose tissue in the development of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Although insulin does stimulate glucose uptake in adipose tissue via increased translocation of GLUT4 to the plasma membrane <sup>100</sup>, the predominant effect of insulin in adipose tissue is on suppression of lipolysis <sup>106,107</sup>. Because both obesity and lipodystrophy lead to insulin resistance in muscle, and the latter can be reversed through transplanting adipose tissue, fat seems to influence insulin resistance through different mechanisms than just taking up glucose itself. Obesity is associated with increased NEFA release <sup>45</sup> and there is increasing evidence for the important role of non-esterified fatty acids in mediating insulin resistance. In keeping with this argument, organ-specific interruption of adipose GLUT 4 function in mice leads to insulin resistance in muscle and liver <sup>91</sup>. Whole body glucose metabolism is altered by levels of non-esterified fatty acid production by adipose tissue through the substrate competitive mechanism described by Randle <sup>50</sup>. In addition the cytokines TNF $\alpha$ , adiponectin, resistin and leptin described above are secreted by adipocytes and have various effects on insulin sensitivity in muscle and liver as well as adipocytes. TNFa expression is increased in adipocytes of obese individuals and correlates with insulin resistance  $^{108}$ . TNF $\alpha$  inhibits insulin signal transduction at the level of the insulin receptor tyrosine kinase and the subsequent phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) and impairs insulin action resulting in increased lipolysis.

#### 2.2.2 Assessment of insulin sensitivity

Many different methods have been used, mostly which measure whole body insulin sensitivity but there are also techniques available which assess, as far as possible, insulin sensitivity in muscle, liver and fat.

#### 2.2.2.1 Whole body insulin sensitivity

#### 2.2.2.1.1 Model assessments of insulin resistance

The homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) is a mathematical model which allows values for insulin sensitivity and  $\beta$ -cell function (expressed as a percentage of normal) to be obtained from simultaneously measured fasting glucose, insulin and C-peptide (as a measure of insulin secretion) <sup>109</sup>. Since insulin secretion is pulsatile, the optimal sample should be the mean of three results at 5-minute intervals, however a single measurement is often used in epidemiological studies <sup>109</sup>. Estimates of insulin resistance using HOMA correlate well with results from the euglycaemic clamp <sup>110,111</sup>.

Minimal models based on results from frequently sampled intravenous glucose tolerance tests (IVGTT) have also been used. Since insulin causes glucose to fall and glucose causes insulin to rise, the complex feedback loop can be mathematically analysed to partition  $\beta$ -cell function and insulin resistance <sup>112</sup>.

#### 2.2.2.1.2 Clamps

The euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp was first used by De Fronzo in 1979 and has been referred to as the 'gold standard' method for measuring insulin sensitivity <sup>10</sup>. Glucose is 'clamped' at a predetermined level (e.g. 5 mmol/l) by titrating a variable-rate infusion of glucose against a fixed-rate infusion of soluble insulin (priming dose followed by a maintenance dose). Insulin infusion rates can be given as dose per surface area or body weight <sup>113-115</sup>. The glucose infusion rate is computed on the basis of blood glucose concentrations measured at 3 to 5 minute intervals throughout the clamp. Once a steady state has been reached the degree of insulin resistance is inversely related to the amount of glucose required to maintain the stated blood glucose concentration. For diabetic subjects, normoglycaemia is not representative of the usual physiological state so isoglycaemic clamps may be used instead. Hepatic glucose output may be largely suppressed by the doses of insulin used and can be traced using radio-isotope-labelled glucose. Criticisms of the clamp technique are that they are labour-intensive and expensive <sup>112</sup>, that they are non-physiological, particularly as high insulin doses are required, and they have a relatively high co-efficient of variability <sup>116,117</sup>.

A variety of different clamp techniques have been used under different circumstances. The areas of contention relate to insulin dosing and handwarming to produce arterialised samples. The clamp technique, although considered the 'gold standard' for measuring insulin sensitivity, is a highly artificial technique. One of the main criticisms of the technique is the nonphysiological insulin doses required, and for this reason a range of different insulin doses have been used, the aim being to use as low a dose as possible to achieve the required glucose level, and generally this will be larger the more insulin-resistant the study population under investigation. Some investigators have used two-stage clamps with a low dose insulin dose stage, arguing that hepatic insulin sensitivity can be measured more physiologically using this technique <sup>103,118</sup>. Hand-warming using a heating box or pad is used to cause local vasodilation, which results in arterialisation of the venous blood, thereby reducing peripheral glucose uptake. Without arterialisation, peripheral glucose readings are 0.2-0.5mmol/l lower because of increased tissue uptake of glucose <sup>119</sup> and glucose uptake (M value) is higher <sup>116</sup>. However hand-warming also causes measurable alterations in blood pressure and heart rate resulting from systemic vasodilation <sup>116</sup> which may also affect measured insulin sensitivity. For this reason hand warming was not used in this study.

#### 2.2.2.1.3 Oral glucose tolerance test

The oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) has traditionally been used to diagnose diabetes but its possible role in the diagnosis of insulin resistance has been examined. An estimate of insulin resistance has been calculated from the logarithm of the plasma insulin concentration two hours after a 75g oral glucose load <sup>120</sup>. More recently an insulin sensitivity index for glycaemia (ISI(gly)) has been calculated using the formula ISI(gly) =  $2/[(INSp \times GLYp) + 1]$ , in which INSp and GLYp, = insulinaemic and glycaemic areas during a 75g OGTT (sampling time 0, 1, and 2 hours). A slight modification of this formula allows the calculation of insulin resistance indices (IRI). ISI and IRI are complementary, as their sum is always equal to two, so that IRI can be deduced from ISI and vice versa <sup>121</sup>.

#### 2.2.2.2 Assessment of hepatic insulin sensitivity

Hepatic glucose output can be quantified during the clamp using the isotope dilution technique proposed by Steele in 1959<sup>11,122</sup>. An isotope dilution technique is used to determine endogenous glucose production using a labelled infusion, usually of deuterated glucose, a stable isotope. Criticisms of the technique are that calculated rates of total glucose appearance (Ra) as estimated by the dilution of tracer in the plasma, may be less than the measured endogenous glucose infusion rates resulting in negative values for hepatic glucose production <sup>11</sup>. Tracer studies require that there is no discrimination between native glucose and the labelled isotope species and if this does not occur then this is described as an 'isotope effect'. Other problems which may occur with tracers are tracerrecycling, inability of the simple mathematical model to cope with complex glucose physiology and loss of label. Maintaining the plasma enrichment with labelled glucose by spiking the variable rate glucose infusion with isotope label in addition to the constant infusion, and improved purity of labelled product have minimised these errors <sup>11</sup>. It has also been found that hepatic glucose output has been underestimated and negative values have been reported during studies of suppression of hepatic glucose output, although this has also been minimised by

spiking the variable rate infusion with deuterated glucose <sup>123</sup>. Because lower doses of insulin are required for suppression of gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis than are required for glucose uptake in muscle, hepatic glucose output may be completely suppressed during the euglycaemic clamp and so some investigators have used a two-stage clamp with a first stage of low dose insulin infusion (e.g. 0.25mu/kg/min) in an attempt to make the measurement more physiological <sup>103,118</sup>.

#### 2.2.2.3 Suppression of non-esterified fatty acids

Suppression of lipolysis by insulin in adipose tissue can be measured by response to an oral glucose load or to a meal, or can be measured during a low-dose insulin infusion or during a euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp. Like hepatic glucose output, lipolysis is suppressed by relatively low doses of insulin even in insulin-resistant individuals, compared with the doses for peripheral glucose disposal <sup>106,124</sup>, so if a traditional clamp method is used, a low-dose insulin stage is usually required <sup>45</sup>. The oral glucose tolerance test has been used to measure suppression of NEFA production <sup>125,126</sup>, and Belfiore described a method to calculate the insulin sensitivity index for non-esterified fatty acid (ISI(NEFA)) using the area under the curve method in the same way as described for ISI(GLY) <sup>121</sup>. To measure suppression of non-esterified fatty acids after a meal, a standard meal can be used <sup>127</sup>. Labelled fatty acids such as palmitate can be used in combination with these techniques to examine oxidative and non-oxidative fatty acid metabolism <sup>45</sup>.

#### 2.3 Metabolic syndrome

#### 2.3.1 Definition, epidemiology and metabolic consequences

Reaven first described the co-existence of insulin resistance, hypertension and dyslipidaemia in 1988 and postulated that increased non-esterified fatty acids (NEFAs) resulting from resistance to suppression of NEFAs by insulin, in the presence of failure to maintain hyperinsulinaemia, might mediate the development of diabetes, by increasing endogenous glucose production <sup>1</sup>. There

are now various different definitions of the metabolic syndrome, each with slightly different diagnostic criteria. The essential features are obesity, impaired glucose tolerance (or diabetes), hypertension, raised triglycerides and reduced high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol (with a predominance of atherogenic small dense LDL and apolipoprotein B). Additional features are microalbuminuria, fatty liver, and clotting factor activation. Definitions of the metabolic syndrome produced by the World Health Organisation (WHO), National Cholesterol Education Programme Adult Treatment Programme III (NCEP ATP III)<sup>128</sup> and European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR)<sup>129</sup> are the most commonly used.

The prevalence of the metabolic syndrome varies slightly according to the definition chosen, and different definitions may be more appropriate for different populations. In the United States the NHANES III 1988-1994 study, the prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in the representative sample of 8814 was found to be 43.5% amongst individuals aged 60-69 years and 6.7% amongst individuals aged 20-29 years, with age-adjusted prevalence of 24% suggesting around 47 million US residents have the metabolic syndrome <sup>130</sup>. The WHO and ATP III criteria show close agreement in Caucasian populations but poor agreement in Asian and Chinese populations <sup>131</sup>, possibly because ATP III defines glucose intolerance by fasting glucose alone which may underestimate the prevalence of impaired glucose tolerance in these populations.

There is clear evidence that this cluster of metabolic abnormalities results in increased cardiovascular risk <sup>132,133</sup>, with around a three-fold risk for the development of coronary heart disease <sup>134</sup>.

#### 2.3.2 Features of the metabolic syndrome

#### 2.3.2.1 Insulin resistance

Insulin resistance is the most commonly occurring feature of the metabolic syndrome, and together with central obesity has been shown in mathematical modelling to be the most important feature of the metabolic syndrome. <sup>41</sup>. Plasma

pro-insulin level (as well as waist circumference and plasma triglycerides) is a predictor if incident metabolic syndrome, indicating that insulin resistance predicts the development of metabolic syndrome <sup>39</sup>.

#### 2.3.2.2 Central obesity

Although Reaven's original description did not describe central obesity, Vague described a relationship between body fat distribution and cardiovascular risk factors in 1947<sup>135</sup>. It is now recognised that obesity correlates strongly with metabolic syndrome <sup>40,136</sup> and that waist circumference is a good predictor of subsequent development of metabolic syndrome <sup>39</sup>. Mathematical modelling has shown that of the metabolic syndrome features, the insulin resistance and central obesity are the primary features <sup>41</sup>, and another study has shown that intraabdominal fat is independently associated with all the other features of the metabolic syndrome, suggesting there may be a pathophysiological role for central fat <sup>40</sup>. There is a body of opinion that central obesity is pathogenic in the metabolic syndrome <sup>47,137</sup>. The theory proposed is that abdominal adipocytes are loaded with triglyceride, reducing fat depot capacity to protect other tissues from utilising a large proportion of dietary fat. In contrast to subcutaneous adipocytes, the central adipocytes exhibit a high rate of basal lipolysis and are highly sensitive to fat mobilising hormones, but show poor suppression of lipolysis by insulin. The enlarged visceral adipocytes flood the portal circulation with nonesterified fatty acids (NEFAs) at metabolically inappropriate times, when NEFA should be oxidised, thereby exposing non-adipose tissues to fat excess. This leads to triglyceride accumulation in muscles, liver and pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, resulting in insulin resistance and  $\beta$  -cell dysfunction.<sup>44</sup>

#### 2.3.2.3 Dyslipidaemia

The dyslipidaemia seen in type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome is of raised plasma triglycerides and low levels of circulating high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol. Abnormalities of the lipoprotein subfraction are also seen with increased concentration of atherogenic small dense low-density lipoprotein (LDL)

cholesterol and large very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) size <sup>138,139</sup>. Small HDL particles are also found <sup>140</sup>.

#### 2.3.2.4 Hypertension

Whilst hypertension is very frequently present in subjects with type 2 diabetes, it is the least commonly occurring feature of the metabolic syndrome <sup>41</sup>. There has been much debate about its role in the metabolic syndrome, and speculation about mechanisms <sup>133</sup> <sup>141</sup>. In the presence of insulin resistance, insulin has a reduced effect on the phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase (PI3K) pathway, whereas mitogen-activated protein kinase activity is increased. This results in an exaggeration of the mitogenic actions of insulin leading to vascular smooth muscle proliferation and elevated plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI)-1. Nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation is also impaired, further contributing to atherogenesis <sup>142</sup>.

### 2.4 Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)

#### 2.4.1 Definition, pathogenesis and epidemiology

There is a very high prevalence of fat accumulation within the liver associated with obesity, and a proportion of affected patients develop inflammation and fibrosis within the liver. Described as non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) because of its histological similarity to alcoholic liver disease, it is now recognised as part of the metabolic syndrome. <sup>13,14,18</sup>. NAFLD represents a spectrum from simple steatosis, which is present in up to 80% of obese individuals <sup>18,143</sup>, through non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) to fibrosis and cirrhosis. Although only a small proportion of affected patients go on to develop cirrhosis, it is estimated that NASH will become the leading cause of cirrhosis because of increasing obesity prevalence.

The pathogenesis of NAFLD is not fully understood but probably represents a two-stage process where fat accumulation is the first step and the development of inflammation the second. Increased non-esterified fatty acid influx to the liver resulting from insulin resistance to suppression of lipolysis in visceral adipocytes and the absence of peripheral utilisation results in excess hepatic fatty acids. These fatty acids are not oxidised but converted to diacyl- and triacyl-glycerols and stored in the hepatocyte cytoplasm, leading to steatosis. This effect is further aggravated by insulin resistance affecting activity of the nuclear peroxisome– proliferator-activated receptors PPAR-α, PPAR-γ and SREBPs.

The mechanisms underlying development of NASH are complex but increasing data suggests that defects of hepatic fat oxidation are pivotal in the pathogenesis. Oxidative stress involves pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF  $\alpha$  and endotoxin.

#### 2.4.2 Assessment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease

Imaging techniques such as ultrasonography and MRI spectroscopy can be used to assess degree of fat accumulation within liver. Diagnosis of NASH requires liver biopsy so that fibrosis can be demonstrated histologically, but circulating plasma liver enzymes are also used as a marker of degree of inflammation.

#### 2.4.2.1 Ultrasonography

Ultrasonography has been shown to identify steatosis with a sensitivity of 94% and specificity of 88% when compared to histological findings <sup>144</sup>, although this technique is operator-dependent. Other imaging methods such as computer tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) have also been used <sup>145-147</sup> but have not been shown to be superior to ultrasonography <sup>148</sup>. Ultrasonography is widely accepted for identification of subjects with fatty liver <sup>148,149</sup>.

#### 2.4.2.2 MRI spectroscopy

MRI spectroscopy is a new method which allows quantification of hepatic fat content <sup>150-152</sup>. However this technique is expensive and invasive and this method was not available for this study.

#### 2.4.2.3 Liver enzymes

Abnormal liver enzymes are found in association with NAFLD although levels of liver transaminases are not closely correlated with staging or grading of NAFLD and patients with normal alaninine transaminase (ALT) levels have been demonstrated to have advanced fibrosis <sup>153,154</sup>.

#### 2.4.2.4 Liver biopsy

Liver biopsy allows quantification of hepatocyte fat accumulation and degree of inflammation or fibrosis. Biopsy is necessary to diagnose non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) as this is a histological diagnosis <sup>155</sup> but liver biopsy is not without risk and undertaking this procedure in healthy volunteers is therefore often considered unacceptable. There is close correlation between degree of hepatic steatosis detected radiologically and amount of fat found on histological examination <sup>144</sup> and therefore liver ultrasound is often used in the diagnosis of NAFLD <sup>148,149</sup>. Liver biopsy was not undertaken in this study.

#### 2.4.3 Interplay between the features of the metabolic syndrome

Excess accumulation of intracellular lipid in muscle and liver has been demonstrated in type 2 diabetes, in subjects who go on to develop the condition later, and in relatives of subjects with type 2 diabetes <sup>92,156</sup>. Substrate competition between lipid and glucose suggests that this lipid accumulation contributes to the insulin resistance <sup>50,157</sup>. Abnormal fatty acid metabolism has been demonstrated in type 2 diabetes, and increased NEFAs and intramyocellular lipid has been identified in offspring of subjects with type 2 diabetes, indicating that abnormalities of fatty acid metabolism may underlie the development of insulin resistance <sup>92,158,159</sup>.

A relationship has been demonstrated between plasma non-esterified fatty acids and blood pressure, which is not explained by obesity, in a longitudinal study in which baseline blood pressure predicted plasma non-esterified fatty acids, suggesting the possibility of a causative role for blood pressure. Furthermore the effect was most marked for subjects taking diuretics rather than beta blockers raising the possibility of a role for the sympathetic nervous system in explaining the relationship <sup>126</sup>.

## 2.5 Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPAA)

Patients with Cushing's syndrome develop central obesity and a severe form of the metabolic syndrome phenotype with insulin resistance or diabetes, hypertension and dyslipidaemia as a result of cortisol excess. This observation raises the question of whether a more subtle abnormality of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis also causes the metabolic syndrome to develop in some obese individuals. It has long been suggested that cortisol may play a role in the development of the metabolic syndrome <sup>160-162</sup> but the relationship between the HPA axis, obesity and the metabolic syndrome as described in the literature is not clear.

Paradoxically, circulating cortisol levels have usually been found to be low or normal in obesity <sup>24-26</sup>. Morning cortisol levels increase with fasting glucose and insulin, however <sup>32,162</sup>, and ACTH and cortisol responses to stress increase with both obesity and impaired glucose disposal <sup>28</sup>. Cortisol clearance is increased in obesity <sup>24,30,31</sup> indicating that overall exposure to corticosteroids is increased, and increased cortisol clearance has also been demonstrated to correlate with fasting glucose and insulin <sup>29</sup>.

In obese men with the metabolic syndrome an epidemiological study has shown that cortisol response to a stressful event (venepuncture) is high, and furthermore that repeated stresses do not cause the blunting of stress response seen in normal individuals<sup>163</sup>. Another epidemiological study showed that cortisol level after stimulation with ACTH was higher in obese individuals with features of the metabolic syndrome <sup>164</sup>. Another study showed that in middle-aged men a flattened diurnal curve and less suppression after dexamethasone was seen in individuals with high waist hip ratio, associated with other cardiovascular risk factors, and furthermore that these individuals showed increased cortisol secretion in response to perceived stress and also to the physiological stress of

eating <sup>165</sup>. Using salivary cortisol measurement, Bjorntorp identified a group of individuals with obesity and insulin-resistance who demonstrated a flat, rigid day curve and poor feedback control. A pattern is therefore suggested in individuals with central obesity and other features of the metabolic syndrome of blunted HPA axis activity but hypersensitivity of the axis such that in obese individuals with the metabolic syndrome cortisol exposure may in fact be increased.

The whole pattern of HPA axis activity is therefore apparently altered in obesity and insulin resistance. However because of the significant co-variation of obesity and insulin resistance it is not known whether the abnormalities of the HPA axis found in association with insulin resistance are simply a reflection of the abnormalities found in obesity or whether a separate relationship exists between insulin resistance and abnormalities of the HPA axis.

Cortisol is metabolised irreversibly by A-ring reduction and reversibly to inactive cortisone by 11 β hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (HSD) enzymes. The irreversible A-ring metabolism of cortisol to inactive metabolites by 5α and 5βreductase enzymes occurs within fat and liver. Heterogeneity in expression of these enzymes may explain individual variation in glucocorticoid exposure and metabolism. In obesity there is an increased ratio of 5a to 5ß reductase activity which probably reflects the 5a reductase activity of adipose tissue <sup>29</sup> although it is not known whether this is of biological importance. There has been considerably more interest in the expression of expression of 11 BHSD1 which regenerates cortisol from cortisone, predominantly in adipose tissue and liver, and altered expression of these hormones has been found in obese and insulin resistant states <sup>166</sup> <sup>167</sup>, which may change cortisol exposure at tissue level. One suggested explanation for increased urinary cortisol found in obesity is that expression of this enzyme is decreased in liver <sup>167</sup>, which results in a compensatory increase in production by stimulating the HPA axis, but increased in adipose tissue <sup>167</sup>. This may then result in insulin resistance at the level of the adipocyte which leads in turn to central adiposity as well as insulin resistance in other tissues, in a condition described by Bujalska as 'Cushing's disease of the omentum' because

activity of 11  $\beta$ HSD1 is higher in visceral than subcutaneous adipocytes in vivo <sup>166</sup>.

Cortisol is reversibly metabolised by dehydrogenation to inactive cortisone by the other isoform of this enzyme, 11  $\beta$ HSD 2, in the kidney. This has been demonstrated to be abnormal in some individuals with hypertension through the mineralocorticoid effect of excess cortisol in the kidneys but is not thought to be pathogenic in the metabolic syndrome <sup>168</sup>.

### 2.6 Physical activity and fitness

Early evidence that physical activity might confer health benefits was presented by Morris in a study of bus drivers and conductors after World War II, which showed that drivers had an annual incidence of coronary heart disease of 0.27% per year compared with 0.19% per year in the more physically active conductors. Similar results were found in a comparison of postal clerks and postmen. Morris later showed in the Whitehall Study that in men who undertook vigorous exercise such as swimming, hill-climbing, gardening, building work, brisk walking or cycling for more than 30 minutes a day had a risk of developing coronary heart disease around a third of those who did not <sup>169</sup>.

Physical activity has been shown in epidemiological studies to be protective against the development of the metabolic syndrome <sup>170-172</sup>. Moderate regular exercise is associated with lower systolic blood pressure, raised HDL cholesterol and lower fasting glucose and insulin levels compared with low levels of exercise <sup>173</sup>. Both vigorous physical activity and regular walking were found to significantly reduce the risk of future onset of diabetes in the Nurses' Health Study <sup>174</sup>. Both fitness and physical activity have been shown in one study to be more important in predicting mortality than smoking, hypertension, obesity and diabetes <sup>175</sup>.

The benefits of physical activity are mediated partly through improved body composition but may also have independent effects on cardiovascular risk factors. Physical activity reduces visceral, and to a lesser extent, subcutaneous fat mass <sup>176</sup>. Samaras showed that increased physical activity is associated with a reduction in total and abdominal fat accumulation and that this is more important than dietary intake, smoking or socio-economic status in determining obesity <sup>177</sup>. Regular walking causes weight loss and specifically loss of intraabdominal body fat <sup>178</sup>. It has been suggested that loss of fat mass may be responsible for most of the benefits associated with increased exercise <sup>179</sup>. Resting metabolic rate is higher in trained individuals and therefore resting calorie expenditure is higher than in untrained individuals, augmenting the loss of fat mass in these individuals <sup>180</sup>.

Exercise does appear to confer apparent cardiovascular benefits beyond those mediated by reduction in obesity. High intensity exercise in particular has a beneficial effect on LDL concentration and particle size resulting in increased average LDL particle size and HDL concentration is also increased by high intensity exercise <sup>181</sup>. Even a modest amount of low intensity exercise has a benefit in reducing circulating triglycerides <sup>182</sup>. The mechanism of action by which exercise improves lipid profile is by activation of muscle AMP-activated protein kinase (AMP kinase), which upregulates lipid metabolism and increases fatty acid oxidation and decreases re-esterification through direct effects on enzymes such as Malonyl-CoA Decarboxylase <sup>183</sup>.

#### 2.6.1 Assessment of cardiorespiratory fitness and energy expenditure

In examining the effects of physical activity on metabolic profile, there are two aspects to consider, namely cardiorespiratory fitness and energy expenditure. These elements of physical activity are not entirely independent of one another but may contribute differently to the metabolic profile and so it is helpful to consider them independently <sup>184</sup>. For example it has been shown in children that fitness is more important than energy expenditure in determining development of obesity <sup>185</sup>, whereas there is evidence to suggest that physical activity is more important in determining metabolic syndrome and insulin sensitivity <sup>184,186,187</sup>.

Cardiorespiratory fitness is measured by maximal oxygen uptake during maximal exercise testing or calculated from sub-maximal exercise testing. Energy expenditure is more difficult to measure but may be determined through the use of questionnaires or through heart-rate monitoring.

#### 2.6.1.1 Maximal oxygen uptake

Maximal oxygen uptake (VO<sub>2</sub>max) is the greatest amount of oxygen a person can take in during physical work and is a measure of his maximal capacity to transport oxygen to the tissues of the body <sup>188</sup>. Oxygen uptake (VO<sub>2</sub>) is determined by indirect calorimetry, where VO<sub>2</sub> is equal to pulmonary minute ventilation (V<sub>E</sub>) multiplied by the difference in the inspired and expired oxygen percentages:

 $VO_2$  (l/min) =  $V_E$  (l/min) x (inspired fraction of  $O_2$  - expired fraction of  $O_2$ )

Oxygen uptake at rest is approximately 0.25 l/min and maximum average oxygen uptake of a sedentary 70kg man is 3.0 l/min (42.8ml/kg/min). At VO<sub>2</sub>max additional increases in workload produce no further increase in oxygen uptake and the respiratory quotient CO<sub>2</sub> produced/ O<sub>2</sub> consumed starts to rise. It is determined during graded exercise on a cycle ergometer or treadmill and indicates the maximal level of aerobic power output. The limiting factors to VO<sub>2</sub>max are central circulatory factors and the rate at which oxygen is moved by diffusion from haemoglobin to muscle mitochondria <sup>189</sup>.

Cardiorespiratory functional capacity is most strongly influenced by the amount of physical activity undertaken, although there is also a strong inherited component <sup>190</sup>. Endurance training produces an increase in VO<sub>2</sub>max and the rate and magnitude of these increases are related to the age of the individual, previous fitness, and rate, intensity and duration of the exercise training programme. The VO<sub>2</sub>max of sedentary individuals is usually less than 40ml/kg/min whereas that of world-class male endurance athletes can exceed 80ml/kg/min. Increase in VO<sub>2</sub>max occurs as a result of increased mitochondrial mass, haemodynamic adjustments such as increased maximal cardiac output (heart rate for a given
power output decreases but stroke volume increases) and increased arteriovenous oxygen differential. Intracellular metabolic adaptations occur to maximise oxygen utilisation within mitochondria <sup>189</sup>.

#### 2.6.1.2 Energy expenditure

Energy expenditure can be measured using invasive methods such as indirect calorimetry using doubly labelled water but these do not allow for habitual expenditure in free-living individuals so are usually only used for validating less invasive methods <sup>191,192</sup>. Energy expenditure has traditionally been assessed through the use of questionnaires <sup>169,193</sup> but more recently heart-rate monitoring has been used, usually over a period of several days, and used together with individual calibration from exercise testing to determine energy expenditure <sup>184,186,187</sup>. Motion sensing using accelerometers placed on the wrist, hip or lower back provides an assessment of energy expenditure which correlates well with indirect calorimetry using doubly labelled water <sup>191</sup> but these have not yet been widely used.

## **3 METHODS**

## 3.1 Ethical approval

The study had the approval of the local research ethics committee

## 3.2 Research Facility

All studies took place in the Clinical Research Facility located within Southampton General Hospital. This unit is staffed with trained research nurses and is dedicated to full time research. It was set up with funds from the Wellcome Trust but staffed by NHS research and development funding. It is equipped with a ward for metabolic studies, clinical rooms and a physiological laboratory. There is a preparation laboratory on site where blood samples can be centrifuged, separated and frozen.

## 3.3 Recruitment

Subjects were recruited through advertisement in the hospital and local press, and using a direct approach by three local GP surgeries who were able to identify individuals by body mass index and medical history, and who agreed to send out letters inviting volunteers to participate. Suitable individuals were identified by individual GP practices after agreement of all partners in the practice. Letters which had been pre-signed were then sent out by the practice clerical staff, with self-addressed envelopes. Local large companies such as Ford Motors and Ordnance Survey were also approached and a recruitment day was held in a local shopping centre. Volunteers then had a brief preliminary interview over the telephone prior to enrolment. Eighty-two subjects expressed an interest in participating and the proportion of subjects who agreed to participate or who were suitable for the study was as follows:

Table 3-1: Recruitment to the study

82 subjects expressed an interest in taking part in the study								
Number of subjects included in study	Number of subjects who declined inclusion after further information supplied or did not attend appointment	Number of subjects who were excluded from the study on the basis of known pathology or medication	Number of subjects who were excluded from the study on the basis of race or gender	Number of subjects who were excluded because of BMI in range 25- 30kg/m <sup>2</sup> to reduce numbers in this group later during recruitment				
34	17	21	4	6				

## 3.4 Subjects

This study was of middle-aged white Western European men. There is evidence that there is both gender and racial variation in many of the aspects of our study, and in women changes related to the menopause. Ideally this study would have encompassed all groups, but because our numbers were small, the priority was to keep the group of subjects studied as homogenous as possible. For this reason men were chosen, with the acceptance that the results might not apply to women or other ethnic groups.

### 3.4.1 Inclusion criteria

All subjects were white males who were aged 40-65 years at the time of recruitment. Subjects across the range of BMI from 19kg/m<sup>2</sup> to 46kg/m<sup>2</sup> were studied. Subjects were specifically recruited who had BMI greater than 30kg/m<sup>2</sup> to ensure this group who were of particular interest for this study were well-represented.

#### 3.4.2 Exclusion criteria

Subjects had no significant past medical history and were on no regular medication apart from simple analgesics. Subjects with a history of clinical

40

depression or alcohol abuse were excluded. No subject had a history of treatment with corticosteroids.

### 3.4.2.1 Medical history and examination

A medical history and examination were performed. Subjects were excluded if they had taken corticosteroids within the last year or if they had suffered with major depression or drank more than 25 units of alcohol per week. One subject who was stable on replacement dose thyroxine was included in the study. One subject was excluded after the first day on the basis of severe hypertension as it was not felt ethical to withhold treatment for the duration of the study, and therefore 33 subjects were included after the first day.

## 3.5 Anthropometry and blood pressure

## 3.5.1 Weight

Individuals were weighed wearing light indoor clothing (shirt and trousers) without shoes. Measurements were made using digital scales (Taneta, Japan) and recorded in kilograms to the nearest 0.1 kg.

#### 3.5.2 Height

Height was measured using a stadiometer. The subject was asked to stand as tall and straight as possible with feet together and arms held loosely at the side and shoulders relaxed. The head was placed in the Frankfurt Plane in which an imaginary line joining the upper border of the external auditory meatus and the lower border of the orbit of the eye is horizontal. Height was measured in meters to the closest 0.1 cm <sup>194</sup>.

#### 3.5.3 Body Mass Index (BMI)

Body mass index was calculated using the equation weight / (height<sup>2</sup>)

#### 3.5.4 Waist circumference

Waist measurement was measured over bare skin. The tape was applied midway between the costal margin and the iliac crest, taking care to ensure the tape was

horizontal. The subject was asked to relax and look straight ahead with his arms at his sides. Measurement was made at the end of expiration, with the tape resting on the skin but not indenting it. One measurement was recorded.

#### 3.5.5 Hip circumference

The measuring tape was applied at the widest part between the greater trochanter and lower buttock level, with the legs together, ensuring the tape was horizontal. Several measurements were made and the maximum single reading was recorded.

#### 3.5.6 Skin fold thickness

These measurements were made by one of two research nurses who were trained in the technique, and who regularly attended for re-evaluation to ensure reliability and repeatability. I attended training in this technique by Medical Research Council nurses who have considerable experience in these techniques from epidemiological research but the subject measurements for this study were undertaken by the two CRF nurses. Skin fold measurements were made using skin fold calipers (Harpenden, UK) at four standard sites: triceps, biceps, subscapular and upper suprailiac <sup>195</sup>. Measurements were made on the nondominant side using the thumb and index finger in a sweeping movement to collect the subcutaneous tissue away from the underlying muscle fascia. Two hands were used initially and then one hand held the skin fold whilst the calipers were used with the other hand. The positioning of the blades of the calipers was generally at least one blade-breadth from the apex of the skin fold. The calipers were fully released and then the dial read at five seconds (even if the dial was still moving). Three measurements were taken at each site and the average value used. If very different readings were obtained further readings were taken until three closely matching readings were obtained. All measurements were performed by one of two trained nurses as previously.

42

#### 3.5.6.1 Biceps and Triceps

The subject was asked to stand with his back to the person measuring, arms hanging by his sides. With the subject's arm flexed at 90° a mark was made at the midpoint between the acromion and olecranon. The subject was then asked to relax with his arm hanging by his side and a tape measure was placed with the upper border of the tape on the mark. A horizontal line was made at the anterior and posterior surface of the arm, and then vertical lines were made to form a cross at the anterior midpoint over the belly of the biceps and at the most dorsal point. These points were used for the measurement of biceps and triceps skin fold thicknesses respectively using the methods described above.

#### 3.5.6.2 Subscapular

The subject stood with shoulders and arms relaxed. The lowest tip of the scapula was identified and identified by marking with a cross. The skin fold was picked up obliquely, in the natural cleavage of the skin and the calipers applied with the cross at the apex of the fold.

#### 3.5.6.3 Suprailiac

The subject was asked to stand straight and relaxed with his arms folded in front of him. From behind the subject the iliac crest was identified and a horizontal line marked just above the iliac crest at the side. A vertical line was then made at the mid axilliary line to form a cross. The skin fold was then picked up in the natural crease of the skin and the callipers applied at the level of the cross with the cross on the apex of the fold to measure the skin fold thickness.

#### 3.5.6.4 Calculating body fat percentage from skin fold thickness

The equations of Durnin and Womersley <sup>72</sup> were used to calculate percentage body fat according to the equation:

body fat % = (4.95/ density - 4.5) x 100

where density = c-[m-log total skin folds], where c and m are constants according to age and total skin folds = average triceps + average biceps skin fold + average subscapular skin fold + average upper suprailiac skin folds)

#### 3.5.7 Bioelectrical impedance

Bioelectrical impedance was measured between the subject's left wrist and ankle according to the manufacturer's instructions using a Bodystat 1500 instrument (Bodystat Ltd, Isle of Man, UK). The subject's weight, height and age were entered into the instrument and the calculated percentage body fat was recorded.

## 3.5.8 Air displacement plethysmography

Air displacement plethysmography was performed according to the manufacturer's instruction using the Bod Pod (Life Measurements Incorporated, USA). Subjects were asked to wear tight-fitting underpants and a swimming cap but body hair was not shaved. Each subject's age and height were entered and the machine incorporates its own weighing device, which was calibrated on each day of use and subjects weighed according to the instructions. The machine makes a correction for lung volume and all subjects were free of respiratory disease.

#### 3.5.9 Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA))

Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry was undertaken on a Delphi W instrument (Hologic Inc, USA) using a standard visual method to divide images into trunk, limb and head. Subjects were weighed and measured on the day of the assessment and total fat, regional fat and lean mass were calculated. This measurement was performed by a technician from the bone densitometry department where the machine is located.

#### 3.5.10 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

Subjects with BMI greater than 30kg/m<sup>2</sup> had magnetic resonance imaging of the abdominal region. Lean and overweight individuals were not subjected to MRI because of resource implications and because it was considered that there would

be much less range of visceral fat amongst non-obese individuals. The scans were performed by one of two radiographers within the radiology department of the hospital and the method for calculating fat volume from the images was developed and undertaken by a scientist from the medical physics department after we had performed a full literature review <sup>85,86,196,197</sup>.

We acquired five non-contiguous slices extending from 5cm below to 15cm above L4-L5 to obtain more detailed information about visceral fat than a single slice would demonstrate <sup>197</sup>. Axial scans were taken with subjects in the supine position (with the exception of one very obese subject in whom better images were obtained through scanning prone). Two subjects were unable to be scanned because of claustrophobia. Subjects were scanned on a Siemens 1.5 T Symphony MR scanner (software release 4VA15A, Siemens AG, Erlangen, Germany). A gradient echo 2D FLASH (fast low angle shot) sequence (TR = 111ms, TE = 4.18ms, flip angle = 70°, slice width = 10 mm, slice spacing = 50 mm) was used to obtain T1 weighted images. In order to accommodate the circumference of the individual being scanned within the image, the field of view was varied.

MR images were analysed using a proprietary software package (Mimics, Materialise NV, Belgium) to identify regions of subcutaneous and visceral fat within the cross-sectional abdominal MR images. By examining the histogram of pixel values in each image a threshold level was set for fat pixels. By using a seed-growing technique, where neighbouring pixels of similar values (i.e. within the identified threshold) are selected, fat tissue could be segmented out from other tissue in the image. Some manual intervention was required because of variation in signal intensity across the image, which is the case in many MR images. Three different 'masks' were created, one comprising the whole cross section of the body, one containing the visceral fat region and one containing subcutaneous fat region. It was possible to extract the number of pixels contained within each of these masks, and hence calculate the areas of subcutaneous fat and visceral fat, and compare them with total cross sectional

45

area. Adipose tissue volume was converted to mass in kilograms using a density of 0.92 for adipose tissue <sup>82</sup>.

#### 3.5.11 Blood pressure

Blood pressure was measured using a Marquette Dash 3000 monitor (GE Healthcare, UK) on the non-dominant arm after subjects had become acclimatised to the Clinical Research Facility and had rested for at least 60 minutes. Measurements were made with the subject seated quietly after the glucose tolerance test. Three measurements were made 5 minutes apart and mean values of systolic and diastolic blood pressure calculated. If there was significant variation between the readings (>5mmHg) repeat measurements were taken until three similar readings were obtained.

## 3.6 Lipid profile

Total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol and triglycerides were measured on the day of study within the biochemistry laboratory on fasting plasma samples using *in vitro* enzymatic colorimetric kit methods according to the manufacturers' instructions (Advia 1650 Chemistry System, Bayer Diagnostics, Germany).

## 3.7 Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)

## 3.7.1 Ultrasonography

Abdominal ultrasonography was performed by one of two experienced radiologists and an assessment of hepatic steatosis was made by visual assessment of degree of echogeneity. The criteria used for assessment of the liver scans were: a) comparison of reflectivity with the right kidney, b) visualisation of the portal tracts and c) attenuation of beam. The measure of agreement of scoring between both radiologists was analysed and a kappa statistic is presented. A grade of mild, moderate or severe fatty liver was assigned by the radiologists, but for some analyses subjects were divided into those with or without ultrasonographic evidence of fatty liver alone.

#### 3.7.2 Liver enzymes

ALT and GGT were measured in the biochemistry laboratory on fasting plasma using *in vitro* enzymatic colorimetric kit methods according to the manufacturers' instructions (Advia 1650 Chemistry System, Bayer Diagnostics, Germany).

## 3.8 Whole body insulin sensitivity

#### 3.8.1 Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT)

Subjects were asked to attend the CRF at 9am having fasted from 10pm the previous night. They were asked to avoid strenuous exercise or alcohol on the day prior to attending. On the morning of the test an intravenous cannula was inserted. Blood was taken for measurement of glucose and insulin, and the subject was given a 75g oral glucose load (121ml Polycal [Nutricia Clinical, UK] made up to 200ml with water), which they were asked to drink over one minute. Blood was then taken at 10, 20, 30, 40, 60, 90 and 120 minutes. Samples were stored on ice and separated within one hour for measurement of glucose, insulin and non-esterified fatty acids. Plasma glucose was measured on fluoride samples by the glucose oxidase method using a Yellow Springs Glucose Analyser (YSI, USA).

#### 3.8.2 Euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp with deuterated glucose

Insulin sensitivity was measured using the euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp technique with deuterated glucose infusion to determine hepatic insulin sensitivity determined by insulin-mediated suppression of endogenous glucose production <sup>10,11</sup>. Deuterated (6,6) glucose was used as a steady state infusion prior to the clamp, and during the clamp to determine hepatic glucose output and hepatic insulin sensitivity respectively. The deuterated glucose was supplied by St Thomas' Hospital pharmacy department.

Subjects attended having abstained from vigorous exercise for 48 hours, and having fasted from 10pm the night before. They were weighed as previously described on arrival. A cannula was placed into a large vein in the anterior cubital

fossa of each arm or forearm. Venous blood samples were not arterialised as it was felt that the advantages of hand-warming would be off-set by the effects of warming on blood pressure and heart rate <sup>116</sup>. Baseline blood samples were taken and then a 170mg bolus of deuterated glucose was administered prior to commencing an infusion of deuterated glucose. The infusion was 7ml deuterated glucose 100mg/ml in 43ml 0.9% saline and was infused at 7.3ml/min (1.7mg deuterated glucose per minute). The infusion was continued for 150 minutes to reach a steady state and blood samples were taken from the contralateral arm at 30, 60, 90, 120, 125, 130, 140 and 150 minutes. Blood samples were used to determine plasma glucose by the glucose oxidase method using a Yellow Springs Glucose Analyser (YSI, USA). Fluoride and heparinised samples were subsequently stored at -70 °C for later analysis of deuterated-glucose enrichment, and insulin respectively.

At 150 minutes the euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp was commenced. An infusion of insulin was prepared by adding 50 units of soluble insulin (Actrapid, Novo Nordisk, Denmark) to 48 ml 0.9% saline mixed with 2 ml of the subject's blood (to prevented insulin adhering to the syringe). The infusion was commenced at 1.5mU/kg/min and blood was taken at 5-minute intervals. The deuterated glucose infusion continued throughout the test. A 20% glucose infusion which had been enriched with 800mg deuterated glucose was commenced at a variable rate once the whole blood glucose began to drop, and the whole blood glucose was clamped at 4.5-5mmol/l. The clamp continued for 3 hours with blood sample taken as previously for plasma glucose, isotope enrichment and insulin at 180, 210, 240, 270, 300, 305, 310, 320 and 330 minutes from the beginning of the test. The M value of insulin sensitivity was defined as the glucose infusion rate during the final 30 minutes of the test in mg/kg/minute.

48

### 3.9 Insulin sensitivity in different tissues

#### 3.9.1 Insulin sensitivity in muscle and liver

The isotopic enrichment of glucose was measured by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry on a HP 5971A MSD (Agilent Technologies, Berkshire, UK) using the penta-O-trimethylsilyl-D-glucose-o-methoxime derivative analysed by selected ion monitoring of the ions at m/z 319 and 321. The total appearance of glucose (Ra), endogenous glucose production and disappearance of glucose (Rd) were calculated using a modified version of the equations formulated by Steele <sup>122</sup>. Tracer to tracee ratios (TTR) were calculated as the ratio of the two areas from the mass spectrometry data. TTR and plasma glucose values were smoothed using the method of optical segments <sup>198</sup>. For the Steele equations, 65% was used as the effective fraction and 0.22 l/kg as the distribution volume of glucose to calculate Ra and Rd<sup>11,122,199</sup>. Glucose disappearance (Rd) during the steady state was used as the measure of insulin sensitivity in muscle. These measures were corrected for total body weight. Hepatic insulin sensitivity was measured as insulin mediated suppression of glucose output in the early part of the clamp and was expressed as percentage suppression 60 min after commencing the insulin infusion, when suppression was linear to this time point. This measurement and calculation were undertaken by collaborators in St Thomas' Hospital.

#### 3.9.2 Insulin sensitivity in adipose tissue

NEFAs were measured fasting at 0, 10, 20, 30, 40, 0, 90 and 120 min during the OGTT to allow measurement of insulin-mediated suppression of NEFA concentration <sup>200,201</sup>. NEFA concentrations were measured in heparinised plasma samples with an autoanalyser by a post-graduate scientist in our laboratory (Konelab 20; Thermo Electon, Waltham, MA, USA) using reagents from Wako Chemicals (Richmond, VA, USA). Insulin sensitivity indices for glycaemia [ISI (gly)] and NEFAs [ISI (NEFA)] were estimated using data from fasting, one hour and two hour samples for insulin, glucose and NEFA concentrations, according to the method proposed for calculating insulin sensitivity in fat from data obtained

during an OGTT <sup>12</sup>. Percentage suppression from baseline and area under the NEFA curve was also calculated using a trapezoid method <sup>187</sup>.

## 3.10 Hypothalamic pituitary adrenal axis (HPAA) studies

#### 3.10.1 Morning cortisol

Fasting blood was taken immediately on cannulation at 9am in a lithium heparin tube and cortisol levels were measured on the day of testing in the endocrine laboratory by an in-house direct assay using an lodine-125 tracer <sup>202</sup>.

#### 3.10.2 Low dose ACTH test

A low dose ACTH test was performed using an ACTH analogue tetracosactrin (Synacthen, Alliance, UK) to determine the adrenal sensitivity. A physiological dose of one microgram of freshly prepared ACTH was used <sup>164</sup>. Tests were performed in the afternoon, one hour after eating, via an indwelling cannula which had been inserted in the morning <sup>164</sup> using 1mcg Synacthen, which was freshly prepared by adding 250mcg Synacthen to 500ml normal saline, shaking vigorously for 2 minutes and then drawing up 2ml of this solution. Subjects had been cannulated on the morning of the test and Synacthen testing was undertaken at 14.00. Synacthen solution was administered as a bolus and 10ml venous blood taken from the in-dwelling cannula at 0, 30 and 60 minutes. Blood was transferred to lithium heparin plasma tubes and cortisol levels were measured in the endocrine laboratory as above.

## 3.10.3 Corticosteroid binding globulin (CBG)

CBG was measured in the endocrine laboratory using a commercial RIA assay kit (code CBG-RIA-100) (Biosource, Nivelles, Belgium).

#### 3.10.4 Free cortisol

Free cortisol was calculated from measured cortisol and CBG using Coolens' method <sup>203</sup>.

#### 3.10.5 Cortisol clearance

#### 3.10.5.1 Preparation of deuterated cortisol

Deuterated Cortisol (9,12,12-D3) was obtained from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories, Massachusetts, USA. Purity was 98%. Stock solution was prepared in pharmacy by dissolving 5 mg deuterated cortisol in 2.5mg pharmaceutical grade absolute ethanol to a concentration of 2mg/ml. The bolus dose of 200mcg/m<sup>2</sup> was prepared freshly in pharmacy on the day of investigation according to subject's surface area by diluting stock solution to 1% alcohol with normal saline. The bolus dose was then filtered using a Millipore Millex GV PDVF filter. The methods were validated by analysing a test dose in biochemistry and using tandem mass-spectrometry.

#### 3.10.5.2 Clinical study

Subjects were asked to eat a light breakfast of toast or cereal and without caffeine prior to 8am and to attend the clinical research facility at 9am where they were cannulated in each arm and weighed as previously. Patients were cannulated at least 30 minutes prior to receiving the bolus dose. The  $200mcg/m^2$  dose of deuterium-labelled cortisol was given at 10am over 30 seconds. Blood was taken for measurement of deuterated and native cortisol from the contralateral arm at times 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150, 180, 210 and 240 minutes in EDTA. Subjects were asked to sit quietly during this time and were not given anything else to eat until after 240 minutes. Blood was centrifuged as previously and stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C until required for analysis. Urine was collected at time 0, 2, 4, 6 and 8 hours and the volume was measured and a sample stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C for analysis of cortisol metabolites  $^{204}$ .

#### 3.10.5.3 Lipid extraction

Serum samples were thawed in a water bath at 20°C, vortexed and 0.8ml was added to 4 ml dichloromethane in a glass tube under an extraction hood. The solution was shaken vigorously and vortexed, then centrifuged at 3,500 rpm at 20°C for 10 minutes. The top layer was removed using a glass pipette. A 3ml aliquot was dried under nitrogen on a heating block at 20°C. This was then reconstituted in approximately 50mcg dichloromethane with two further washes to ensure no sample remained, and the solution was dried down as previously in glass microvials for mass spectrometry analysis. This method was validated prior to testing using samples of known concentration, and repeated sampling on two subjects. During the validation of this method a fourth wash was subjected to analysis using mass spectrometry confirming that no cortisol remained. Once the methods had been validated the lipid extractions were performed by a laboratory technician.

#### 3.10.5.4 Internal standards

For each time point the same method was used for samples which had been spiked with native cortisol of a known concentration of 300nmol/l to act as an internal standard. This internal standard was made by adding 8.5mg cortisol to 78.182ml ethanol (molar weight of cortisol 362.47g). One millilitre of this solution was added to each glass vial and dried down prior to addition of the plasma samples. This method was also validated as above and then performed by the same laboratory technician as above.

#### 3.10.5.5 Mass spectrometry

The lipid-extracted samples were measured by LC/MS/MS using a symmetry C18 3.5ìm 2.1x50mm column (Waters) and an isocratic solvent consisting of 530:470:002 (v:v) methanol: water: glacial acetic acid. Each measurement was repeated about 10 times to decrease errors. Eluted sterols were quantified on a Micromass Quatro Ultima triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (Micromass, Wythenshaw, UK) by multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) scans using the following transitions: 361.20 to 163.00 for cortisone; 363.20 to 121.00 for cortisol; 364.20 to 163.00 for d3cortisone; 366.20 to 121.00 for d3 cortisol. The mass spectrometry measurements were performed by a post-graduate scientist. A software programme (Mass Lynx) was used to integrate areas for each eluted sterol, results were manually checked and the mean of 6 replicate measurements

was used for each data point. Where one or more sample showed a significant deviation (>20%) from the other readings this sample was omitted from the calculation of the mean and a different reading was used. Clearance of cortisol was calculated from the cortisol measurements and spiked sample measurements using a two pool method as described by Tait <sup>205</sup>.

## 3.11 Physical activity and fitness

#### 3.11.1 Physical activity

#### 3.11.1.1 Physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE)

PAEE was assessed with heart rate monitoring using the HRFlex method. The HRFlex method uses an individual calibration of the relationship between energy expenditure and heart rate on exertion together with measurement of resting energy expenditure and estimation of heart rate at which the linear assumption does not hold (at low energy expenditure) the 'FLEX' point. This FLEX heart rate is taken empirically as the mean of the highest pulse rate at rest and lowest during exercise. The HRFlex method has been compared in validation studies with the 'gold standard' techniques of doubly labelled water (for references see Wareham et al 1997<sup>206</sup>) which suggest that the technique provides an accurate estimate of energy expenditure with a mean error for estimating total energy expenditure of as little as 0.6%).

Volunteers were asked to wear a heart rate (HR) monitor (Polar instruments) for all waking hours during three typical days, usually 2 weekdays and a weekend day. Volunteers were shown how to fit the chest electrodes and transmitter with a recording device worn on the wrist. They were asked to wear the monitor from after washing in the morning until they went to bed at night. The monitor recorded heart rate every 15 seconds and the data were downloaded via infrared signal to a computer with Polar software installed. The readings were analysed after a manual check on each file, and excluding all HR readings of zero beats per minute and greater than 200 beats per minute. Physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE) over three days was calculated using the individual relationship between HR and average VO<sub>2</sub> for each workload, then using this relationship to calculate average daily PAEE for all free-living HR readings greater than the lowest HR during light exercise and averaged over the three day period. Data on free-living PAEE are expressed in relation to body weight (i.e. kcal/kg/day). PAEE was calculated using locally developed software and methods by collaborators in Cambridge.

#### 3.11.1.2 Physical activity questionnaires

Subjects completed a well-validated questionnaire to assess physical activity, the Baecke questionnaire of habitual activity <sup>193,207</sup> which has a total of 16 questions in three categories (work, sport and leisure), and responses are graded 1-5. An average score is then calculated for each of three categories, to give a work index, sports index, and non-sports leisure index so that a score close to zero indicates a low level of activity and a score close to 5 indicates a high level of activity. A total score out of 15 is determined by adding together the three scores.

#### 3.11.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness

#### 3.11.2.1 Treadmill assessment of VO<sub>2</sub> max

All tests were performed fasting after subjects had avoided strenuous exercise for 24 hours. Subjects were asked to avoid alcohol on the day prior to testing. On arrival in the CRF volunteers were weighed and then asked to rest quietly for 30 minutes prior to testing. Subjects were then fitted with the air-tight facemask for gas analysis, Polar heart rate monitor and ECG leads. Resting measurements were taken for 20 minutes prior to commencing measurement to allow subjects to become acclimatised to the facemask and so that resting metabolic rate could be determined. Breath-by-breath analysis of oxygen consumption and CO<sub>2</sub> production was made using a Metalyser instrument which was calibrated daily using gases of known composition prior to testing.

Subjects were asked to perform an incremental treadmill test commencing at 1.3 m/s (3 miles/hour) at a gradient of 0% and increased by either 2% gradient or 0.25m/s (0.5miles/hour) every 2 minutes (i.e. stage 1: 1.3m/s, 0% gradient, stage

2: 1.3m/s, 2% gradient, stage 3:1.55 m/s, 2% gradient) (Woodmill treadmill)<sup>178</sup>. ECG was recorded throughout and blood pressure was measured intermittently. Subjects were asked to continue to exhaustion unless they experienced chest pain or felt unwell, and were encouraged to continue until the respiratory quotient was >1.1 and they had reached 90% of their target heart rate (as determined by 220-age).

Three subjects who were unable to run on the treadmill performed a cycle ergometer test. VO<sub>2</sub> max was determined using an incremental workload test using an electromagnetic brake ergometer (SECA 545, Volga & Holke, Hamburg, Germany). Subjects began pedalling at a comfortable rate at a workload of 20 watts. They were asked to continue cycling at the same rate and workload was increased by 20 watts every two minutes until they had exercised for ten minutes. The workload was then increased by 20 watts every one minute to ensure cardiovascular exhaustion was achieved before muscle fatigue.

## 4 BODY COMPOSITION – COMPARISON OF METHODS AND ASSOCIATION WITH METABOLIC SYNDROME FEATURES

## 4.1 Introduction

Obesity prevalence is increasing and with it the number of people affected by type 2 diabetes and the other metabolic consequences of obesity, namely hypertension and dyslipidaemia, which together make up the metabolic syndrome <sup>3,39,113,136</sup>. There has been much debate over the importance of total fat, truncal fat and visceral fat in the pathogenesis of the metabolic syndrome and consequently extensive discussion of the best methods to use in assessing obesity for screening purposes, for population studies and for clinical studies <sup>5,53</sup>. The aim of this study was to determine how BMI and waist circumference compare with more technical measures of body composition for association with insulin resistance and other cardiovascular risk factors.

Because of evidence that abdominal visceral fat deposition is associated with increased risk of the metabolic consequences of obesity <sup>208</sup> it has been suggested that BMI, which does not identify abdominal fat, is left aside for identifying these individuals for lipid-lowering and blood pressure intervention <sup>6</sup> and that more technical methods which do provide an estimate of visceral fat such as DEXA may be better <sup>73</sup>, or at least that waist circumference is used instead <sup>5</sup> However there are two arguments against this approach. Firstly it is not universally accepted that visceral fat is causative in the metabolic syndrome, or that subcutaneous fat may not also be pathological <sup>47 748,209</sup>. Secondly, as identifying these individuals is a two-step process, where the second step is simple blood pressure and blood lipid and glucose measurement, there is an argument for keeping the first step as simple as possible.

BMI measurement does not provide information about body composition but is very easily measured in a clinical setting and requires a minimum of equipment

and training. It is closely correlated with other measures of body composition and as such is a useful screening tool <sup>54</sup>. It has been widely used in population studies and predicts the development of diabetes <sup>4,55,56</sup>, ischaemic heart disease <sup>57,58</sup> and premature death <sup>59</sup>. Waist circumference measurement can be used instead of BMI to identify obese individuals <sup>5,8</sup> and has the advantage of combining a measure of overall fatness with an assessment of regional adiposity but is more difficult to reproduce and requires training in a standardised technique <sup>5</sup>. Waist circumference is particularly important in identifying a small sub-group of people who have central obesity despite a BMI in the normal range <sup>53</sup> and also to exclude the even smaller subgroup of individuals who have a high BMI because of increased muscle mass through intensive physical training.

In a group of healthy middle-aged men with a wide range of body fat quantity we have assessed body composition using BMI, waist and hip circumference, DEXA, bioimpedance, Bod Pod plethysmography and skin fold measurement and in obese subjects we have also measured visceral fat using 5-slice MRI to evaluate how BMI compares with these more technical measurements. We have measured metabolic syndrome features and tissue insulin sensitivity using a euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp technique with deuterated glucose and compared the methods to determine which measure of fat correlates best with metabolic syndrome features and insulin sensitivity.

## 4.2 Methods

Thirty-three male subjects aged 42-64 were recruited from general practice and advertisement as previously described. They were recruited to have a wide range of body mass index and subjects on treatment for known cardiovascular risk factors were specifically excluded from this study to avoid potential confounding by lipid, glucose or blood-pressure lowering agents. For this reason our obese subjects might have been uncharacteristically healthy compared with other obese subjects of similar age. During the recruitment process many volunteers were rejected from the study on the grounds of known medical complications of obesity (see Methods chapter).

Subjects were asked to attend the CRF at 9am having fasted from 10pm the previous night. They were asked to avoid strenuous exercise or alcohol on the days prior to attending. Subjects had anthropometry measurements as described in the methods section and 29 subjects attended on a second occasion for the euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp as previously described. Subjects with BMI greater than 30kg/m<sup>2</sup> had visceral and subcutaneous fat measured by 5-slice abdominal MRI.

All statistical analyses were undertaken using SPSS for Windows version 14.0. For each method the mean, range and standard deviation were calculated. The methods were compared by plotting the mean of each pair of values on the xaxis against the difference between each pair on the y-axis, to provide a Bland-Altman plot of the agreement between the measurements. Perfect agreement would be represented by a scatter plot on a line parallel to the x-axis.

The different measurements were then plotted against BMI, as BMI is usually used to define obesity, and the percentage fat for each measurement method was compared to a BMI of 30kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

Pearson Correlation was used to compare each method with fasting plasma glucose, 2-hour plasma glucose after 75g OGTT, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, fasting plasma triglycerides and HDL cholesterol. If distribution of a variable was not normal the variable was normalised using logarithmic transformation prior to comparison. Where measurements were made in different units standardised z-scores were used for comparison.

## 4.3 Results

Thirty-three men were studied: their characteristics are shown in table 4.1. None were known to have diabetes or to be on treatment for blood pressure or dyslipidaemia. Two men had 2-hour glucose levels just above the cut-off for diabetes but were asymptomatic; four further individuals had impaired glucose tolerance and one subject had impaired fasting glucose.

The six methods used to determine total body fat were BMI, waist circumference, DEXA, bioimpedance, Bod Pod plethysmography and skin fold measurement. The mean, range and standard deviation for DEXA, bioimpedance, Bod Pod and skin fold measurement can be expressed as fat percentage and are compared in table 4.2. It can be seen that there is close agreement between the results obtained from DEXA and bioimpedance (mean 28.1, range 12.0-39.8 and mean 28.1, range 13.6-45.7 respectively), and from the Bland-Altman plots seen in figure 4.2 it can be seen that there is reasonable agreement between the individual measurements represented by relatively little scatter about the line and narrow 95% confidence intervals. For the calculated total fat using the Bod Pod and skin fold measurement the mean values are higher, (mean 32.0 range 4.5-45.3 and mean 32.2, range 17.1-41.4% respectively) and in the case of the Bod Pod the range of measurements is large. In particular there are some individuals with very low measurements for body fat as seen in the plot of BMI against Bod Pod measurement (figure 4.3). It can be seen from the plots of Bod Pod against DEXA and bioimpedance (figure 4.2) that there is a strong negative relationship between these values indicating that as the values get larger the differences between them get smaller suggesting that the Bod Pod gives lower readings than other measurements at low values.

The relationships between BMI and the other measures of fatness are presented in figure 4.3 and table 4.3. It can be seen that the strongest relationship is between BMI and waist circumference, although when total fat on DEXA is used rather than percentage this relationship is slightly stronger than that with waist circumference. The relationships between BMI and Bod Pod and skin fold measured fat are not linear as seen in figure 4.4. The close relationship between BMI and waist is shown in the scatter plot (figure 4.5) and in the Bland-Altman plot of standardised (z score) BMI and waist mean and difference (figure 4.6). A Bland-Altman plot is also shown for standardised BMI against total fat on DEXA (figure 4.7).

59

٢

Pearson correlation co-efficients were calculated for features of the metabolic syndrome with the measurements of total fatness (table 4.4). No one measurement correlated better than the others with metabolic syndrome features. The strongest correlation with fasting glucose was with BMI (r=0.588, p<0.001), the strongest relationship with HDL cholesterol was with waist circumference (r=-0.541, p=0.001) and the strongest relationship with plasma triglycerides was with DEXA fat percentage (r=0.531, p=0.002), the strongest relationship with systolic blood pressure was with the bioimpedance measurement (r=0.449, p=0.009) and with diastolic blood pressure was with Bod Pod calculated fat (r=0.508, p=0.005). BMI correlated well with metabolic syndrome features although the relationship with BP did not reach statistical significance.

The methods used to determine regional fat were waist and hip circumference, truncal fat measured on DEXA and visceral and subcutaneous trunk fat measured by MRI. Cross-sectional MRI imaging was performed only on the individuals with BMI greater than 30kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Truncal fat on DEXA correlates strongly with the measurements of total fat on DEXA, BMI and waist circumference as seen in figure 4.5. Both visceral and subcutaneous fat correlated strongly with truncal fat on DEXA and the measures of total fat including BMI and waist (Table 4.6).

Truncal fat and visceral fat correlated strongly with features of the metabolic syndrome (Table 4.7), but interestingly subcutaneous fat correlated equally strongly, and none of these measures showed a better overall correlation coefficient than the measures of total fatness. The only exception being the negative relationship between HDL cholesterol and visceral fat, which was slightly stronger than the relationship with total fatness (r=-0.629, p=0.003 compared with r=-0.550, p=0.001 for waist circumference). Waist-hip ratio showed relatively poor correlation with the metabolic syndrome features.

We compared the relationships between the different measurements of fatness and tissue insulin sensitivity in muscle liver and fat (table 4.8) and there was minimal difference between the correlation between insulin sensitivity and BMI and the correlation with trunk or total fat on DEXA.

## Table 4-1 Subject characteristics

	Mean	SD	Range
Age (years)	53	5.8	42-64
BMI (kg/m²)	31.5	6.5	21-49
Waist circumference (cm)	108.6	17.1	80-150
DEXA fat (%)	28.1	6.9	12-40
Visceral fat MRI (kg)	6.1	1.4	3.9-9.7
Systolic BP (mmHg)	132	15	102-188
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	77	9	58-103
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	5.4	0.6	4.5-7.0
HDL cholesterol (mmol/l)	1.4	0.4	0.8-2.6
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	1.7	1	0.7-4.9
Glucose disposal (mg/kg/min)	6.7	3.3	2.2-13.9
RD mean steady state (umol/kg/min) Suppression hepatic glucose output by	37.6	16.3	12.4-73.3
60 minutes insulin (%)	67.9	24.1	21-117
NEFA percentage suppression by 60 minutes (%)	58.3	20.2	14.7-88.3

Figure 4-1: Distribution of BMI amongst the subjects



Table 4-2 Comparison of fatness measured by DEXA, bioimpedance, Bod Pod and skin fold thickness

	DEXA (%) (n=32)	Bioimpedance (%)	Bod Pod (%) (n=29)	Skin fold calculated fat (%)
Mean	28.1	28.1	32.0	32.2
Median	29.0	27.8	35.0	33.5
Std. Deviation	6.9	7.6	10.8	5.6
Range	12.0-39.8	13.6-45.7	4.5-45.3	17.8-41.4



Figure 4-2 Bland-Altman plots comparing percentage fat measured by DEXA, Bod Pod, bioimpedance and skin fold measurement

## Table 4-3 Correlation between BMI and fat measured by bioimpedance, Bod Pod, DEXA, skin fold thickness and waist circumference

	Bio- impedance	Bod Pod	DEXA % fat	Total fat on DEXA	Skin fold calculated fat	Waist circum- ference
Correlation	0.929	0.865	0.881	0.973	0.760	0.969
Significance	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000

## Table 4-4 Correlation between measures of body fat and features of the metabolic syndrome

		Systolic BP	Diastolic BP	Fasting plasma glucose	HDL cholesterol	Triglycerides
Body mass						
index (n=33)	Correlation	0.327	0.316	0.588	-0.481	0.464
	Sig	0.063	0.074	0.000	0.005	0.007
Bioimpedance fat (=33)	Correlation	0.449	0.374	0.509	-0.449	0.455
. ,	Sig	0.009	0.032	0.002	0.009	0.008
Bod Pod fat (n=29)	Correlation	0.355	0.508	0.524	-0.467	0.391
	Sig	0.059	0.005	0.004	0.011	0.036
DEXA fat (%) (n=32)	Correlation	0.368	0.438	0.578	-0.487	0.531
	Sig	0.038	0.012	0.001	0.005	0.002
Skin fold calculated fat (n=33)	Correlation	0.315	0.461	0.420	-0.378	0.406
	Sig	0.075	0.007	0.015	0.030	0.019
Waist circumference (n=33)	Correlation	0.433	0.371	0.572	-0.541	0.517
	Sig	0.012	0.034	0.001	0.001	0.002
Waist hip ratio (n=33)	Correlation	0.330	0.217	0.298	-0.451	0.355
· · · ·	Sig.	0.060	0.225	0.093	0.008	0.042

		Trunk fat on DEXA	Waist circumference	Total fat measured on DEXA	Body mass index
Visceral fat MRI (n=19)	Pearson Correlation	0.718	0.757	0.657	0.670
	Sig	0.001	0.000	0.002	0.001
Subcutaneous fat MRI (n=19)	Pearson Correlation	0.656	0.810	0.743	0.799
	Sig	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.000

Table 4-5 Correlation between visceral and subcutaneous fat on MRI and trunk and total fat on DEXA, BMI and waist circumference

Figure 4-3 Scatter plots of percentage fat measured by DEXA, Bod Pod, bioimpedance and skin fold measurement against BMI





## Figure 4-4 Relationships between DEXA, Bod Pod, bioimpedance and skin fold measured percentage total body fat and BMI



Figure 4-5 Scatter plot of waist circumference against BMI

Figure 4-6 Bland Altman plot standardised BMI and waist





Figure 4-7 Bland Altman plot standardised BMI against total fat on DEXA









		Trunk fat on DEXA	Waist circumference	Total fat measured on DEXA	Body mass index
Visceral fat MRI	Pearson Correlation	0.718	0.757	0.657	0.670
(n=19)	Sig	0.001	0.000	0.002	0.001
Subcutaneous fat MRI	Pearson Correlation	0.656	0.810	0.743	0.799
(n=19)	Sig	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.000

Table 4-6 Pearson Correlation coefficients between visceral and subcutaneous fat and trunk fat on DEXA, waist circumference, total fat on DEXA and BMI

Table 4-7 Correlation between measurements of trunk fat and metabolic syndrome features

		Systolic BP	Diastolic BP	Fasting plasma glucose	HDL cholesterol	Triglycerides
Trunk fat on DEXA	Pearson Correlation	0.400	0.347	0.629	-0.525	0.577
n=33	Sig	0.023	0.051	0.000	0.002	0.001
Visceral fat MRI	Pearson Correlation	0.405	-0.042	0.343	-0.629	0.521
n=20	Sig	0.077	0.860	0.139	0.003	0.018
Subcutaneous fat MRI	Pearson Correlation	0.213	-0.072	0.133	-0.521	0.211
n=20	Sig	0.366	0.763	0.576	0.018	0.371
Waist circumference n=33	Pearson Correlation	0.433	0.371	0.572	-0.541	0.517
	Sig	0.012	0.034	0.001	0.001	0.002
Waist/hip ratio n=33	Pearson Correlation	0.330	0.217	0.298	-0.451	0.355
	Sig	0.060	0.225	0.093	0.008	0.042

		M value (n=29)	RD steady state (n=29)	NEFA percentage suppression by 60 minutes (n=33)	Suppression hepatic glucose output by 60 minutes insulin (n=29)
Body mass index	Pearson Correlation	-0.747	-0.765	-0.621	-0.473
*	Sig	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.010
Waist circumference	Pearson Correlation	-0.776	-0.795	-0.623	-0.564
	Sig.	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.001
Total fat measured on DEXA	Pearson Correlation	-0.797	-0.813	-0.671	-0.525
	Sig.	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.003
Trunk fat on DEXA	Pearson Correlation	-0.811	-0.817	-0.656	-0.544
	Sig.	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.002
Visceral fat on MRI (n=19)	Pearson Correlation	-0.411	-0.352	-0.316	-0.349
	Sig.	0.080	0.140	0.175	0.142

# Table 4-8 Correlation between BMI, waist, total and trunk fat on DEXA and whole body insulin sensitivity, and insulin sensitivity in muscle, adipose tissue and liver
### 4.4 Discussion

We found that in men the simple methods of measuring fatness, namely BMI and waist, correlate equally strongly with plasma glucose, triglycerides and HDL cholesterol, and in the case of waist circumference, blood pressure; compared with more technical methods, namely DEXA, skin fold measurement, Bod Pod and bioimpedance. We also found that there was considerable variation in body fat measured by these different methods.

We found a close inverse correlation between BMI and waist and insulin sensitivity in the individual tissues. We found that truncal and visceral fat measured by DEXA and MRI were slightly more strongly associated with metabolic syndrome features than BMI but waist circumference correlated equally strongly as DEXA and MRI. We found a very strong correlation between BMI and waist circumference. Both BMI and waist were more strongly associated than visceral fat with insulin sensitivity in the individual tissues, although this finding is treated with caution because only 20 obese subjects had MRI scans.

Since the recognition of obesity as an increasing health issue there has been much emphasis in the literature on how to identify individuals as risk, and the importance of visceral fat <sup>6 5</sup>. Although it has been well described that obese women with the typical female pattern of peripheral fat accumulation are relatively insulin sensitive compared to those with central fat accumulation <sup>42</sup>, there is little evidence that the same association occurs in men <sup>51</sup>. There has long been discussion in the literature about the importance of identifying 'metabolically normal' obese individuals, but these individuals are in fact predominantly female <sup>81,135</sup>.

There is some evidence that central fat accumulation is a risk factor beyond increased BMI for the development of diabetes in men <sup>43</sup> and there is also evidence that visceral fat is metabolically different to subcutaneous fat and may be pathogenic in obese individuals by releasing non-esterified fatty acids directly

into the portal circulation <sup>44-46,50</sup>. However Frayn has argued that the evidence for a causal link between visceral fat and the features of the metabolic syndrome is weak, pointing out that if excess fatty acid release from visceral fat is responsible for the other features this should result in disappearance of the visceral fat mass unless there is also increased fat deposition which has not been demonstrated <sup>47</sup>. He suggests that other mechanisms should be considered such as the importance of the subcutaneous fat mass which outweighs the visceral fat mass several-fold. This would be consistent with our finding of the importance of total fat mass in men. Although waist circumference is better than BMI in predicting visceral fat <sup>7,210</sup>, BMI has been demonstrated by others to be better than waist circumference at predicting non-abdominal fat <sup>9</sup>.

Even accepting that visceral fat is more metabolically active than subcutaneous fat <sup>208</sup>, and in keeping with our findings, the literature lacks convincing evidence that in Caucasian men visceral adiposity exists in the absence of a raised BMI or similarly evidence for the existence of obese individuals without significant quantities of visceral fat. It has been argued that waist measurement provides further information within BMI categories for determining cardiovascular risk factors <sup>8</sup>, but the numbers of subjects with raised BMI but low waist circumference, and conversely low BMI but high waist circumference are very small <sup>8</sup>. Others have also found that in men there is a strong correlation between BMI and other measures of fatness. <sup>7,210</sup>.

In a recent meta-analysis of 40 studies, Romero-Corral and colleagues found an increased mortality risk for subjects with normal BMI compared with overweight individuals <sup>211</sup>. However, in addition to the problems inherent to meta-analysis, such as lack of consistency between studies, this was a study of subjects with known cardiovascular disease and the subjects with low and normal BMI were more likely to be smokers and were significantly older than those with higher body mass. Recent findings from the Interheart Study have re-emphasised the importance of tobacco use as risk of myocardial infarction <sup>212</sup>, suggesting that the link between tobacco use and heart disease is even stronger than previously

thought. However perhaps more importantly Romero-Corral's study is an analysis of secondary prevention, and patients with existing cardiovascular disease were recruited after myocardial infarction, coronary artery bypass grafting or percutaneous coronary intervention, and having a lower BMI could indicate more severe cardiovascular disease or other pathology. In an accompanying editorial Franzoni suggests that 'BMI is laid aside as a clinical and epidemiological measure of cardiovascular risk for both primary and secondary prevention' <sup>6</sup>, however this conclusion should not be based on a study of secondary prevention and our findings indicate that valuable information can be obtained from BMI in men.

Laying aside BMI is not without resource implications. Patients can measure and calculate their own BMI fairly accurately without need for training or specialised equipment, whereas even waist measurement requires training, and there exists widespread familiarity with both measurement and interpretation in primary care. Men with a high BMI but low waist circumference are rare compared with women in whom there is much more variation in body composition.

The relationship between BMI and blood pressure did not reach statistical significance although this could be a type 2 statistical error because of the small numbers in our study. This was a small study and as such there is a risk that weaker correlations will be missed. For these associations larger epidemiological studies are better and using mathematical modelling it has been shown that the associations with blood pressure show the weakest association with the other features of the metabolic syndrome <sup>41</sup>. Because blood pressure would usually be measured at the time BMI is measured in a clinical setting it is not so important for clinical practice that the measure of fatness correlates well with blood pressure.

A criticism of this study is that only individuals without known cardiovascular risk factors were recruited. Individuals with a wide range of BMI were sought and during recruitment a number of obese subjects with diabetes and on treatment

for hypertension and dyslipidaemia were excluded. Although this meant that the obese subjects might have been exceptionally healthy, the fact that there were still strong correlations between BMI and cardiovascular risk factors suggests that in the general population this finding would be stronger. A further criticism is that this study did not include women or non-Caucasians and further research is needed to determine how useful BMI is in women and other ethnic groups as our findings cannot be extrapolated to other populations.

In summary we have found very close correlation between BMI and other measures of fatness, but more importantly shown that the correlation between BMI and metabolic syndrome features is as strong as fat measurement by DEXA, Bod Pod, bioimpedance, skin-fold measurement in men. We found minimal evidence that more technical methods of measuring fatness would provide a better measure of cardiovascular risk factors. Waist circumference correlates slightly more strongly with metabolic syndrome features than BMI but because blood pressure measurement and plasma glucose and lipid profiles are easily available, BMI remains useful for screening for cardiovascular risk in men.

### 5 THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN FATTY LIVER AND INSULIN RESISTANCE IN OBESE SUBJECTS

### 5.1 Introduction

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a newly described feature of the metabolic syndrome <sup>213</sup> <sup>13</sup>, but it is not yet clear whether it relates predominantly to obesity, or is a part of the picture of insulin resistance. NAFLD forms a spectrum of disease from simple steatosis, or fatty infiltration through non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) to cirrhosis and is now recognised as the cause of many previous cases of 'idiopathic' cirrhosis <sup>155</sup>. The underlying cause of NASH is uncertain but it is strongly associated with obesity and type 2 diabetes <sup>14,16,17</sup>. The aim of this study was to determine the relationship between fatty liver, tissue insulin resistance and quantity and location of adipose tissue with a view to elucidating mechanisms of pathogenesis.

The worldwide prevalence of NAFLD is likely to increase because the global prediction for 2030 suggests a profound rise in numbers of individuals with diabetes <sup>3</sup> and NAFLD is already thought to be the most common of all liver disorders in developed nations. This has important health and resource implications for these countries <sup>214</sup> because up to 50% of subjects develop liver fibrosis, 15-17% develop cirrhosis and 3% develop end-stage liver failure requiring transplantation <sup>17,18,215</sup>. Establishing whether insulin resistance or obesity is the more important factor for the development of fatty liver is difficult because of the strong co-linear association between obesity and insulin resistance <sup>14,18-20</sup>, however this is an important question to answer because of identifying individuals at risk of developing liver disease and to determine which therapeutic interventions may prevent progression.

Recent literature has suggested that insulin resistance may be a more important factor than obesity for the development of NAFLD <sup>13,19,21</sup>. In healthy subjects

Johanson et al <sup>21</sup> demonstrated that fatty liver was associated with insulin sensitivity (measured during a euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp) independently of total or visceral fat on CT. A further question is whether insulin resistance in a specific tissue is specifically associated with the development of fatty liver. Kelley et al <sup>19</sup> compared insulin sensitivity in different tissues in diabetic subjects with and without fatty liver on CT with lean and obese subjects and in this study subjects with fatty liver were considerably more insulin resistant in muscle and fat but not liver.

To our knowledge there has been no single study comparing insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle, liver and adipose tissue in healthy obese subjects with and without fatty liver and there is no study that has in parallel undertaken precise measurements of quantity and location of body fat. Again this question is important to answer because different pharmaceutical agents affect insulin sensitivity in different tissues, and so if insulin resistance in a specific location may contribute to the development of fatty liver disease then improving insulin sensitivity in that tissue may also improve fatty liver disease.

Insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle is assessed during the euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp <sup>10,116</sup>, and hepatic insulin action can be measured by insulin-induced suppression of hepatic glucose output <sup>13,19,122,216</sup>. In adipose tissue, insulin-mediated suppression of lipolysis is often used as a measure of insulin action <sup>13,19,106,217</sup>. Impaired suppression of non-esterified fatty acids (NEFAs) to an oral glucose load is also a marker of insulin resistance in adipocytes <sup>107,124,141,218-221</sup>. Evaluation of insulin sensitivity in adipose tissue using suppression of NEFAs in subjects with fatty liver <sup>13,152,222</sup> has been undertaken but no consensus has been reached regarding insulin sensitivity in fat . Although there are correlations between measures of insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle, liver and adipose tissue <sup>223</sup> correlations between these measures are relatively weak. Conclusions about insulin action in one tissue should not be extrapolated from data obtained for another organ and direct measurement of insulin action in each tissue is the ideal.

Ultrasonography has been shown to identify steatosis with a sensitivity of 94% and specificity of 88% when compared to histological findings <sup>144</sup>. Other imaging methods such as computer tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) have also been used <sup>145-147</sup> but have not been shown to be superior to ultrasonography <sup>148</sup>. MRI spectroscopy is a new method which allows quantification of hepatic fat content and therefore enables correlations to be made with associated features <sup>150-152</sup>, however this technique is expensive and invasive and was not available for this study. We therefore used ultrasonography rather than MRI spectroscopy to identify subjects with and without fatty liver as this method is widely accepted for this purpose <sup>148,149</sup>.

The aim of our study was to measure insulin sensitivity in muscle, liver and fat in obese men with and without fatty liver, in whom body composition has been precisely determined. We have used a euglycaemic clamp technique with deuterated glucose tracer, and suppression of NEFAs during an oral glucose tolerance test to determine insulin sensitivity in muscle, liver and adipose tissue and we have used anthropometry, DEXA, bioelectrical impedance, air displacement plethysmography and horizontal 5-slice cross-sectional MRI to evaluate in detail total body fat, truncal fat and visceral fat. We have also studied a group of lean subjects without fatty liver for further comparison as additional controls.

### 5.2 Methods

Subjects with BMI greater that  $30 \text{kg/m}^2$  were categorised as those with and without fatty liver on ultrasound, and were compared with lean men (BMI  $\leq 25 \text{kg/m}^2$ ), none of whom had fatty liver.

Anthropometry was performed and MRI scanning of obese subjects as described in the methods chapter. Liver ultrasonography was performed as described previously: although we had a radiologist-assigned score for steatosis from mild through moderate to severe, for this analysis subjects were divided into those with or without any evidence of steatosis, particularly as only one subject had been assigned a score of 'mild'.

Insulin sensitivity was measured using the euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp technique with deuterated glucose infusion to determine hepatic insulin sensitivity determined by insulin-mediated suppression of endogenous glucose production <sup>10,11</sup>. One obese subject was unable to attend for this study.

For measurement of insulin sensitivity in adipose tissue, NEFAs were measured for each time point during the OGTT. After reviewing the plots of NEFA levels against time, NEFA suppression was measured as determined by the area under the NEFA curve from 30 minutes to 120 minutes and by percentage NEFA suppression from baseline during the OGTT.

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS for Windows version 14.0. Comparison of data from the two obese groups was undertaken using Student's t-test. Where variables were not normally distributed log transformation was undertaken to normalise the distribution. Analysis of variance was used for comparison of normally distributed data from the three groups where lean controls were included in the analysis. Pearson correlation coefficients are presented for univariate regression analyses of normally distributed data. A pvalue of <0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

### 5.3 Results

22 obese men (mean BMI 35.1  $\pm$  4.7 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and 8 lean men (mean BMI 23.6  $\pm$  1.6 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) were studied (table 5.1). Of the obese subjects, 15 (68%) had fatty liver on ultrasonography. Although steatosis was graded as mild, moderate or severe subjects were categorised as either having fatty liver (defined as any level of hepatic steatosis) or not having fatty liver. None of the lean controls had fatty liver. There was no difference in reported alcohol consumption between obese with fatty liver and obese subjects without fatty liver (11.8 v 14.1 units per week p=0.76, Table 5.1).

GGT was increased in the obese subjects with fatty liver compared to obese subjects without fatty liver (57.5 v 30.4 mmol/l p=0.02, Table 5.1). ALT was also higher in the subjects with fatty liver but the difference did not reach statistical significance (37.1 v 28.3 mmol/l p=0.13, Table 5.1). There was no significant difference between obese subjects with and without fatty liver in any of the other features of the metabolic syndrome (table 5.1). Lean controls had significantly lower diastolic blood pressure (p=0.006) and fasting plasma triglyceride (p=0.024), and higher fasting HDL cholesterol concentrations (p=0.026) than obese subjects (table 5.1).

Obese subjects with fatty liver had slightly more total body fat than obese subjects without fatty liver (33.2kg v 29.3kg, p=0.027, table 5.2). There was close correlation between all four measures used to determine percentage body fat (Pearson correlation coefficients from 0.77 to 0.93 p<0.001). Importantly, the obese fatty liver group had slightly more truncal fat on DEXA scanning (20.9kg v 15.6kg, p=0.038). Interestingly there was no difference in the amount of either abdominal visceral fat (p=0.42) or subcutaneous fat (p=0.62) as measured by 5slice MRI (table 5.3). Because this finding was somewhat unexpected and since most other investigators have assessed visceral fat by single horizontal MRI scanning, we examined correlations between each of the single slices and the composite measure obtained from all 5 horizontal slices. R2 values varied considerably from 0.47 to 0.85 depending on which single slice was chosen. Given that the calculated value from the composite of 5 slices is most likely to reflect quantity of total visceral fat, the relatively poor correlation coefficients obtained with a single slice may be interpreted to mean that use of a single slice only, may result in an imprecise value for total visceral fat. As expected obese subjects with fatty liver also had a trend toward slightly higher lean mass than obese subjects without fatty liver (67.4 v 56.8kg, p=0.15).

During the clamp steady state was obtained for glucose and insulin levels (see figures 5.1 and 5.2), with co-efficients of variation for steady state glucose in lean subjects (CV)  $0.070 \pm$  (SD) 0.018 mmol/l, obese subjects without fatty liver  $0.068 \pm 0.025 \text{ mmol/l}$ , and obese subjects without fatty liver CV  $0.053 \pm 0.028 \text{ mmol/l}$ .

Obese subjects with fatty liver were more insulin resistant in muscle than obese subjects without fatty liver (see table 5.4), as demonstrated by reduced whole body glucose disposal in the euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp  $(4.4 \pm 1.8)$ mg/kg/min v 6.7  $\pm$  0.43 mg/kg/min p=0.008). Both obese groups were markedly more insulin resistant than the lean controls (glucose disposal 10.8mg/kg/min p<0.001). There was no difference in hepatic insulin sensitivity in obese subjects with, and obese subjects without fatty liver (percentage suppression at 60 minutes  $58.7 \pm 20.4\%$  v  $64.8 \pm 20.5\%$  respectively, table 5.4, figure 5.4). Lean subjects appeared to have higher hepatic glucose output prior to insulin infusion compared with obese subjects although when hepatic glucose output was corrected for lean body mass instead of weight there was no significant difference between lean and obese subjects (14.3  $\pm$  2.7 umol/kg/min v 12.7  $\pm$ 1.8umol/kg/min, p=0.09). Both obese groups showed markedly impaired suppression of hepatic glucose output compared with the lean controls (p=0.002, table 5.4). There was impaired NEFA suppression in obese subjects with fatty liver compared to obese subjects without fatty liver (figure 5.3, table 5.4) as measured by a marked difference in both area under the NEFA suppression curve from 30 minutes (419  $\pm$  169.5 v 271  $\pm$  94.4 hr.nmol/l, p=0.048) and percentage suppression from baseline (percentage suppression at 60 minutes  $46.9 \pm 17.3\%$  v  $62.5 \pm 11.5\%$ , p=0.044), indicating insulin resistance in adipose tissue in the obese group with fatty liver compared with the obese group without fatty liver. Both groups were significantly more insulin resistant in adipose tissue than the lean controls (p<0.001, table 5.4).

Because the obese group with fatty liver had more total and truncal fat than the obese group without fatty liver, a sub-analysis of subjects matched for total fat on

DEXA was undertaken to determine whether the relationship with insulin sensitivity was independent of fatness. Six subjects without fatty liver were matched with six patients with fatty liver for total fat ( $30.6 \pm 4.4$ kg v  $31.7 \pm 4.6$  kg p=0.68) and trunk fat ( $16.0 \pm 2.7$  kg v  $17.5 \pm 2.8$  kg p=0.35) and there was still a marked and significant difference in whole body insulin sensitivity (M value  $6.4 \pm 0.8$  mmol/min v  $4.4 \pm 1.7$  mmol/min, p= 0.032; fasting insulin 9.8 ± 1.8 mu/l v 20.4 ± 8.7 mu/l p=0.014) and insulin sensitivity in muscle (RD =  $37.0 \pm 4.1$  mg/kg/hr v 26.5 ± 6.3 mg/kg/hr, p=0.007). However in this small number of subjects no significant difference was seen in insulin sensitivity in liver (percentage suppression HGO 64.1 ± 22.3% v 60.5 ± 14.6 % p=0.75) or adipose tissue (area under NEFA curve  $486 \pm 155$  hr.ng/l v  $513 \pm 66.9$  hr.ng/l, p=0.39).

	Lean men (n=8)	Obese men without fatty liver (n=7)	Obese men with fatty liver (n=15)	p value
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	23.6 ± 1.6	32.9 ± 4.2	36.1 ± 4.9	0.14
Age (years)	51.8 ± 5.4	54.0 ± 7.1	53.1 ± 5.7	0.75
Weight (kg)	72.5 ± 8.7	102.3 ± 13.7	114.3± 18.3	0.14
Alcohol consumption (units/week)	15.9 ± 11.8	11.9 ± 12.7	14.1 ± 17.2	0.76
Systolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	121 ± 13	136 ± 10	136 ± 18	0.99
Diastolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	68 ± 9	78 ± 6	80 ± 8	0.56
Fasting plasma glucose (mmol/l)	5.1 ± 0.4	$5.5 \pm 0.26$	$5.6 \pm 0.66$	0.66
HDL cholesterol (mmol/l)	1.71 ± 0.59	1.25 ± 0.28	1.25 ± 0.0.26	0.99
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	0.95 (0.7- 1.1)	1.62 (1.07-2.47)	1.87 (1.38-2.55)	0.60
Fasting plasma insulin (mu/l)	5.1 (3.5-6.6)	9.4 (8.0-11.1)	18.4 (13.6-24.8)	0.005
Gamma GT (mmol/l)	23.5 (12-41)	30.4 (18.4-50.3)	57.5 (41.4-79.9)	0.02
Alanine Aminotransferase (mmol/l)	22.3 (16-25)	28.3 (20.7-38.9)	37.1 (29.9-46.1)	0.131
Fasting NEFA (nmol/l)	535 ± 241	452 ± 127	574 ± 127	0.049

### Table 5-1 Characteristics of the lean men, obese men without fatty liver and obese men with fatty liver.

Values are mean ± SD, where data are not normally distributed geometrical mean and 95% CI are shown. P-value comparisons are between obese subjects with and without fatty liver.

	Lean men (n=8)	Obese men without fatty liver (n=7)	Obese men with fatty liver (n=15)	p value
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	23.6 ± 1.6	32.9 ± 4.2	36.1 ± 1.3	0.14
Bioimpedance total fat (%)	18.7 ± 2.8	29.5 ± 4.2	33.7 ± 4.8	0.065
DEXA total fat (%)	18.5 ± 4.7	29.3 ± 2.1	33.2 ± 3.9 (n=14)	0.027
Bod Pod total fat (%)	17.5 ± 7.3	$36.0 \pm 6.5$	38.3 ± 4.9 (n=14)	0.38
Skin fold calculated total fat (%)	25.1 ± 5.6	33.0 ± 2.7	35.9 ± 2.8	0.032

Table 5-2 Comparison of total adiposity between lean men, obese men without fatty liver and obese men with fatty liver

. --

Values are mean ± SD. P-value comparisons are between obese subjects with and without fatty liver.

Table 5-3 Comparison of regional adiposity between lean men, obese men without fatty liver and obese men with fatty liver.

	Lean men (n=8)	Obese men without fatty liver (n=7)	Obese men with fatty liver (n=15)	p value
Waist circumference (cm)	86.2 ± 3.7	112.4 ± 9.2	120.8 ± 12.1	0.12
MRI visceral fat (kg)		4.62 ± 1.1	5.04 ± 1.5 (n=13)	0.42
MRI subcutaneous fat (kg)		4.82 ± 2.5	5.24 ± 2.08 (n=13)	0.62
Trunk fat on DEXA (kg)	5.83 ± 2.3	15.60 ± 2.7	20.86 ± 5.9 (n=14)	0.038
Lean Body Mass (kg)	55.01 ± 5.2	56.75 ± 11.6	67.44 ± 16.6 (n=14)	0.15

Values are mean  $\pm$  SD. P-value comparisons are between obese subjects with and without fatty liver.

	Lean Controls (n=8)	Obese subjects without fatty liver (n=7)	Obese subjects with fatty liver (n=14)	p value
Insulin sensitivity in fat (area under NEFA suppression curve 30-120 minutes OGTT) (hr.nmol/l)	147.0 ± 77.4	271.6 ± 94.4	418.8 ± 169.5	0.046
Insulin sensitivity in muscle (gluc disposal during steady state insulin infusion) (mg/kg/hr)	10.80 ± 2.8	6.69 ± 0.43	4.44 ± 1.8	0.008
Insulin sensitivity in liver (% suppression of endog glucose production by insulin at 60 minutes)	86.6 ± 24.5	64.8 ± 20.5	58.7 ± 20.4	0.675

## Table 5-4 Comparison of insulin sensitivity in lean men, obese men without fatty liver and obese men with fatty liver



Figure 5-1 Plasma glucose during the clamp

Figure 5-2 Plasma insulin during the clamp





Figure 5-3 NEFA suppression during the OGTT in lean men and obese men with and without fatty liver

Student's t-test is used to compare obese subjects with fatty liver and obese subjects without fatty liver for area under the curve. P-value comparisons are between obese subjects with and without fatty liver \* p<0.05. Error bars +/- 1 SE



Figure 5-4 Suppression of hepatic glucose output on commencing insulin infusion

### 5.4 Discussion

The novel results of our study are that in obese subjects with fatty liver we have demonstrated a marked increase in insulin resistance in both muscle and adipose tissue. Our subjects with fatty liver had slightly more overall fat and markedly more trunk fat although no difference in visceral fat was demonstrated by detailed abdominal MRI scanning. When subjects with and without fatty liver were matched for total and trunk fat, there was still a difference in muscle insulin sensitivity.

We have demonstrated marked differences in insulin sensitivity in obese individuals with fatty liver compared to those without, with fasting insulin levels two-fold higher in the fatty liver group (table 5.1). We have shown clear differences in tissue-specific insulin resistance in muscle measured by glucose disposal in a euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp and adipose tissue measured by NEFA suppression during an OGTT.

Whilst other researchers have demonstrated whole body insulin resistance in subjects with fatty liver <sup>13,15,19,21,224</sup> our study is the first to show tissue-specific differences in insulin sensitivity in non-diabetic obese subjects with fatty liver compared to obese non-diabetic subjects without fatty liver. Interestingly, we did not demonstrate a difference in hepatic insulin sensitivity with the presence of fatty liver. However, a criticism of our study is that we did not use a two-stage clamp, and furthermore that insulin levels were higher in the fatty liver group than in the non-fatty liver group throughout the clamp (see figure 5.2). Because the same amount of suppression of hepatic glucose output was seen but at higher insulin levels our findings may represent a shift in the dose-response curve indicative of impaired suppression of hepatic glucose output in the fatty liver group <sup>225</sup>.

We also found, contrary to expectation, that fasting hepatic glucose output was higher in the lean individuals. During the clamp negative values were seen in hepatic glucose output for the lean individuals and whilst this does not make physiological sense it is an acknowledged finding in this method of measuring hepatic glucose output <sup>123</sup>. A potential criticism of our clamp method was that we did not use arterialised venous blood. This method is now widely accepted in the literature for the same reason as ours, namely that there are physiological effects of hand-warming which alter the measured insulin-sensitivity <sup>226, 227, 116</sup>; however we acknowledge that glucose utilisation in the peripheries is increased without hand-warming, and that there may be a differential effect between insulin-sensitive and insulin-resistant individuals.

Marchesini et al did demonstrate impaired insulin sensitivity in liver in overweight subjects with NAFLD to a degree comparable with diabetic subjects without fatty liver although the controls in that study were not overweight let alone obese <sup>13</sup>. Kelley et al demonstrated increased insulin resistance in muscle and fat in obese diabetic individuals with fatty liver compared to those without, but in that study also, those subjects with fatty liver were significantly more obese than those without fatty liver <sup>19</sup>.

The effect of increased NEFA concentrations on hepatic insulin sensitivity is uncertain. It has been suggested that increased non-esterified fatty acids supplied directly to the liver impair hepatic insulin sensitivity by upregulating glucose-6-phophate and stimulating gluconeogenesis <sup>98</sup>. In a study of healthy non-obese men, there was impaired hepatic insulin sensitivity and suppression of non-esterified fatty acids in those with high liver fat compared with those with low liver fat using very low levels of insulin infusion (0.3mU/kg/min) <sup>152</sup>. Thus it is possible that the higher amounts of insulin which are often used in studies of muscle insulin sensitivity cannot detect subtle difference in hepatic insulin sensitivity.

It is an attractive argument that hepatic insulin resistance might be expected to result from fat accumulation within hepatocytes, although the evidence to support this assertion is not strong. In mice, hepatic over-expression of suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS)-1 and SOCS-3 causes insulin resistance and an

increase in fatty acid synthesis in liver. Inhibition of these signaling proteins improves insulin sensitivity, normalises fatty acid synthesis and dramatically ameliorates hepatic steatosis <sup>228</sup>. Another recent study suggests that hepatic fat accumulation is not sufficient to impair hepatic insulin action <sup>229</sup>. The authors showed that in rats, high-fat feeding resulted in liver fat accumulation but did not cause hepatic insulin resistance. In human subjects Carey demonstrated reduced intrahepatic triglyceride using magnetic resonance spectroscopy by the administration of acipimox which resulted in lower post-prandial glucose but not via an effect on endogenous glucose production, which was unaffected <sup>230</sup>. There is some evidence therefore that regulation of hepatic insulin sensitivity is not directly affected by accumulation of liver fat, but this is an area which needs further study.

We have studied obese men with and without fatty liver and found minimal difference in total fat and demonstrated no difference in amount of visceral fat between the obese groups. Because fatness is often imprecisely measured our study was designed to characterise body composition in our subjects in as much detail as possible. We have used four methods in addition to BMI to measure body fat quantity (skin-fold measurements, DEXA, bioimpedance, airdisplacement plethysmography) and three methods to determine body fat distribution (waist circumference, percentage of total fat which is truncal on DEXA, and MRI for visceral and subcutaneous fat). We have shown a small increase in total fat in the obese group with fatty liver compared to the obese group without fatty liver but importantly there was no difference in amount of visceral fat despite a marked difference in truncal fat between these two groups. We deliberately chose to use a five slice MRI method, as described by Ross<sup>82</sup> to allow detailed evaluation of visceral fat. We were concerned that an image taken using a single slice methodology, as used in many studies <sup>84,231-233</sup> was inadequate to evaluate precisely amount of visceral fat. In support of our approach Thomas et al found that individual visceral fat content could not be predicted from a single-slice MRI sampling strategy, in a study using contiguous, whole body multi-slice magnetic resonance imaging, <sup>197</sup>.

Our finding that obese subjects with and without fatty liver have similar amounts of visceral fat has been confirmed in other studies <sup>222,234</sup> and suggests that quantity of visceral fat is not specifically important to fatty liver. Although some studies have reported increased quantity of visceral fat in association with fatty liver <sup>19,127,235</sup>, Frayn has argued convincingly that a quantitive increase in visceral fat is unproven, even in association with the metabolic syndrome <sup>47</sup>. The fact that when we matched subjects for amount of total and trunk fat measured on DEXA there was still a marked and significant difference in insulin sensitivity in muscle suggests that insulin sensitivity is related to fatty liver independently of fatness.

Our finding of impaired NEFA suppression in subjects with fatty liver suggests there may be an abnormality in adipocyte metabolism, although this finding was not independent of amount of body fat. Post-prandial plasma NEFAs are largely determined by the action of insulin on adipocytes to suppress lipolysis of triglycerides by hormone-sensitive lipase and promotion of re-esterification of fatty acids to triglyceride <sup>107,124,141,218-221</sup>. In the presence of insulin resistance there is increased NEFA release from adipocytes as a result of decreased inhibition of hormone-sensitive lipase <sup>107</sup>. In support of the importance of hormone sensitive lipase and the role of fatty acids in the pathogenesis of fatty liver, the hormone-sensitive lipase knock out mouse has a reduction in liver fat <sup>101</sup>. Our results also support the notion that there is a qualitative defect in adipose tissue function that is important in the pathogenesis of fatty liver. We did not measure NEFA levels during the clamp but this might have provided further supporting evidence for our findings.

Disturbed adipocyte function might result in NASH through a contribution to the development of fatty liver. Hepatic steatosis has been described as the 'first hit' in a two-hit model for the progression of NAFLD, where the second hit is the resultant oxidative stress from pro-inflammatory cytokines <sup>236,237</sup>. Fatty liver may develop as a result of either increased delivery of NEFA from insulin-resistant adipocytes or from increased hepatic fatty acid synthesis <sup>236</sup>. Increased fatty acid synthesis may occur in insulin resistant states where plasma insulin

concentrations are high and dietary substrate is provided in excess. If dietary carbohydrate intake is high and physical activity levels are low, excess carbohydrate is converted into fatty acid via acetyl CoA, with insulin facilitating the rate limiting conversion in fatty acid synthesis, namely conversion of acetyl CoA to malonyl CoA. Thus in post-absorptive states when excess dietary glucose cannot be converted to glycogen, nor completely oxidised, glucose provides a substrate for fatty acid synthesis and hepatic fat accumulation. Fatty acids have recently been proposed to have a pathogenic role in the development of NASH  $^{236,238}$ . Non-esterified fatty acids may indirectly promote hepatic lipotoxicity by stimulating TNF $\alpha$   $^{238}$  and in vitro some NEFAs have been shown to cause direct hepatotoxicity  $^{239}$ . By stimulating cytokine P450 Cyp2E1/Cyp4A enzyme activity and increasing oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation  $^{240,241}$ , NEFAs may cause direct cell necrosis or apoptosis  $^{236}$ .

In summary, our study has demonstrated for the first time that obese individuals with fatty liver have marked insulin resistance in muscle and fat compared with obese individuals without fatty liver. We propose that in obese subjects an abnormality of adipose tissue function occurs that is linked to insulin resistance. This functional abnormality results in increased NEFA supply to liver and muscle, facilitating hepatic fat accumulation and skeletal muscle insulin resistance. Subjects with fatty liver were more insulin resistant in muscle than subjects without fatty liver even when subjects were matched for body fat, indicating that there is an independent relationship between insulin sensitivity and fatty liver. These findings are consistent with the finding that thiazolidinediones, which amongst other actions, improve insulin sensitivity in muscle <sup>118</sup>, also appear to reduce fatty infiltration of the liver <sup>242</sup>.

## 6 THE ROLE OF CORTISOL IN THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INSULIN SENSITIVITY AND OBESITY

### 6.1 Introduction

Cushing's syndrome results from excess glucocorticoid exposure and is characterised by central obesity and diabetes. Cortisol activates glycogen synthase, inactivates glycogen phophorylase and increases gluconeogenic enzymes such as PEPCK as well as inhibiting peripheral glucose uptake and utilisation, and activating lipolysis in adipose tissue <sup>243</sup>. It has been suggested that more subtle abnormalities of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, which regulates cortisol exposure, may therefore also underlie the metabolic syndrome <sup>22</sup>.

Various abnormalities of the HPA axis have been reported in both obesity and metabolic syndrome <sup>29,244,245</sup>, but the abnormalities described do not point clearly to increased exposure. Although increased morning cortisol levels are associated with metabolic syndrome features <sup>27,32</sup>, in obesity morning and average circulating cortisol levels are low or normal <sup>24-27</sup> which presents a paradox given the strong association between obesity and metabolic syndrome. Furthermore cortisol production and clearance are apparently higher in obesity <sup>30</sup> and stress response is also increased <sup>29</sup>. It has been shown that some indices of HPA axis activity, including raised fasting cortisol concentrations and an increased adrenal response to adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), are associated with increased insulin resistance, independently of the effects of obesity <sup>27,164</sup>, and it may be that abnormalities of the HPA axis contribute independently to the development of insulin resistance. By measurement of salivary cortisol, Bjorntorp described how individuals with metabolic syndrome features had a flat, rigid day curve of cortisol compared to the high plasticity and sensitive feedback control seen in healthy individuals <sup>244</sup>.

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease is a newly recognised feature of the metabolic syndrome which is strongly related to insulin resistance <sup>19,240</sup>. It is plausible that abnormalities of cortisol metabolism may contribute to the development of fatty liver as well as insulin resistance. It has been shown that NAFLD is associated with the presence of subclinical, chronic activation of the HPA axis with increased urinary free cortisol <sup>33</sup>, increased 5 $\beta$  reductase activity <sup>20</sup> but it is not known whether these disturbances contribute to insulin resistance independently of body fat. Furthermore the mechanism for the marked insulin resistance in NAFLD remains uncertain <sup>246</sup>, as does the relationship between cortisol metabolism and insulin resistance.

Much of the previous work on the association between NAFLD, insulin resistance and cortisol metabolism has used the dexamethasone suppression test to assess cortisol metabolism. However the findings of these studies may have been confounded by obesity. Some obese subjects have increased suppression of cortisol during a dexamethasone suppression test <sup>247</sup> but it has been demonstrated that the rate of dexamethasone metabolism is reduced in people who have increased suppression of cortisol during the test <sup>247,248</sup> and also that dexamethasone metabolism is associated with parameters of liver function (ALT, AST and GGT) <sup>249</sup>. The results of this test need to be treated with caution in this group of subjects and studies of cortisol metabolism in obese individuals or those with fatty liver need to include additional tests of cortisol metabolism beyond dexamethasone suppression studies. Furthermore, only by controlling for body fat, or by undertaking studies in which subjects are matched for body fat, is it possible to identify independent effects of cortisol metabolism in NAFLD.

The purpose of our study was to define the relationship between insulin sensitivity, cortisol clearance and obesity and to determine whether the relationships found were influenced by the presence of fatty liver. in a group of middle-aged men with a wide range of body mass indices, we have used a tracer dose of deuterium-labelled cortisol measured by tandem mass spectrometry, to determine cortisol clearance without perturbing the HPA axis. We have also measured 9am cortisol and cortisol response to low-dose ACTH to determine adrenal sensitivity. We have also measured corticosteroid binding globulin (CBG) as there is evidence that this is a negative acute phase protein, which we postulate, may be protective against diabetes. We have used ultrasonography to determine hepatic steatosis and we have measured insulin sensitivity in muscle, fat and liver using a euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp and suppression of non-esterified fatty acids during an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT).

#### 6.2 Methods

Data from 23 subjects were available for this study. Cortisol clearance was measured in 29 subjects but data were not available on six subjects because of technical difficulties with the preparation of the samples for tandem mass spectroscopy. Statistical comparisons showed that there were no differences in body fat, CBG, or insulin sensitivity between these 6 subjects and the 23 subjects in whom cortisol clearance measurements were undertaken. Body composition, metabolic syndrome features and insulin sensitivity using a euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp technique were measured as previously described. The HPA axis was studied using fasting 9am cortisol, response to 1mcg ACTH<sub>1-24</sub>, cortisol clearance using a tracer dose deuterated cortisol and measurement of CBG. Fatty liver was assessed using ultrasonography.

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS for Windows version 14.0. Student's t tests were undertaken to compare mean values of normally distributed data. Where variables were not normally distributed, log transformation was undertaken to normalise the distribution. Multivariate linear regression modelling was undertaken to describe the measures that were independently associated with M value as the dependent (outcome) variable. Independent (exposure) variables selected from the univariate analyses were entered into the regression models to examine the factors that were independently associated with M value. The scatter plot between cortisol clearance and insulin sensitivity suggested that the relationship was not linear and therefore other non-linear models were examined. A quadratic model gave a

better fit than a linear model. To avoid collinearity the cortisol clearance data were transformed by the simple mathematical manipulation of centering i.e. subtracting a constant from the data values, and tests to check for collinearity were undertaken <sup>250</sup>. Further comparisons were made using t-tests between mean values of a variety of factors between top and bottom groups as defined from tertiles of insulin sensitivity.

### 6.3 Results

Characteristics of the 23 subjects included in this study are shown in table 6.1. Mean 9am fasting plasma cortisol concentration in the 23 men was 336.5 nmol/l (range 189-577nmol/l) and mean plasma cortisol after 1mcg ACTH<sub>1-24</sub> was 596.0 nmol/l (382-839 nmol/l). The mean cortisol clearance was 202 ml/min (99 – 470 ml/min) and mean CBG concentration was 45.3 mg/l (23-60mg/l).

There was a strong inverse correlation between cortisol clearance and whole body insulin sensitivity (M value) as shown in figure 6.1 (r = -0.61, p=0.002). There were also strong inverse relationships between cortisol clearance and insulin sensitivity in muscle (r=-0.53, p=0.009) and fat (r=-0.42, p=0.045). Cortisol clearance was 270 +/- 100 mls/minute in the most insulin resistant tertile and 150+/-30 mls/minute in the most insulin sensitive tertile of whole body glucose disposal (M value) (mean +/-SD), p=0.004. Cortisol clearance did not show a significant relationship with total body fat or truncal fat (r=0.27, p=0.207, r=0.31, p=0.155 respectively) but when regression analysis was undertaken with cortisol clearance as the outcome variable, with insulin sensitivity and body fat (either total or truncal) as independent variables, both insulin sensitivity and body fat were independently associated with cortisol clearance (B=-1.16, p<0.001 for cortisol clearance, B= -0.67, p=0.021 for total fat). There were no significant associations between cortisol clearance, 9am total or free cortisol concentrations, or the cortisol response to ACTH<sub>1-24</sub>, and individual components of the metabolic syndrome (blood pressure, fasting glucose, plasma triglycerides or HDL cholesterol concentrations and waist circumference).

Since there was a strong inverse univariate association between cortisol clearance and whole body insulin sensitivity (figure 6.1), we studied the relationships between cortisol clearance and insulin sensitivity in multivariate models. Multiple regression analyses showed that the relationship between cortisol clearance and insulin sensitivity was strong and independent of CBG concentrations. In a model with M value as the dependent variable (as a measure of whole body glucose disposal), and both cortisol clearance and CBG as independent variables, only cortisol clearance remained statistically significantly independently associated with M value (B -1.19 S.E. 0.50, p=0.026).

We studied the relationship between cortisol clearance and CBG and insulin sensitivity in muscle, liver and fat (see table 6.3). There was a significant negative relationship between cortisol clearance and insulin sensitivity in muscle and adipose tissue but not liver. CBG was associated with increased insulin sensitivity in all three tissues. The relationship between cortisol clearance and insulin sensitivity in muscle was independent of body fat and CBG on regression analysis with RD as the outcome variables and body fat, cortisol clearance and CBG as independent variables (B=-0.263, p=0.025). The relationship between cortisol clearance and insulin sensitivity in adipose tissue was not independent of total fat and CBG when both of these were included in a model with NEFA suppression as the outcome, but when CBG was excluded from the model cortisol clearance was independently associated with NEFA suppression (B=-0.321, p=0.039). In both of these relationships body fat remained independently associated with insulin sensitivity with cortisol clearance and CBG in the model. CBG was not independently associated with any of the measures of tissue insulin sensitivity when cortisol clearance was included in the regression analyses.

Twelve of the 23 men had fatty liver. Liver ultrasound scoring between the two radiologists, independently scoring the scans, showed that agreement on scoring was 96%, kappa statistic = 0.93, (S.E 0.14), p<0.001. Cortisol clearance was increased in men with fatty liver, who were of a similar age but were more obese, had higher blood pressure and poorer glucose tolerance compared with those

without fatty liver (see table 6.2). The men with fatty liver were markedly more insulin resistant in muscle, liver and fat. There was a trend towards higher triglyceride levels and lower HDL cholesterol concentrations among men with fatty liver compared to those without fatty liver, but these differences were not statistically significant. There was no difference in alcohol intake between the two groups.

To determine the impact of total and regional fat and fatty liver on the relationship between cortisol clearance and insulin sensitivity (M value), multiple regression modelling was undertaken with M value as the dependent variable with inclusion of CBG, body fat, fatty liver and cortisol clearance as explanatory variables. Variation in total fat and cortisol clearance explained 82% ( $R^2$ =0.82) of the variance in M value, whereas variation in truncal fat and cortisol clearance explained 85% (R<sup>2</sup>=0.85) of the variance in M value. Because the scatter plot between cortisol clearance and insulin sensitivity suggested that the relationship was not linear (figure 6.1) and a guadratic model gave a better fit than a linear model, tests for collinearity between explanatory variables were undertaken. These tests showed that fatty liver and insulin sensitivity were not collinear variables in the regression model and the use of a guadratic model was unlikely to decrease the precision of the model. Thus the regression modelling analyses showed that body fat and cortisol clearance were both independently associated with insulin sensitivity and, with inclusion of body fat and cortisol clearance as explanatory variables, fatty liver was not independently associated with insulin sensitivity.

Although the subjects with fatty liver had markedly increased cortisol clearance compared to those without, fatty liver was not an independent predictor of cortisol clearance. To explore further the relationship between fatty liver and insulin sensitivity the regression analyses were repeated. We omitted in turn and singly, first cortisol clearance and then the measure of body fat. These results showed that: 1) with cortisol clearance omitted, fatty liver was independently associated with M value (B=-0.13, 95%Cl -0.25, -0.01, p=0.035) and 2) when cortisol

clearance was re-inserted and a measure of body fat removed (truncal or total), fatty liver was independently associated with M value [(B=-0.30, 95%Cl -0.43, -0.17, p<0.001 (for total fat)). Thus these two regression models suggested that the relationship between fatty liver and insulin sensitivity was influenced via a contribution from both fatness and cortisol clearance.

Thus the regression modelling analyses showed that body fat and cortisol clearance were both independently associated with insulin sensitivity and the relationship between insulin sensitivity and fatty liver was influenced by cortisol clearance.

	Means (SD)	Range
Age (years)	52.8 (5.1)	42-61
BMI (kg/m²)	31.3 (7.2)	20.8-48.9
Waist circumference (cm)	107.9 (19.3)	79.7-150.3
DXA fat (kg)	28.0 (14.0)	7.7-62.9
DXA truncal fat (kg)	15.0 (8.6)	3.3-36.1
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	132.2 (17.0)	102-188
Diastolic Blood pressure (mmHg)	75.3 (10.3)	58-103
Fasting plasma glucose (mmol/l)	5.4 (0.5)	4.5-7.0
Fasting triglyceride (mmol/l)	1.8 (1.2)	0.7-4.9
Fasting HDL (mmol/l)	1.4 (0.47)	0.8-2.6
Glucose disposal (mg/kg/min) (M value)	6.9 (3.6)	2.2-13.9
Rd steady state (µmol/kg/min)	38.7 (17.5)	17.1-73.3
Insulin sensitivity index NEFA (ratio)	0.68 (0.41)	0.2-1.6
Suppression endogenous glucose output (%)	69.5 (25.1)	21-100
ALT (IU/L)	31.6 (11.8)	16-58
Cortisol 9a.m.(nmol/l)	336 (107)	189-577
Cortisol 0 (nmol/l)	281 (136)	138-752
Cortisol 30 (nmol/l)	595 (110)	382-839
Cortisol 60 (nmol/I)	492 (174)	245-876
Cortisol binding globulin (mg/l)	45.3 (8.8)	23.3-59.8
Cortisol MCR (ml/min) *	202 (89)	99-467

### Table 6-1 Data for all 23 subjects

	Fatty liver (n=12)	No fatty liver (n=11)	P-value
Age(years)	53.6 (4.5)	52.0 (5.8)	0.47
BMI (kg/m²)	36.5 (5.4)	25.6 (3.8)	<0.001
Waist to hip ratio	1.01 (0.06)	0.90 (0.06)	<0.001
Waist circumference (cm)	122.5 (12.7)	92.1(10.6)	<0.001
DEXA fat (kg)	38.1 (10.5)	17.0 (7.5)	<0.001
DEXA truncal fat (kg)	21.3 (6.1)	8.0 (4.4)	<0.001
Systolic blood pressure (mm)	139.1 (17.7)	124.7 (13.3)	0.04
Diastolic Blood pressure (mm)	80 (9.0)	70.0 (9.2)	0.02
Fasting plasma glucose (mmol/l)	5.5 (0.67)	5.2 (0.36)	0.14
2 hr glucose (mmol/l)	7.3 (2.4)	5.4 (1.1)	0.03
Fasting triglyceride (mmol/l)	2.2 (1.3)	1.3 (0.77)	0.06
Fasting HDL (mmol/l)	1.2 (0.28)	1.5 (0.59)	0.09
Glucose disposal (mg/kg/min)	4.3 (1.4)	9.8 (3.0)	<0.001
Rd steady state (µmol/kg/min)	25.2 (6.1)	53.4 (13.2)	<0.001
Insulin sensitivity index NEFA	0.36 (0.11)	1.02 (0.33)	<0.001
Suppn endogenous glucose output	57.8 (22.0)	82.2 (22.7)	0.016
Alcohol consumption (units/week)	13.3 (15.2)	14.5 (12.6)	0.84
ALT (IU/L)	36.3 (10.9)	26.4 (11.0)	0.04
TNFα (pg/ml)	0.91 (0.46,1.37)	0.58 (0.22,0.94)	0.08
IL-6 (pg/ml)	2.51 (1.45,3.57)	1.22 (0.27,2.17)	0.004
IL-1β (pg/ml)	0.05 (0.03,0.07)	0.05 (-0.02,0.12)	0.56
Adiponectin (g/l)	3.85 (2.80,4.90)	7.43 (4.44,10.42)	0.04
Cortisol MCR (ml/min)	242.6 (105.0)	157.6 (36.2)	0.02
CBG concentration (mg/l)	41.7 (9.5)	49.3 (5.8)	0.03

Table 6-2 Data comparing the men with fatty liver with those without fatty liver (means and S.D. or geometric means and 95%Cls)



Figure 6-1 The relationship between cortisol clearance and glucose disposal

		M value	RD steady state	ISI NEFA	Suppression hepatic glucose output by 60 minutes insulin
Cortisol MCR	Pearson Correlation	-0.609	-0.531	-0.493	-0.210
	Sig	0.002	0.009	0.017	0.337
CBG	Pearson Correlation	0.520	0.458	0.396	0.433
	Sig.	0.004	0.012	0.019	0.030

# Table 6-3 Correlation between cortisol clearance and CBG with total glucose disposal (m value), insulin sensitivity in muscle (RD), adipose tissue (insulin sensitivity index for NEFAs) and liver (suppression of hepatic glucose output)

### Discussion

We have shown that increased cortisol clearance is strongly associated with decreased insulin sensitivity independently of amounts of total or truncal body fat. To our knowledge our study is the first to show this finding and to assess whole body insulin sensitivity together with insulin sensitivity in each of the key tissues affecting whole body insulin sensitivity namely muscle, liver and fat. We have shown a relationship between cortisol clearance and insulin sensitivity in muscle which is independent of amount of body fat and CBG, and a relationship between cortisol clearance and insulin sensitivity in adipose tissue which is independent of body fatness. We did not demonstrate an independent relationship between cortisol clearance and hepatic insulin sensitivity. We have also assessed total and truncal fat and the presence of fatty liver and shown that the relationship between fatty liver and insulin sensitivity is influenced by cortisol clearance. Previous studies have not clarified whether increased cortisol clearance is predominantly associated with insulin resistance or with body fat, and our study clearly demonstrates a strong and independent relationship between cortisol clearance and insulin resistance.

We had insufficient patient numbers with MRI studies to evaluate the relationship between visceral fat and cortisol clearance but DEXA measurement of truncal fat is an excellent proxy measure for visceral fat quantity as estimated by CT scanning <sup>317</sup>. In this study we have controlled for truncal fat rather than visceral fat. However, controlling for truncal fat did not alter the relationship between cortisol clearance and insulin resistance. These data support the findings of a previous study showing visceral adipose fat mass was not associated with indices of cortisol metabolism, after adjusting for the effects of whole-body and liver fat <sup>20</sup>. Moreover, it has recently been shown in a study of portal vein and peripheral vein cortisol concentrations obtained in obese subjects undergoing bariatric surgery, that cortisol concentration was not increased in the portal circulation <sup>251</sup>, suggesting that visceral fat does not generate markedly greater amounts of cortisol than subcutaneous adipocytes in obesity. Although in

contrast to these findings, Lottenberg et al demonstrated that increased cortisol clearance after an intravenous infusion of cortisol was associated with central fat accumulation amongst obese subjects <sup>252</sup>.

Previous research provides supporting evidence for our finding that cortisol clearance is increased with insulin resistance. Twenty-four hour urinary free cortisol (24-h UFC) is associated with fasting glucose and insulin <sup>31</sup> and is increased in obese subjects with type 2 diabetes <sup>253</sup> in comparison with control subjects. We also found that fat mass was independently associated with cortisol clearance in keeping with previous studies <sup>29</sup>. Vicennati found an increased ACTH response to CRH/AVP associated with HOMA in obese women, although in contrast with other studies in this study no relationship was found between UFC and HOMA <sup>254</sup>. These contrasting findings indicate the importance of measuring cortisol clearance directly as we have done, as well as the importance of measuring tissue insulin sensitivity.

Our study adds to these previous findings because cortisol clearance is measured directly and the HPA axis is not perturbed by non-physiological doses of dexamethasone in a suppression test which is subject to confounding error in obese subjects because of altered metabolism as discussed previously <sup>247,248</sup>. It has been suggested that the increased UFC in obesity is appropriate for mass and does not represent increased tissue exposure <sup>30</sup> but our finding of an independent relationship with insulin resistance suggests that the increased cortisol clearance represents more exposure to cortisol than is appropriate for fat mass.

We did not demonstrate significant variation of 9am cortisol or response to  $ACTH_{1-24}$  with fatness, insulin resistance or other features of the metabolic syndrome, suggesting that abnormalities of these aspects of HPA activity are subtle. This negative finding was not surprising given the small number of subjects studied and the relatively low correlation co-efficients (r=0.20-0.26, p<0.001) demonstrated in previous epidemiological studies <sup>32,162</sup>. When data was

examined on all 31 subjects for 9am cortisol and response to  $ACTH_{1-24}$  there were still no significant relationships identified. Because we demonstrated such strong independent relationships between cortisol clearance and insulin sensitivity in muscle and fat, but did not demonstrate other abnormalities of the axis, this suggests that increased cortisol clearance is an important abnormality in these subjects.

It is not possible from our study to determine the direction of the relationship between insulin resistance and cortisol clearance, nor is it possible to know whether increased cortisol clearance is the primary abnormality of the HPA axis, or whether it is a response to other abnormalities of the axis. It is hard to understand how a primary increase in cortisol clearance rate would result in increased tissue exposure to cortisol. Increased cortisol clearance must be matched by increased production and a rapid turnover might be expected to lead to a very responsive HPA axis rather than the blunted profile described in obese subjects with insulin resistance <sup>244</sup>. It is possible that increased production and clearance represent loss of diurnal rhythm as seen in early Cushing's syndrome and the result is increased overall exposure. It is known that the nocturnal nadir of cortisol secretion is not as low during aging, which fact has been attributed to the 'wear-and-tear' effect of long tem exposure to stress <sup>255</sup> and it is plausible that a similar effect is seen in insulin resistant states.

Alternatively increased cortisol clearance may represent a compensatory mechanism whereby increased tissue exposure to cortisol results in both insulin resistance and increased cortisol clearance. Stewart has argued that tissue exposure to hormone levels is of more biological importance than circulating levels <sup>245</sup>. Rask showed that in obese men there was reduced 11  $\beta$  HSD activity in liver but increased activity in subcutaneous adipose tissue and proposed that increased regeneration of cortisol from cortisone occurs as a response to increased deactivation in liver but that exposure of adipose tissue to cortisol was then high, exacerbating the effects of obesity <sup>256</sup>. Andrews also showed reduced 11 $\beta$  HSD activity in liver but showed normal activity in gluteal fat <sup>167</sup>, and
suggested that this would represent increased exposure of adipose tissue to cortisol, especially if there was compensatory upregulation of the HPA axis. In 11  $\beta$  HSD-1 deficient mice adipose tissue levels of messenger RNA for resistin and TNF $\alpha$  are lower and PPAR $\gamma$ , adiponectin, and uncoupling protein-2 are higher, indicating insulin sensitisation; glucose uptake is higher and there is reduced visceral fat accumulation upon high-fat feeding. High-fat-fed,  $\beta$  HSD-1 deficient mice also resisted diabetes and weight gain despite consuming more calories <sup>257</sup>, indicating the important role of 11 $\beta$  HSD in insulin resistance, and possibly also in regulating weight gain. Inhibition of hepatic 11 $\beta$  HSD results in reduced expression of hepatic glucocorticoid-inducible genes such as PEPCK, the rate-limiting step in gluconeogenesis indicating that this might be a useful therapeutic target for the treatment of insulin resistance and obesity <sup>258</sup>.

It is possible that a primary abnormality of cortisol clearance underlies the development of insulin resistance. As well as the reversible metabolism of cortisol to cortisone, irreversible A-ring metabolism of cortisol to inactive metabolites by  $5\alpha$  and  $5\beta$  reductase enzymes occurs, predominantly within fat and liver. Enhanced metabolism by these enzymes is another potential mechanism for increased clearance, possible representing the primary abnormality of the HPA axis. In obesity increased  $5\alpha$  reductase activity has been found  $^{20,29}$  but is offset by impaired  $5\beta$  reductase activity in women and enhanced11 $\beta$  HSD activity in men, which Andrew suggests results in activation of the HPA axis, increased exposure of key tissues to cortisol, and contributing to the adverse effects of obesity  $^{29}$ .

It is plausible that abnormalities of the HPA axis underlie the development of insulin resistance and obesity. It is known that there is a strong genetic influence in the development of type 2 diabetes, and also to a lesser extent in the development of obesity  $^{259-262}$ , and so it is possible that abnormalities of the HPA axis underlie the development of obesity and insulin resistance. In a twin study Inglis has shown family patterns in the activity of  $11\beta$ HSD, and a closer correlation in monozygotic than dizygotic twins in urinary cortisol metabolites

indicating a genetic as well as familial influence in cortisol clearance <sup>263</sup>. The 'thrifty phenotype' is a term which has been used to describe how some individuals develop obesity and insulin resistance in a plentiful environment when they have been exposed to reduced nutrient supply in early life <sup>264,265</sup>. Programming of the HPA axis as a result of a deprived intrauterine environment may result in abnormal functioning of the HPA axis <sup>162</sup> and subsequent development of obesity and insulin resistance.

We found that cortisol clearance contributed to the relationship between fatty liver and insulin resistance. It is possible that fatty liver might cause increased cortisol metabolism. In alcoholic liver disease circulating cortisol levels are higher and correlate with hepatic function indicating that impaired cortisol clearance occurs in these patients <sup>266</sup>. However our subjects had normal hepatic function and it is more likely that fatty liver develops either as a consequence of insulin resistance (because we have shown marked insulin resistance in subjects with fatty liver <sup>201</sup>) or as a direct result of the abnormalities of cortisol clearance. It is known that in Cushing's syndrome around 20% of patients develop fatty liver <sup>266</sup>. Westerbacka et al found an increase in cortisol metabolites in fatty liver, which was independent of visceral fat <sup>20</sup>. Together with our present results, these data suggest that alterations in hepatic 11  $\beta$  HSD1 and hepatic 5 $\alpha$  -reductase activity in NAFLD may contribute to insulin resistance, rather than any increase in the amount of visceral fat.

We found CBG concentration was inversely related to cortisol clearance and positively associated with insulin sensitivity. Others have also found CBG is decreased in insulin resistance <sup>267,268</sup>. CBG is important in determining tissue exposure to cortisol <sup>203,269</sup> and so it is possible that CBG may have a protective role against insulin resistance. Other researchers have found a positive relationship between insulin sensitivity and CBG concentration using HOMA <sup>267,268</sup>. Low levels of CBG are associated with an increase in free cortisol concentration <sup>203,269</sup> and CBG shows a diurnal rhythm with increased afternoon CBG production partly responsible for the afternoon dip in cortisol <sup>268</sup>. It is

plausible therefore that low CBG in insulin resistant individuals is a primary defect resulting in increased tissue cortisol exposure and further studies are needed to determine whether CBG is protective against the development of metabolic syndrome.

CBG is a negative acute phase protein which is reduced in inflammatory conditions such as sepsis and pancreatitis <sup>269,270</sup> and which is associated with low levels of inflammatory cytokine interleukin 6<sup>267</sup>. It has been suggested that obesity is a pro-inflammatory state, and because CBG is reduced in subjects with insulin resistance, a protective role has been postulated for CBG <sup>271</sup>. Adipose tissue secretes cytokines, including adiponectin which is associated with serum CBG in men (r=0.26, P=0.03, n=79)<sup>271</sup> and CBG concentration has now been shown to be inversely related to measures of inflammation <sup>267</sup>. In our study there were similar correlation coefficients to the above study between CBG and a) adiponectin, b) TNF $\alpha$ , c) IL-6 and d) IL-1 $\beta$  but with much the smaller numbers in our study these associations were not significant (r=0.32, p=0.14, r=-0.30, p=0.17, r=-0.31, p=0.15, and r=-0.23, p=0.29 respectively for adiponectin, TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6 and IL-1ß). As our study was cross sectional it is not possible to comment on the direction of these relationships, and further studies are needed to explain whether inflammation plays a role in the association between CBG and insulin resistance.

Our study was of middle-aged men and caution should be exercised in extrapolating our findings to women. There are many differences between the HPA axis in men and women <sup>29,247,255,272</sup>, and indeed one of the reasons for studying men rather than women is that there is also subtle variation in the HPA axis during the menstrual cycle, especially in women with PCOS <sup>273</sup>. An inclusive study of the HPA axis should include three groups – men, post-menopausal women and pre-menopausal women ideally studied at the same phase of the menstrual cycle. Because this was a small study the former group was chosen, but further studies are needed to determine whether the same abnormalities of cortisol metabolism are present in women.

In summary we have found increased cortisol clearance and reduced CBG concentration with increasing insulin resistance amongst middle-aged men. It is possible that abnormalities of the HPA axis may underlie the development of insulin resistance and fatty liver disease, either directly through a primary increase in cortisol clearance or more probably through increased activity of hepatic 11 $\beta$  HSD leading to upregulation of the HPA axis and thereby increasing tissue exposure in adipose tissue with compensatory increase in cortisol clearance. Low levels of CBG may then occur as a result of a pro-inflammatory obese state, which further increase corticosteroid exposure.

## 7 THE ROLE OF BODY FAT, FITNESS AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN INSULIN RESISTANCE AND THE METABOLIC SYNDROME

### 7.1 Introduction

It has been shown that high levels of fitness and increased physical activity are associated with lower prevalence of insulin resistance <sup>274</sup> and metabolic syndrome <sup>275,276</sup> and lower mortality <sup>277</sup>. It has been suggested that these factors may be more important than body fatness in determining insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome <sup>278-280</sup>. Both fitness and physical activity are often negatively related to body fatness <sup>277</sup> and many studies have not investigated these factors separately, although it has also been suggested that fitness attenuates metabolic risk independently of its effect on body fatness <sup>281</sup>.

Exercise improves glucose uptake acutely by insulin-independent mechanisms as well as through the increased expression of GLUT 4 on muscle cell membranes <sup>282</sup> and an increase in whole body insulin sensitivity is seen relative to the intensity and duration of the exercise <sup>283</sup>. However weight loss through dietary restrictions results in similar improvement in insulin sensitivity to weight loss through exercise <sup>284</sup>. Furthermore although exercise intervention without weight loss does result in an improvement in insulin sensitivity, changes in body composition are seen in response to exercise which may account for the improvement in insulin sensitivity (measured by homeostasis modelling) has been demonstrated to be more closely related to VO<sub>2</sub> max than to fatness <sup>278,279</sup> the same effect has not been found in men.

Physical activity and fitness are terms which are sometimes used interchangeably in considering the impact of training and habitual exercise on body composition, cardiovascular risk factors and cardiovascular disease. However it is important to attempt to differentiate between the effects of the different components of physical activity, as well as from the effects mediated by changes in body composition. It is helpful to consider the components of physical activity separately as cardiorespiratory fitness and habitual energy expenditure, although these components are clearly not entirely independent of one another <sup>184</sup>.

The aim of this study was to determine whether fatness, fitness or physical activity is more closely related to insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome in men.

### 7.2 Methods

Twenty-five men aged 42-64 years participated in the study of physical activity and fitness. Cardiorespiratory fitness was determined after volunteers had avoided strenuous exercise for 24 hours and fasted for 8 hours. Physical activity was assessed by three days wearing a heart rate monitor and individual calibration using the treadmill or ergometer data, and using a questionnaire as described in the methods section. Tissue insulin sensitivity was measured using the euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp with di-deuterated glucose and NEFA suppression during the oral glucose tolerance test as previously described.

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS for Windows version 14.0. Student's t test comparisons were undertaken to compare mean values of normally distributed data. Pearson correlation coefficients are presented for univariate regression analyses of normally distributed data. Where variables were not normally distributed log transformation was undertaken to normalise the distribution. Multivariate linear regression modelling was undertaken to describe the measures that were independently associated with insulin sensitivity and metabolic syndrome features as the dependent (outcome) variables. Independent (exposure) variables that were selected from the univariate analyses were entered into the models to examine the relationships with fatness and to determine whether measures of physical activity and fitness were associated with insulin sensitivity independently of fatness. A p-value of <0.05 was considered to be statistically significant for all analyses.

### 7.3 Results

Twenty-five white, middle-aged men were studied and relevant characteristics are given in table 7.1. Distribution of fitness and physical activity energy expenditure amongst the subjects is shown in figures 7.1 and 7.2, and a scatter plot of fitness and PAEE is shown in figure 7.3. Fitness, as measured by  $VO_2$  max measured on the treadmill or on a cycle ergometer (in three subjects), correlated with insulin sensitivity measured by glucose disposal during the clamp (M value) (r=0.576, p=0.003), and also with the measures of tissue insulin sensitivity: RD, suppression of endogenous glucose output and NEFA suppression (see table 7.2). However, the relationships between fatness and insulin sensitivity were much stronger (r=-0.812, p<0.001 for M value). Linear regression analysis showed that fitness was not independently related to any of the measures of insulin sensitivity, whilst fatness was a strong independent predictor of reduced insulin sensitivity. These analyses were repeated excluding the subjects who had exercised on the ergometer with very similar results.

To further explore the contribution of fitness to insulin sensitivity, fitness was added in to a regression model with fatness as the independent variable and M value as the outcome variable. The adjusted R square for the model without fitness was 0.646 indicating that fatness explains 65% of the variation in insulin sensitivity. Adding fitness into the model only increased the adjusted R square to 0.666 suggesting that fitness only contributes a very small amount to insulin sensitivity. This analysis was repeated for insulin sensitivity in individual tissues; and for RD, the measure of glucose disposal in muscle, the R square value was 0.665 increasing to 0.696 with fitness in the model. For suppression of endogenous glucose output R square was 0.249 only increasing to 0.268 with fitness in the model. However for NEFA suppression R square was 0.432 increasing to 0.682 indicating that fitness explains 25% of the variability in insulin

sensitivity in fat and fatness contributes 43%. These analyses were repeated using trunk fat in place of total fat with very similar results.

The relationship between VO<sub>2</sub> max and metabolic syndrome features was explored and VO<sub>2</sub> max was negatively associated with systolic and diastolic blood pressure, and positively associated with HDL cholesterol (see table 7.3). When fatness and VO<sub>2</sub> max were entered into a linear regression model neither fatness nor fitness was independently associated with blood pressure and only fatness was independently reciprocally associated with HDL cholesterol.

Physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE) data were available on 21 subjects. PAEE was not significantly associated with M value or RD, the measure of insulin sensitivity in muscle (see table 7.2) but was positively associated with suppression of endogenous glucose production (r=0.551, p=0.01) and suppression of NEFAs (r=0.459, p=0.036). Linear regression analysis was performed as previously and the relationships between PAEE and insulin sensitivity were not independent of body fat, with only fatness independently associated with the measures of insulin sensitivity.

To further explore the contribution of PAEE to suppression of endogenous glucose output and NEFA suppression PAEE was added in to a regression model with fatness as the independent variable and the measures of insulin sensitivity as previously. With suppression of endogenous glucose production as the outcome variable the adjusted R square for the model without PAEE was 0.269 and adding in PAEE increased the adjusted R square to 0.380 indicating that physical activity contributes 11% to hepatic insulin sensitivity. Repeating the analysis for NEFA suppression, the adjusted R square for fatness alone was 0.696 increasing to 0.729 when PAEE was added in to the model indicating that physical activity contributes only 3% to NEFA suppression. PAEE was not significantly associated with features of the metabolic syndrome (table 7.3).

Two individuals with low fitness had surprisingly high PAEE (figure 7.3). Although these results were thought to be valid, all analyses were repeated excluding

these individuals, in case of the possibility of confounding in the data, especially as one of the individuals had had oxygen uptake measured on the ergometer. Comparison with the Baecke questionnaire data did indicate that these PAEE results were surprisingly high in these subjects. When these two individuals were excluded from the analysis results were similar except that in the regression analysis with PAEE and total body fat, and suppression of hepatic glucose output as the outcome variable, PAEE was then independently associated with suppression of hepatic glucose output whereas fatness was not (standardised beta coefficient 0.576 p=0.022).

Physical activity was also assessed using the Baecke questionnaire. Suppression of hepatic glucose output was positively associated with both the total score (r=0.418, p= 0.042) and the score for sport (r=0.580, p=0.002) using this questionnaire. The relationship between the score for sport on the Baecke questionnaire and suppression of hepatic glucose output was independent of body fatness (standardised Beta coefficient 0.461, p=0.08). None of the other measures of insulin sensitivity or metabolic syndrome features were significantly associated with any of the scores from the Baecke questionnaire.

There was no statistically significant relationship between VO<sub>2</sub> max and PAEE, although there was a significant relationship between these variables when the two subjects with outlying results for PAEE were excluded from the analysis (r=0.56, p=0.013 see figure 7.3). There was no relationship between either VO<sub>2</sub> max or PAEE and the score on the Baecke questionnaire. Fitness was related to both total fatness and truncal fatness on DEXA and interestingly the relationship with total fatness was stronger than the relationship between truncal fatness (r= -0.574, p=0.003 and r= -0.544, p= 0.005 respectively). PAEE was also related to both total and truncal fatness (r= -0.448, p=0.042 and r= -0.469, p= 0.032 respectively). No significant relationship was demonstrated between score on the Baecke questionnaire and fatness. There was no significant relationship demonstrated between visceral or subcutaneous fat on MRI and VO<sub>2</sub>max or PAEE.

Subjects with fatty liver were significantly more fit than subjects without fatty liver  $(VO_2max 32.6 v 24.4 ml/kg/min, p= 0.018)$ , however subjects with fatty liver were also considerably fatter (total fat 20.9 v 36.9 kg, p<0.001) and more insulin resistant (M value 8.88 v 4.44 mg/kg/min, p<0.001) that those without. There was no significant difference in PAEE or score on the Baecke questionnaire for subjects with and without fatty liver.

There was no statistically significant relationship between cortisol clearance and either  $VO_2$  max or PAEE.

	Mean ± SD	Range
Age (years)	52.6 ± 5.7	42.0-64.0
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	31.9 ± 7.3	20.8-48.9
Total fat measured on DEXA (kg)	28.8 ± 13.9	7.7-62.9
Trunk fat on DEXA (kg)	15.4 ± 8.3	3.3-36.1
Waist circumference (cm)	109 ± 19	80-150
Systolic BP (mmHg)	129 ± 12	102-147
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	74 ± 7	58-83
Fasting plasma glucose (mmol/l)	$5.4 \pm 0.56$	4.5-7.0
HDL cholesterol (mmol/l)	1.38 ± 0.46	0.80-2.55
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	1.66 ± 1.0	0.70-4.90
Glucose disposal (mg/kg/min)	7.0 ± 3.5	2.2-13.9
RD mean steady state (micromol/kg/min)	38.9 ± 16.8	12.4-73.3
Suppression hepatic glucose output by 60 minutes insulin (%)	69.0 ± 23.9	24.4-100.0
NEFA percentage suppression 60 minutes after 75g OGTT (%)	59.0 ± 19.9	14.7-88.3
VO2 max (ml/min/kg)	29.0 ± 8.9	13.8-43.5
Mean physical energy expenditure (kcal/kg/day) n=21	9.04 ± 8.9	0.45-40.0
Baecke work score	$2.5 \pm 0.7$	1.3-4.1
Baecke sport score	$2.8 \pm 0.9$	1.0-4.5
Baecke leisure score	3.1 ± 0.7	2.0-4.5
Baecke total score	8.4 ± 1.7	4.3-10.3

Table 7-1 Characteristics of the 25 subjects in whom fitness was measured

		M value	RD steady state	NEFA suppression by 60 minutes	Suppression hepatic glucose output by 60 minutes insulin
Total fat measured on DEXA (n=25)	Pearson Correlation	-0.812	-0.831	-0.842	-0.547
	Sig.	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.005
VO2 max (n=25)	Pearson	0.576	0.602	0.524	0.475
	Sig.	0.003	0.001	0.007	0.016
Physical activity energy expenditure (n=21)	Pearson Correlation	0.172	0.076	0.459	0.551
	Sig.	0.455	0.743	0.036	0.010

# Table 7-2 Pearson correlation coefficients between fatness, fitness and PAEE and insulin sensitivity



Figure 7-1 Distribution of fitness in 25 subjects

-----

----

- - - - - - - - - - - -







Figure 7-3: Scatter plot of PAEE against fitness

- -

-

-----

		Systolic BP	Diastolic BP	Fasting plasma glucose	Triglycerides	HDL chol
Total fat measured F on DEXA C n=25 S	Pearson Correlation	0.488	0.507	0.690	0.679	-0.557
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.013	0.010	0.000	0.000	0.004
VO2 max	Pearson Correlation	-0.474	-0.383	-0.286	-0.331	0.408
n=25	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.017	0.059	0.166	0.106	0.043
Physical activity energy expenditure	Pearson Correlation	-0.354	-0.220	-0.237	-0.409	0.351
n=21	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.115	0.338	0.301	0.066	0.119

### Table 7-3 Correlation between total fat, fitness and PAEE, and metabolic syndrome features

#### Discussion

We have demonstrated a relationship between fitness and insulin sensitivity but the correlation between fitness and insulin sensitivity is much less strong than the relationship between fatness and insulin sensitivity, and is not independent of fatness. The strength of our study is that we have measured body fatness in detail in addition to measuring fitness. We have demonstrated a strong and consistent negative correlation between fatness and insulin sensitivity, and so our results suggest that the relationship between fitness and insulin sensitivity is far less important than that between fatness and insulin sensitivity. Using multiple regression analysis we have shown that fitness contributes only 2-3% to insulin sensitivity in muscle and liver, when fatness contributes 65% and 23% respectively. We found that fitness contributed 25% to NEFA suppression with fatness contributing 43%, but fitness did not independently predict NEFA suppression either. Because our study is small, it is possible that we failed to demonstrate an independent relationship between fitness and insulin sensitivity which does exist, although the strength of our study is that we measured both fatness and insulin sensitivity in very careful detail, as well as measuring VO<sub>2</sub> max rather than using a sub-maximal test. We found an inverse relationship between fatness and fitness, which has also been demonstrated in larger studies 285

Although it has been demonstrated that for a given level of abdominal fat, reduced fitness has a relative risk of being associated with the metabolic syndrome of around 1.8 <sup>281</sup>, this risk is small compared with the relative risk of developing diabetes of 42 for men with BMI greater than 35kg/m<sup>2</sup> compared with those with BMI less that 23kg/m<sup>2</sup>, and when it is considered that up to 70% of individuals with type 2 diabetes have the metabolic syndrome <sup>286</sup>. Both low fitness and high fatness have been demonstrated to increase overall and cardiovascular mortality to a similar degree but it remains unclear to what extent these risks are independent of one another <sup>277,287-289</sup>. It has been suggested that low fitness is largely responsible for the increased mortality risk associated with

obesity <sup>288</sup> but a recent review of the literature emphasises the lack of evidence for improvements in metabolic profile in the absence of weight loss <sup>181</sup>.

Interventional studies to improve fitness have shown benefit to cardiovascular risk factors but have also resulted in improvements in body composition <sup>290,291</sup> and regression analysis showed that improvement in body composition was responsible for improved insulin sensitivity, rather than improved fitness <sup>291</sup>. Only in very young females has exercise intervention been shown to improve insulin resistance without changes in body composition <sup>278</sup>.

Physical training reduces visceral and subcutaneous fat mass when combined with dietary restriction, with no difference between aerobic exercise and resistance exercise <sup>176</sup>. We have demonstrated an inverse relationship between fitness and fatness, and energy expenditure and fatness, though interestingly we have not demonstrated a relationship between either component of physical activity and visceral fat on MRI. A study using questionnaires has shown that increased moderate intensity, weight-bearing exercise is associated with a reduction in total and abdominal fat accumulation and that this is more important than dietary intake, smoking or socio-economic status in determining obesity <sup>177</sup>. Resting metabolic rate is higher in trained individuals and therefore resting calorie expenditure is higher than in untrained individuals, augmenting the loss of fat mass for a given calorie intake in these individuals <sup>180</sup>.

We found that fitness contributed 25% to the relationship between fatness and insulin sensitivity in adipose tissue compared with a minimal contribution to insulin sensitivity in muscle and liver. It has been suggested that exercise leads to improved insulin sensitivity in fat by increasing interleukin-6 (IL-6) release from muscle cells which increases lipolysis and induces gene transcription for lipid oxidation in adipocytes, and reduces TNFa<sup>292</sup>, and it has been shown that inflammatory cytokines exert an effect on insulin sensitivity in vivo and in animal models<sup>293,294</sup>. However other studies have shown minimal effects of exercise on adipocytokines<sup>295-297</sup>.

We demonstrated a negative correlation between VO<sub>2</sub> max and blood pressure, and neither fatness nor fitness were independently associated with blood pressure on regression analysis. The correlation co-efficients with fatness were much lower than those between fatness and insulin sensitivity and it is likely therefore that both fatness and fitness contribute to blood pressure independently, and that we were unable to demonstrate this because of our small sample size. Blood pressure is strongly associated with BMI <sup>298</sup> but a study of sympathetic nervous system activation, measured as extravascular norepinephrine release rate in response to aerobic physical training in hypertensive individuals showed a correlation between reduction in sympathetic nervous system activity which correlated to reduction in mean arterial blood pressure in response to training without an increase in insulin sensitivity, suggesting that there is an independent link between blood pressure and fitness <sup>299</sup> which we have been unable to demonstrate because of our small numbers.

-----

We did not show an association between PAEE and whole body insulin sensitivity, tissue insulin sensitivity or metabolic syndrome features. There are much fewer data available on whether habitual physical activity is beneficial than there are for fitness, and this is presumably because of the difficulty in measuring physical activity. Many studies are questionnaire-based, relying on self-reported physical activity levels, but there is evidence that physical activity is beneficial, although again, there is little evidence that the benefits are independent of the improvement in body composition <sup>170-173,178</sup>. We used an accepted and wellvalidated method using energy expenditure data from the treadmill or ergometer combined with three days wearing a heart-rate monitoring device <sup>300,301</sup>, but it is possible that the days during which the subjects wore the monitoring device were not typical of their normal habits, or that wearing the device altered behaviour. Additionally we did not use a device combined with a movement sensor to ensure that increased heart rate was associated with physical activity, which might have improved accuracy <sup>302</sup>. In addition there was surprisingly little spread in the PAEE data (figure 7.2), which may have reduced the likelihood of finding a relationship with insulin sensitivity.

It was of concern that there were two significantly outlying subjects with high PAEE results and low fitness (figure 7.3). The subject with the highest PAEE was one of the subjects who had his VO<sub>2</sub> measured on the ergometer, rather that the treadmill, and so it is possible that overestimation of workload at specific heart rates occurred compared to subjects who had exercised on the treadmill. Comparison with data from the Baecke questionnaire suggested that these PAEE readings were surprisingly high for these individuals, again raising the possibility of confounding in the data for these subjects. The only result which was significantly different on excluding these individuals was the relationship with fitness, which showed a significant positive correlation.

These factors combined with a relatively small sample size mean it is possible that we have not detected a difference which does exist. The relationships described between PAEE and metabolic syndrome features have been on larger population-based studies rather than small, very detailed studies such as this <sup>184,301</sup>. Our most notable finding, as with fitness, is that the relationship with these features is much stronger with fatness than with physical activity.

We did find a significant relationship between PAEE and NEFA suppression and suppression of hepatic glucose output. These relationships were not independent of fatness and regression analysis indicated that PAEE contributed a very small amount to suppression of NEFAs (3%) but 11% to suppression of endogenous glucose production by the liver. This was surprising given our failure to demonstrate a relationship with whole body or muscle insulin sensitivity, however our findings were supported by the finding that the Baecke questionnaire score for sport, which comprises information on number of sports and amount of time spent in sporting activity as a measure of physical activity, was positively and independently associated with suppression of endogenous glucose production by the liver. When the two outlying subjects were excluded from the analysis there was also an independent relationship between PAEE and suppression of hepatic glucose output, although these results are treated with caution.

There is little information in the literature on the direct effect of physical activity levels on hepatic insulin sensitivity <sup>303</sup>, although hepatic insulin sensitivity correlates closely with abdominal fat stores <sup>114</sup>. Hormone sensitive lipase (HSL) catalyses lipolysis of triglycerides in adipocytes <sup>304</sup> and this enzyme is upregulated by exercise <sup>305</sup>. It is possible therefore that reduced HSL associated with low levels of habitual exercise increases intra-abdominal fat stores and thereby increases overall fatty acid supply to the liver resulting in reduced hepatic insulin sensitivity <sup>152</sup>. It is surprising, if this is the case, that there was not a stronger association between NEFA suppression and energy expenditure. Interestingly VO<sub>2</sub> max did contribute more significantly to NEFA suppression than to the other measures of insulin sensitivity (25%).

We demonstrated an association between VO<sub>2</sub> max and HDL cholesterol which was not independent of fatness, and a relationship between PAEE and triglycerides which did not quite reach statistical significance (p=0.066). Improvement in lipid profile has been demonstrated with both high fitness and increased physical activity <sup>182,306</sup>. High intensity exercise in particular has a beneficial effect on LDL concentration and particle size resulting in increased average LDL particle size and HDL concentration is also increased by high intensity exercise <sup>181</sup>. Even a modest amount of low intensity exercise has a benefit in reducing circulating triglycerides <sup>182</sup>. The putative mechanism of action by which exercise improves lipid profile is by activation of muscle AMP-activated protein kinase (AMP kinase), which upregulates lipid metabolism and increases fatty acid oxidation and decreases re-esterification through direct effects on enzymes such as Malonyl-CoA Decarboxylase <sup>183</sup>, although changes in body composition are also contributory <sup>181,307</sup>.

In summary we have found that although greater levels of fitness are associated with higher insulin sensitivity in all tissues, and greater physical activity energy expenditure is associated with higher insulin sensitivity in liver and adipose tissue, these finding are not independent of body fat. Because the associations between insulin sensitivity and fatness are so strong and independent of VO<sub>2</sub>

130

max and PAEE we believe that fatness is much more important than fitness or habitual physical activity in determining insulin resistance, and that some of the benefits of exercise may be mediated through improvements in body composition. Further interventional exercise studies are needed to determine whether improved insulin sensitivity is mediated by a reduction in body fat.

### 8 CONCLUSIONS

We have explored four aspects of the association between obesity and insulin sensitivity. We have shown firstly, that in men there is very close correlation between the simplest measurements of body composition, namely BMI and waist, and the more detailed measurements of body composition, as well as with insulin resistance and the other features of the metabolic syndrome. This is important because as obesity prevalence increases the very simplest tools can be used to identify which individuals need the secondary screening measurements of blood pressure, lipid and glucose measurement.

In our study we have found that there is no biologically significant difference between visceral fat measured on MRI, or trunk fat on DEXA, compared with waist circumference or BMI in the associations with insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome features. Although the numbers are small for the visceral fat data, we have used a five-slice abdominal MRI technique which is more detailed than that used in many studies. We have concluded that the important associations with insulin sensitivity and metabolic syndrome features demonstrated in our subjects are with total fat mass, and that even if visceral fat is more biologically active than subcutaneous fat as has been suggested <sup>96,161</sup>, visceral and abdominal fat are markers of total fat mass in men.

We went on to explore the relationship between fatty liver disease and fatness and insulin sensitivity. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease is the most recently described of the metabolic syndrome features, with huge implications for patient morbidity and mortality, in addition to resource implications, and we showed that this is closely linked to insulin sensitivity in muscle and fat, independently of the association with body fat. We did not demonstrate a difference in hepatic insulin sensitivity in the subjects with fatty liver but clamp insulin levels were higher in the subjects with fatty liver for the same degree of suppression of hepatic glucose output so it is possible that our findings also represent impaired hepatic insulin sensitivity in these subjects. We showed no significant difference in visceral fat between the subjects with and without fatty liver, despite the subjects with NAFLD having more total and trunk fat. We have concluded that in insulin resistant subjects there is an abnormality of adipocyte function, not necessarily specific to visceral fat, which results in increased non-esterified fatty acid supply to the liver and the release of inflammatory cytokines, and together these factors lead to the development of fatty liver.

We have examined the role of the HPA axis in insulin resistance. We measured cortisol clearance using a tandem mass spectrometry technique to detect clearance of a tracer dose of deuterated cortisol. We found a strong inverse correlation between the clearance of cortisol and whole body insulin sensitivity and insulin sensitivity in muscle and adipose tissue, which was independent of body fat. We did not find a relationship between other aspects of the HPA axis, namely morning cortisol or response to ACTH<sub>1-24</sub> and insulin sensitivity, although we did find a relationship between CBG and insulin sensitivity which was not independent of cortisol clearance or fatness. We have concluded that it is possible that abnormalities of the HPA axis may underlie the development of insulin resistance and fatty liver. There is evidence of increased 11BHSD activity in adipose tissue of insulin resistant individuals <sup>308</sup> but downregulation in liver <sup>256,309</sup> which may lead to adipose tissue-specific increased glucocorticoid exposure with simultaneous upregulation of the axis because of decreased levels in liver. These abnormalities may be familial or contributed to by the intrauterine environment, both of which have an impact on the HPA axis <sup>162,263</sup>. Downregulation of 11BHSD in liver may also explain why we found that insulin sensitivity in liver was not related to cortisol clearance but tissue insulin sensitivity in muscle and adipose tissue was.

We explored the role of fitness and physical activity in insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome. We found that both fitness and physical activity level were inversely related to fatness, with no closer relationship between trunk fatness than total fatness and no relationship between visceral fat and either fitness or

133

physical activity level. Although we did demonstrate a relationship between fitness and insulin sensitivity this was much less strong than the relationship between total or trunk fatness and insulin sensitivity and was not independent of fatness. Similarly physical activity level was not related to insulin sensitivity independently of fatness. Neither fitness nor fatness was independently related to other metabolic syndrome features. Multiple regression analyses indicated that fitness did contribute 25% to insulin sensitivity in adipose tissue and that physical activity levels contributed 11% to insulin sensitivity in liver, but that the contributions to insulin sensitivity in other tissues was minimal.

We have concluded that fatness is much more important than either fitness or physical activity in determining insulin sensitivity and that it is likely that the predominant effect of components of physical activity on insulin resistance is mediated through its effect on body composition. It is interesting that we did find that fitness contributes to insulin resistance in fat, because it has been suggested that IL-6 released from exercising muscle may exert a beneficial effect by inducing lipolysis and gene transcription in adipose tissue and inhibiting TNF $\alpha$ <sup>292</sup>, and inflammatory cytokines also contribute to the development of insulin resistance in adipocytes <sup>293,294</sup>. We found that physical activity levels contributed to insulin sensitivity in liver. One explanation for this would be that exercise increases levels of hormone sensitive lipase <sup>305</sup> which catalyses lipolysis of triglycerides in adipocytes <sup>304</sup>. A smaller adipose tissue mass may therefore result in increased hepatic insulin sensitivity through reduced fatty acid supply to the liver <sup>152</sup>.

We undertook 5-slice MRI studies of the obese subjects to evaluate visceral fat and also had DEXA data on trunk fat for all subjects. Where information was available visceral fat did not show a closer relationship with any of the factors we studied than trunk fat, namely insulin sensitivity in muscle, fat and liver; fatty liver, fitness or energy expenditure. Trunk fat did show a very slightly stronger relationship than total fat with blood lipid and glucose levels and some aspects of insulin sensitivity but the differences were very small, even when compared with BMI and waist circumference. We did not demonstrate a stronger relationship between trunk fat and fatty liver, cortisol clearance, fitness or physical activity. We found that trunk fat and visceral fat correlated very strongly with total fat and our findings suggest that it is total fat rather than visceral fat which is associated with metabolic abnormalities in men.

There is a considerable literature linking insulin resistance to visceral fat <sup>48,82,84</sup> although Frayn has pointed out that the subcutaneous abdominal fat mass, which is very much larger than the visceral fat mass, may also be a source of high levels of non-esterified fatty acids <sup>47</sup>. Smith found that total fat mass and deep subcutaneous fat were more important than visceral fat in predicting insulin resistance <sup>209</sup>. Interestingly the studies of 11βHSD in which increased regeneration of cortisone to cortisol was inferred from 11βHSD expression in adipose tissue biopsies were of subcutaneous fat <sup>167,310</sup>, and in the case of one study from the gluteal region <sup>167</sup>, indicating that subcutaneous fat may well also be important in the development of insulin resistance.

It is also true that visceral fat to subcutaneous fat ratio is increased in subjects with Cushing's syndrome <sup>311</sup>, and Bjorntorp has argued that visceral fat accumulation related to abnormalities of the HPA axis underlies the metabolic syndrome <sup>312</sup>, although there have been contrasting findings that cortisol metabolism is lower in association with visceral fat accumulation after adjustment for total fat mass <sup>20</sup>. Discussing an alternative view, Drapeau has pointed out that visceral fat has more cells per mass unit, higher blood flow and more glucocorticoid receptors than other adipose tissue and abdominal obesity may therefore develop in response to increased circulating cortisol <sup>313,314</sup>. Our findings are that cortisol clearance is related to insulin sensitivity independently of fat mass, and that fat mass is also independently associated with cortisol clearance and we believe that abnormalities of the HPA axis may underlie the development of insulin resistance and obesity. Because we found that total fat was strongly linked to whole body insulin sensitivity and to insulin resistance in muscle, liver and fat it is possible that abnormal adipocyte function leading to insulin

resistance in adipocytes leads in turn to whole body insulin resistance and the concurrent development of obesity.

Our finding that fatty liver is independently associated with insulin resistance in adipose tissue independently of total, truncal or visceral fat mass suggests that an abnormality of adipose tissue function rather than quantity underlies the development of fatty liver in insulin resistant states. Our findings suggest that increased lipolysis and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines from adipocytes leads to the development of fatty liver disease.

It is tempting at this point to bring the main findings together and link the abnormal adipocyte function suggested by the fatty liver and cortisol clearance results to the close association between insulin resistance and whole body obesity by suggesting that abnormalities of adipocyte function lead to obesity. However is recognised that obesity is associated with excess calorie intake <sup>315,316</sup> and less physical activity <sup>185 56</sup>, and our own findings also indicate that fitness and energy expenditure are linked to obesity. It is probable therefore that insulin resistance develops through a combination of abnormal adipocyte function and increased fat mass related to excess calorie intake and reduced energy expenditure and fitness. It is yet to be determined what the relative contributions of these factors are, and as fascinating animal data suggests that rats deficient in adipose tissue 11 $\beta$ HSD1 fail to develop obesity in the face of increased calorie intake <sup>257</sup> it remains possible that the two abnormalities may be linked.

In conclusion our study suggests that abnormal function of adipocytes, as well as increased total fat underlie insulin resistance and the metabolic syndrome, with increased exposure to cortisol, increased fatty acid release and release of proinflammatory cytokines leading to the development of insulin resistance in other tissues, as well as the development of fatty liver disease.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Reaven, G. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. *Diabetes* 37, 1595-607 (1988).
- 2. Hillier, ⊤.A. & Pedula, K.L. Characteristics of an adult population with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: the relation of obesity and age of onset. *Diabetes Care* 24, 1522-7 (2001).
- 3. Wild, S., Roglic, G., Green, A., Sicree, R. & King, H. Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. *Diabetes Care* 27, 1047-53. (2004).
- 4. Chan, J.M., Rimm, E.B., Colditz, G.A., Stampfer, M.J. & Willett, W.C. Obesity, fat distribution, and weight gain as risk factors for clinical diabetes in men. *Diabetes Care* 17, 961-9 (1994).
- 5. Lean, M.E.J., Han, T.S. & Morrison, C.E. Waist circumference as a measure for indicating need for weight management. *BMJ* 311, 158-161 (1995).
- 6. Franzosi, M.G. Should we continue to use BMI as a cardiovascular risk factor? *Lancet.* 368, 624-5. (2006).
- 7. Rankinen, T., Kim, S.Y., Perusse, L., Despres, J.P. & Bouchard, C. The prediction of abdominal visceral fat level from body composition and anthropometry: ROC analysis. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders : Journal of the International Association For the Study of Obesity* 23, 801-9 (1999).
- 8. Janssen, I., Katzmarzyk, P.T. & Ross, R. Body mass index, waist circumference, and health risk: evidence in support of current national institutes of health guidelines. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 162, 2074-9 (2002).
- 9. Janssen, I., Heymsfield, S.B., Allison, D.B., Kotler, D.P. & Ross, R. Body mass index and waist circumference independently contribute to the prediction of nonabdominal, abdominal subcutaneous, and visceral fat. *Am J Clin Nutr* 75, 683-688 (2002).
- 10. DeFronzo, R., Tobin, J. & Andres, R. Glucose clamp technique: a method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance. *Am J Physiol* 237, E214-23 (1979).

- Powrie, J.K., Smith, G.D., Hennessy, T.R., Shojaee\_Moradie, F., Kelly, J.M., Sonksen, P.H. & Jones, R.H. Incomplete suppression of hepatic glucose production in non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus measured with [6,6-2H2]glucose enriched glucose infusion during hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic clamps. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation* 22, 244-53 (1992).
- 12. Belfiore, F., Iannello, S. & Volpicelli, G. Insulin sensitivity indices calculated from basal and OGTT-induced insulin, Glucose, and FFA levels. *Mol Genet Metab* 63, 134-141 (1998).
- Marchesini, G., Brizi, M., Bianchi, G., Tomassetti, S., Bugianesi, E., Lenzi, M., McCullough, A.J., Natale, S., Forlani, G. & Melchionda, N. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a feature of the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes* 50, 1844-50 (2001).
- 14. Cortez\_Pinto, H., Camilo, M.E., Baptista, A., De\_Oliveira, A.G. & De\_Moura, M.C. Non-alcoholic fatty liver: another feature of the metabolic syndrome? *Clin Nutr* 18, 353-8 (1999).
- 15. Pagano, G., Pacini, G., Musso, G., Gambino, R., Mecca, F., Depetris, N., Cassader, M., David, E., Cavallo-Perin, P. & Rizzetto, M. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, insulin resistance, and metabolic syndrome: further evidence for an etiologic association. *Hepatology* 35, 367-72. (2002).
- 16. Gupte, P., Amarapurkar, D., Agal, S., Baijal, R., Kulshrestha, P., Pramanik, S., Patel, N., Madan, A., Amarapurkar, A. & Hafeezunnisa. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 19, 854-858. (2004).
- 17. Angulo, P., Keach, J.C., Batts, K.P. & Lindor, K.D. Independent predictors of liver fibrosis in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology* 30, 1356-62 (1999).
- Marceau, P., Biron, S., Hould, F.S., Marceau, S., Simard, S., Thung, S.N. & Kral, J.G. Liver pathology and the metabolic syndrome X in severe obesity. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 84, 1513-7 (1999).
- 19. Kelley, D.E., McKolanis, T.M., Hegazi, R.A.F., Kuller, L.H. & Kalhan, S.C. Fatty liver in type 2 diabetes mellitus: relation to regional adiposity, fatty acids, and insulin resistance. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 285, 906-916 (2003).
- 20. Westerbacka, J., Yki-Jarvinen, H., Vehkavaara, S., Hakkinen, A.-M., Andrew, R., Wake, D.J., Seckl, J.R. & Walker, B.R. Body Fat Distribution and Cortisol Metabolism in Healthy Men: Enhanced 5{beta}-Reductase

and Lower Cortisol/Cortisone Metabolite Ratios in Men with Fatty Liver. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88, 4924-4931 (2003).

- 21. Johanson, E.H., Jansson, P.A., Lonn, L., Matsuzawa, Y., Funahashi, T., Taskinen, M.R., Smith, U. & Axelsen, M. Fat distribution, lipid accumulation in the liver, and exercise capacity do not explain the insulin resistance in healthy males with a family history for type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88, 4232-8 (2003).
- 22. Bjorntorp, P. & Rosmond, R. Obesity and cortisol. *Nutrition* 16, 924-36 (2000).
- 23. Khani, S. & Tayek, J.A. Cortisol increases gluconeogenesis in humans: its role in the metabolic syndrome. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 101, 739-47 (2001).
- 24. Strain, G., Zumoff, B., Kream, J., Strain, J., Levin, J. & Fukushima, D. Sex difference in the influence of obesity on the 24 hr mean plasma concentration of cortisol. *Metabolism* 31, 209-12 (1982).
- 25. Jessop, D.S., Dallman, M.F., Fleming, D. & Lightman, S.L. Resistance to glucocorticoid feedback in obesity. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 86, 4109-14 (2001).
- 26. Purnell, J.Q., Brandon, D.D., Isabelle, L.M., Loriaux, D.L. & Samuels, M.H. Association of 24-hour cortisol production rates, cortisol-binding globulin, and plasma-free cortisol levels with body composition, leptin levels, and aging in adult men and women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 89, 281-7. (2004).
- 27. Walker, B.R., Soderberg, S., Lindahl, B. & Olsson, T. Independent effects of obesity and cortisol in predicting cardiovascular risk factors in men and women. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 247, 198-204 (2000).
- 28. Weaver, J.U., Kopelman, P.G., McLoughlin, L., Forsling, M.L. & Grossman, A. Hyperactivity of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis in obesity: a study of ACTH, AVP, beta-lipotrophin and cortisol responses to insulin-induced hypoglycaemia. 39, 345-50 (1993).
- 29. Andrew, R., Phillips, D. & Walker, B. Obesity and gender influence cortisol secretion and metabolism in man. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 83, 1806-9 (1998).
- 30. Strain, G., Zumoff, B., Strain, J., Levin, J. & Fukushima, D. Cortisol production in obesity. *Metabolism* 29, 980-5 (1980).
- 31. Andrew, R., Gale, C.R., Walker, B.R., Seckl, J.R. & Martyn, C.N. Glucocorticoid metabolism and the Metabolic Syndrome: associations in an elderly cohort. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* 284-90 (2002).

- 32. Ward, A.M., Fall, C.H., Stein, C.E., Kumaran, K., Veena, S.R., Wood, P.J., Syddall, H.E. & Phillips, D.I. Cortisol and the metabolic syndrome in South Asians. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf).* 58, 500-5. (2003).
- 33. Targher, G., Bertolini, L., Rodella, S., Zoppini, G., Zenari, L. & Falezza, G. Associations between liver histology and cortisol secretion in subjects with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. 64, 337-41. (2006).
- 34. Wareham, N.J., Brage, S., Franks, P.W. & Abbott, R. Physical activity and insulin resistance. in *Insulin resistance* (eds. Kumar, S. & O'Rahilly, S.) (John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2004).
- 35. Seidell, J.C. Obesity, insulin resistance and diabetes a worldwide epidemic. *British Journal of Nutrition* 83, 5-8 (2000).
- 36. Flegal, K.M., Carroll, M.D., Ogden, C.L. & Johnson, C.L. Prevalence and Trends in Obesity Among US Adults, 1999-2000. *JAMA* 288, 1723-1727 (2002).
- 37. Higgins, M., Kannel, W., Garrison, R., Pinsky, J. & Stokes, J. Hazards of obesity--the Framingham experience. *Acta Medica Scandinavica. Supplementum* 723, 23-36 (1988).
- 38. Hu, F.B., Stampfer, M.J., Manson, J.E., Grodstein, F., Colditz, G.A., Speizer, F.E. & Willett, W.C. Trends in the Incidence of Coronary Heart Disease and Changes in Diet and Lifestyle in Women. *N Engl J Med* 343, 530-537 (2000).
- Palaniappan, L., Carnethon, M.R., Wang, Y., Hanley, A.J., Fortmann, S.P., Haffner, S.M. & Wagenknecht, L. Predictors of the incident metabolic syndrome in adults: the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. *Diabetes Care* 27, 788-93. (2004).
- 40. Carr, D.B., Utzschneider, K.M., Hull, R.L., Kodama, K., Retzlaff, B.M., Brunzell, J.D., Shofer, J.B., Fish, B.E., Knopp, R.H. & Kahn, S.E. Intra-Abdominal Fat Is a Major Determinant of the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III Criteria for the Metabolic Syndrome. *Diabetes* 53, 2087-2094 (2004).
- Shen, B.-J., Todaro, J.F., Niaura, R., McCaffery, J.M., Zhang, J., Spiro III, A. & Ward, K.D. Are Metabolic Risk Factors One Unified Syndrome? Modeling the Structure of the Metabolic Syndrome X. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 157, 701-711 (2003).
- 42. Bonora, E., Del\_Prato, S., Bonadonna, R.C., Gulli, G., Solini, A., Shank, M.L., Ghiatas, A.A., Lancaster, J.L., Kilcoyne, R.F. & Alyassin, A.M. Total body fat content and fat topography are associated differently with in vivo

glucose metabolism in nonobese and obese nondiabetic women. *Diabetes* 41, 1151-9 (1992).

- Ohlson, L.O., Larsson, B., Svardsudd, K., Welin, L., Eriksson, H., Wilhelmsen, L., Bjorntorp, P. & Tibblin, G. The influence of body fat distribution on the incidence of diabetes mellitus. 13.5 years of follow-up of the participants in the study of men born in 1913. *Diabetes* 34, 1055-8 (1985).
- 44. Raz, I., Eldor, R., Cernea, S. & Shafrir, E. Diabetes: insulin resistance and derangements in lipid metabolism. Cure through intervention in fat transport and storage. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* 21, 3-14. (2005).
- 45. Groop, L.C., Saloranta, C., Shank, M., Bonadonna, R.C., Ferrannini, E. & DeFronzo, R.A. The role of free fatty acid metabolism in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance in obesity and noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 72, 96-107 (1991).
- 46. Benthem, L., Keizer, K., Wiegman, C.H., de\_Boer\_SF, Strubbe, J.H., Steffens, A.B., Kuipers, F. & Scheurink, A.J. Excess portal venous longchain fatty acids induce syndrome X via HPA axis and sympathetic activation. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism* 279, 1286-93 (2000).
- 47. Frayn, K.N. Visceral fat and insulin resistance--causative or correlative? *Br J Nutr* 83, S71-7. (2000).
- 48. Pascot, A., Despres, J., I., L., Bergeron, J., Nadeau, A., Prud'homme, D., Tremblay, A. & Lemieux, S. Contribution of visceral obesity to the deterioration of the metabolic risk profile in men with impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabetologia* 43, (2000).
- Tchernof, A., Lamarche, B., Prud\_Homme, D., Nadeau, A., Moorjani, S., Labrie, F., Lupien, P.J. & Despres, J.P. The dense LDL phenotype. Association with plasma lipoprotein levels, visceral obesity, and hyperinsulinemia in men. *Diabetes Care* 19, 629-37 (1996).
- 50. Randle, P.J., Garland, P.B., Hales, C.N. & Newsholme, E.A. The glucosefatty acid cycle, its role in insulin sensitivity and the metabolic disturbances of diabetes mellitus. *Lancet* 1, 785-9 (1963).
- 51. Krotkiewski, M., Bjorntorp, P., Sjostrom, L. & Smith, U. Impact of obesity on metabolism in men and women. Importance of regional adipose tissue distribution. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 72, 1150-62 (1983).
- 52. Weyer, C., Foley, J.E., Bogardus, C., Tataranni, P.A. & Pratley, R.E. Enlarged subcutaneous abdominal adipocyte size, but not obesity itself,

predicts type II diabetes independent of insulin resistance. *Diabetologia* 43, 1498-506 (2000).

- 53. Han, T.S., van Leer, E.M., Seidell, J.C. & Lean, M.E.J. Waist circumference action levels in the identification of cardiovascular risk factors: prevalence study in a random sample. *BMJ* 311, 1401-1405 (1995).
- 54. Després, J. Clinical review: Treatment of obesity: need to focus on high risk abdominally obese patients. *BMJ* 322, 716-720 (2001).
- 55. von Eckardstein, A., Schulte, H. & Assmann, G. Risk for Diabetes Mellitus in Middle-Aged Caucasian Male Participants of the PROCAM Study: Implications for the Definition of Impaired Fasting Glucose by the American Diabetes Association. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 85, 3101-3108 (2000).
- 56. Hu, F.B., Manson, J.E., Stampfer, M.J., Colditz, G., Liu, S., Solomon, C.G. & Willett, W.C. Diet, Lifestyle, and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Women. *N Engl J Med* 345, 790-797 (2001).
- 57. Pyorala, M., Miettinen, H., Halonen, P., Laakso, M. & Pyorala, K. Insulin resistance syndrome predicts the risk of coronary heart disease and stroke in healthy middle-aged men: the 22-year follow-up results of the Helsinki Policemen Study. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 20, 538-44 (2000).
- 58. Law, M.R. & Wald, N.J. Risk factor thresholds: their existence under scrutiny. *BMJ* 324, 1570-1576 (2002).
- 59. Lamon\_Fava, S., Wilson, P.W. & Schaefer, E.J. Impact of body mass index on coronary heart disease risk factors in men and women. The Framingham Offspring Study. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 16, 1509-15 (1996).
- 60. WHO. Obesity: Preventing and managing the Global Epidemic Report of a WHO Consultation on Obesity. (1997).
- 61. WHO. Chapter 4. in *Reducing risks promoting healthy life* (2002).
- 62. Dudeja, V., Misra, A., Pandey, R.M., Devina, G., Kumar, G. & Vikram, N.K. BMI does not accurately predict overweight in Asian Indians in northern India. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 86, 105-12 (2001).
- 63. Deurenberg, P., Deurenberg\_Yap, M. & Guricci, S. Asians are different from Caucasians and from each other in their body mass index/body fat per cent relationship. 3, 141-6 (2002).

- 64. Gallagher, D., Visser, M., Sepulveda, D., Pierson, R.N., Harris, T. & Heymsfield, S.B. How useful is body mass index for comparison of body fatness across age, sex, and ethnic groups? *American Journal of Epidemiology* 143, 228-39 (1996).
- 65. Fernandez, J.R., Heo, M., Heymsfield, S.B., Pierson, R.N., Jr, Pi-Sunyer, F.X., Wang, Z.M., Wang, J., Hayes, M., Allison, D.B. & Gallagher, D. Is percentage body fat differentially related to body mass index in Hispanic Americans, African Americans, and European Americans? *Am J Clin Nutr* 77, 71-75 (2003).
- 66. Elia, M. Obesity in the elderly. *Obesity Research* 9 Suppl 4, 244S-248S (2001).
- 67. Rimm, E.B., Stampfer, M.J., Giovannucci, E., Ascherio, A., Spiegelman, D., Colditz, G.A. & Willett, W.C. Body size and fat distribution as predictors of coronary heart disease among middle-aged and older US men. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 141, 1117-27 (1995).
- 68. Deurenberg, P., van\_der\_Kooy, K., Hulshof, T. & Evers, P. Body mass index as a measure of body fatness in the elderly. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 43, 231-6 (1989).
- 69. Willett, W.C., Dietz, W.H. & Colditz, G.A. Guidelines for Healthy Weight. *N* Engl J Med 341, 427-434 (1999).
- 70. Williams, S.R., Jones, E., Bell, W., Davies, B. & Bourne, M.W. Body habitus and coronary heart disease in men. A review with reference to methods of body habitus assessment. *European Heart Journal* 18, 376-93 (1997).
- 71. Terry, R., Wood, P., Haskell, W., Stefanick, M. & Krauss, R. Regional adiposity patterns in relation to lipids, lipoprotein cholesterol, and lipoprotein subfraction mass in men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 68, 191-199 (1989).
- 72. Durnin, J.V.G.A. & Wormersley, J. Body fat assessed from total body density and its estimation from skinfold thickness: measurements on 481 men and women aged from 16 to 72 years. *Br J Nutr* 32, 77-97 (1974).
- 73. Chang, C.J., Wu, C.H., Lu, F.H., Wu, J.S., Chiu, N.T. & Yao, W.J. Discriminating glucose tolerance status by regions of interest of dualenergy X-ray absorptiometry. Clinical implications of body fat distribution. *Diabetes Care* 22, 1938-43 (1999).
- 74. Prior, B.M., Cureton, K.J., Modlesky, C.M., Evans, E.M., Sloniger, M.A., Saunders, M. & Lewis, R.D. In vivo validation of whole body composition

estimates from dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. *J Appl Physiol* 83, 623-630 (1997).

- 75. Deurenberg, P., Van der Kooy, K., Leenen, R., Weststrate, J.A. & Seidell, J.C. Sex and age specific prediction formulas for estimating body composition from bioelectrical impedance: a cross-validation study. *International Journal of Obesity* 15, 17-25 (1990).
- 76. Wagner, D.R. & Heyward, V.H. Measures of body composition in blacks and whites: a comparative review. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 71, 1392-402 (2000).
- 77. Wagner, D.R., Heyward, V.H. & Gibson, A.L. Validation of air displacement plethysmography for assessing body composition. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 32, 1339-44 (2000).
- 78. Vescovi, J.D., Zimmerman, S.L., Miller, W.C., Hildebrandt, L., Hammer, R.L. & Fernhall, B. Evaluation of the BOD POD for estimating percentage body fat in a heterogeneous group of adult humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 85, 326-332 (2001).
- 79. Vague, J. La differenciation sexualle, facteur determinant des formes de l'obesite. *Presse Med* 30, 339-40 (1947).
- 80. Martin, M.L. & Jensen, M.D. Effects of body fat distribution on regional lipolysis in obesity. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 88, 609-13 (1991).
- 81. Brochu, M., Tchernof, A., Dionne, I.J., Sites, C.K., Eltabbakh, G.H., Sims, E.A.H. & Poehlman, E.T. What Are the Physical Characteristics Associated with a Normal Metabolic Profile Despite a High Level of Obesity in Postmenopausal Women? *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 86, 1020-1025 (2001).
- 82. Ross, R., Aru, J., Freeman, J., Hudson, R. & Janssen, I. Abdominal adiposity and insulin resistance in obese men. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 282, 657-663 (2002).
- Zamboni, M., Armellini, F., Cominacini, L., Turcato, E., Todesco, T., Bissoli, L., Micciolo, R., Bergamo-Andreis, I.A. & Bosello, O. Obesity and regional body-fat distribution in men: separate and joint relationships to glucose tolerance and plasma lipoproteins. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 60, 682-7. (1994).
- 84. Gautier, J. Evaluation of abdominal fat distribution in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: relationship to insulin resistance. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 83, 1306-11 (1998).
- 85. Sharma, R.C., Kramsch, D.M., Lee, P.L., Colletti, P. & Jiao, Q. Quantitation and localization of regional body fat distribution--a comparison between magnetic resonance imaging and somatometry. *Obesity Research* 4, 167-78 (1996).
- 86. Sobol, W., Rossner, S., Hinson, B., Hiltbrandt, E., Karstaedt, N., Santago, P., Wolfman, N., Hagaman, A. & Crouse, J.R. Evaluation of a new magnetic resonance imaging method for quantitating adipose tissue areas. *International Journal of Obesity* 15, 589-99 (1991).
- 87. Toth, M.J., Tchernof, A., Sites, C.K. & Poehlman, E.T. Menopause-related changes in body fat distribution. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 904, 502-6 (2000).
- 88. Han, T. Relationship between volumes and areas from single transverse scans of intra-abdominal fat measured by magnetic resonance imaging. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 21, 1161-6 (1997).
- 89. Ohsuzu, F. Imaging techniques for measuring adipose-tissue distribution in the abdomen: a comparison between computed tomography and 1.5-tesla magnetic resonance spin-echo imaging. *Radiat Med* 16, 99-107 (1998).
- 90. Snehalatha, C., Ramachandran, A., Satyavani, K., Vallabi, M.Y. & Viswanathan, V. Computed axial tomographic scan measurement of abdominal fat distribution and its correlation with anthropometry and insulin secretion in healthy Asian Indians. *Metabolism* 46, 1220-4 (1997).
- 91. Schinner, S., Scherbaum, W.A., Bornstein, S.R. & Barthel, A. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance. *Diabet Med* 22, 674-82 (2005).
- 92. Perseghin, G., Ghosh, S., Gerow, K. & Shulman, G.I. Metabolic defects in lean nondiabetic offspring of NIDDM parents: a cross-sectional study. *Diabetes.* 46, 1001-9. (1997).
- 93. Petersen, K.F. & Shulman, G.I. Pathogenesis of skeletal muscle insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am J Cardiol.* 90, 11G-18G. (2002).
- 94. Klip, A. & Paquet, M.R. Glucose transport and glucose transporters in muscle and their metabolic regulation. *Diabetes Care* 13, 228-43 (1990).
- Griffin, M.E., Marcucci, M.J., Cline, G.W., Bell, K., Barucci, N., Lee, D., Goodyear, L.J., Kraegen, E.W., White, M.F. & Shulman, G.I. Free fatty acid-induced insulin resistance is associated with activation of protein kinase C theta and alterations in the insulin signaling cascade. *Diabetes.* 48, 1270-4. (1999).

- Lefebvre, A.M., Laville, M., Vega, N., Riou, J.P., van\_Gaal, L., Auwerx, J. & Vidal, H. Depot-specific differences in adipose tissue gene expression in lean and obese subjects. *Diabetes* 47, 98-103 (1998).
- 97. Zorzano, A., Palacin, M. & Guma, A. Mechanisms regulating GLUT4 glucose transporter expression and glucose transport in skeletal muscle. *Acta Physiol Scand* 183, 43-58. (2005).
- 98. Bergman, R. & Ader, M. Free fatty acids and pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 11, 351-6 (2000).
- 99. Randle, P., Priestman, D., Mistry, S. & Halsall, A. Glucose fatty acid interactions and the regulation of glucose disposal. *J Cell Biochem* 55, 1-11 (1994).
- 100. Cheatham, B. GLUT4 and company: SNAREing roles in insulin-regulated glucose uptake. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism* 11, 356-61 (2000).
- Voshol, P.J., Haemmerle, G., Ouwens, D.M., Zimmermann, R., Zechner, R., Teusink, B., Maassen, A., Havekes, L.M. & Romijn, J.A. Increased hepatic insulin sensitivity together with decreased hepatic triglyceride stores in hormone-sensitive lipase-deficient mice. *Endocrinology* 144, 3456-62 (2003).
- 102. DeFronzo, R.A. Lilly lecture 1987. The triumvirate: beta-cell, muscle, liver. A collusion responsible for NIDDM. *Diabetes* 37, 667-87 (1988).
- Bavenholm, P.N., Pigon, J., Ostenson, C.-G. & Efendic, S. Insulin Sensitivity of Suppression of Endogenous Glucose Production Is the Single Most Important Determinant of Glucose Tolerance. *Diabetes* 50, 1449-1454 (2001).
- 104. Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Minokoshi, Y., Ito, Y., Waki, H., Uchida, S., Yamashita, S., Noda, M., Kita, S., Ueki, K., Eto, K., Akanuma, Y., Froguel, P., Foufelle, F., Ferre, P., Carling, D., Kimura, S., Nagai, R., Kahn, B.B. & Kadowaki, T. Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *Nature Medicine* 8, 1288-95 (2002).
- 105. Cohen, B., Novick, D. & Rubinstein, M. Modulation of insulin activities by leptin. *Science*. 274, 1185-8. (1996).
- 106. Krentz, A.J. & Nattrass, M. Insulin resistance: a multifaceted metabolic syndrome. Insights gained using a low-dose insulin infusion technique. *Diabetic Medicine* 13, 30-9 (1996).
- 107. Byrne, C.D., Wareham, N.J., Brown, D.C., Clark, P.M., Cox, L.J., Day, N.E., Palmer, C.R., Wang, T.W., Williams, D.R. & Hales, C.N.

Hypertriglyceridaemia in subjects with normal and abnormal glucose tolerance: relative contributions of insulin secretion, insulin resistance and suppression of plasma non-esterified fatty acids. *Diabetologia* 37, 889-96 (1994).

- 108. Orel, M., Lichnovska, R., Gwozdziewiczova, S., Zlamalova, N., Klementa, I., Merkunova, A. & Hrebicek, J. Gender differences in tumor necrosis factor alpha and leptin secretion from subcutaneous and visceral fat tissue. *Physiol Res.* 53, 501-5. (2004).
- 109. Matthews, D., Hosker, J., Rudenski, A., Naylor, B., Treacher, D. & Turner, R. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia* 28, 412-9 (1985).
- 110. Bonora, E., Targher, G., Alberiche, M., Bonadonna, R., Saggiani, F., Zenere, M., Monauni, T. & Muggeo, M. Homeostasis model assessment closely mirrors the glucose clamp technique in the assessment of insulin sensitivity: studies in subjects with various degrees of glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity. *Diabetes Care* 23, 57-63 (2000).
- 111. Emoto, M., Nishizawa, Y., Maekawa, K., Hiura, Y., Kanda, H., Kawagishi, T., Shoji, T., Okuno, Y. & Morii, H. Homeostasis model assessment as a clinical index of insulin resistance in type 2 diabetic patients treated with sulfonylureas. *Diabetes Care* 22, 818-22 (1999).
- 112. Wallace, T.M. & Matthews, D.R. The assessment of insulin resistance in man. *Diabetic Medicine : a Journal of the British Diabetic Association* 19, 527-34 (2002).
- Ferrannini, E., Natali, A., Bell, P., Cavallo\_Perin, P., Lalic, N. & Mingrone, G. Insulin resistance and hypersecretion in obesity. European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR). *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 100, 1166-73 (1997).
- 114. Miyazaki, Y., Glass, L., Triplitt, C., Wajcberg, E., Mandarino, L.J. & DeFronzo, R.A. Abdominal fat distribution and peripheral and hepatic insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 283, 1135-1143 (2002).
- 115. Banerji, M.A., Chaiken, R.L., Gordon, D., Kral, J.G. & Lebovitz, H.E. Does intra-abdominal adipose tissue in black men determine whether NIDDM is insulin-resistant or insulin-sensitive? *Diabetes* 44, 141-6 (1995).
- Morris, A.D., Ueda, S., Petrie, J.R., Connell, J.M., Elliott, H.L. & Donnelly, R. The euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp: an evaluation of current methodology. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology & Physiology* 24, 513-8 (1997).

- 117. Soop, M., Nygren, J., Brismar, K., Thorell, A. & Ljungqvist, O. The hyperinsulinaemic-euglycaemic glucose clamp: reproducibility and metabolic effects of prolonged insulin infusion in healthy subjects. 98, 367-74 (2000).
- 118. Miyazaki, Y., Mahankali, A., Matsuda, M., Glass, L., Mahankali, S., Ferrannini, E., Cusi, K., Mandarino, L.J. & DeFronzo, R.A. Improved Glycemic Control and Enhanced Insulin Sensitivity in Type 2 Diabetic Subjects Treated With Pioglitazone. *Diabetes Care* 24, 710-719 (2001).
- 119. Liu, D., Moberg, E., Kollind, M., Lins, P.E., Adamson, U. & MacDonald, I.A. Arterial, arterialized venous, venous and capillary blood glucose measurements in normal man during hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemia and hypoglycaemia. *Diabetalogia* 355, 287-90 (1992).
- 120. Mari, A., Pacini, G., Murphy, E., Ludvik, B. & Nolan, J. A model-based method for assessing insulin sensitivity from the oral glucose tolerance test. *Diabetes Care* 24, 539-48 (2001).
- 121. Belfiore, F., Iannello, S., Camuto, M., Fagone, S. & Cavaleri, A. Insulin sensitivity of blood glucose versus insulin sensitivity of blood free fatty acids in normal, obese, and obese-diabetic subjects. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental* 50, 573-82 (2001).
- 122. Steele, R. influences of glucose loading and of injected insulin on hepatic glucose output. *Annals New York Academy of Sciences* 82, 420-30 (1959).
- 123. Hother-Nielsen, O., Mengel, A., Moller, J., Rasmussen, O., Schmitz, O. & Beck-Nielsen, H. Assessment of glucose turnover rates in euglycaemic clamp studies using primed-constant [3-3H]-glucose infusion and labelled or unlabelled glucose infusates. *Diabet Med.* 9, 840-9. (1992).
- 124. Webber, J., Whitelaw, D., Smith, J.M. & Nattrass, M. Glucose and fatty acid metabolism in type 2 diabetes mellitus: an assessment using low-dose insulin infusion and the hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic clamp. 1, 173-8 (1999).
- 125. Butler, T.J., Barriocanal, L.A. & Walker, M. Elevated plasma non-esterified fatty acid levels and insulin secretion in non-diabetic relatives of type 2 diabetic patients. 55, 349-55 (2001).
- 126. Maison, P., Byrne, C.D., Hales, C.N. & Wareham, N.J. Hypertension and its treatment influence changes in fasting nonesterified fatty acid concentrations: a link between the sympathetic nervous system and the metabolic syndrome? *Metabolism.* 49, 81-7. (2000).

- 127. Chalasani, N., Deeg, M.A., Persohn, S. & Crabb, D.W. Metabolic and anthropometric evaluation of insulin resistance in nondiabetic patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 98, 1849-55. (2003).
- 128. U.S. Dept of Health and Human Services, N.I.o.H., National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute. ATP III Guidelines. *NIH Publication* (2001).
- 129. Balkau, B. & Charles, M.A. Comment on the provisional report from the WHO consultation. *Diabetic Medicine* 16, 442-443 (1999).
- 130. Ford, E.S., Giles, W.H. & Dietz, W.H. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among US adults: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Jama : the Journal of the American Medical Association* 287, 356-9 (2002).
- 131. Unwin, N., Patel, S., Bhopal, R., Fischbacher, C., White, M. & Alberti, G. A comparison of the prevalence and metabolic characteristics of WHO and NCEP definitions of the metabolic syndrome in three UK-based ethnic groups. *Diabetic Medicine* 20s2, p126 (2003).
- 132. Ridker, P.M., Buring, J.E., Cook, N.R. & Rifai, N. C-Reactive Protein, the Metabolic Syndrome, and Risk of Incident Cardiovascular Events: An 8-Year Follow-Up of 14 719 Initially Healthy American Women. *Circulation* 107, 391-397 (2003).
- 133. Henry, P., Thomas, F., Benetos, A. & Guize, L. Impaired fasting glucose, blood pressure and cardiovascular disease mortality. *Hypertension* 40, 458-63. (2002).
- 134. Isomaa, B., Almgren, P., Tuomi, T., Forsen, B., Lahti, K., Nissen, M., Taskinen, M.R. & Groop, L. Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality associated with the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Care* 24, 683-9 (2001).
- 135. Sims, E.A. Are there persons who are obese, but metabolically healthy? *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental* 50, 1499-504 (2001).
- 136. Must, A., Spadano, J., Coakley, E.H., Field, A.E., Colditz, G. & Dietz, W.H. The Disease Burden Associated With Overweight and Obesity. *JAMA* 282, 1523-1529 (1999).
- 137. Bjorntorp, P. Metabolic difference between visceral fat and subcutaneous abdominal fat. *Diabetes Metab* 26, 10-2 (2000).
- 138. Krentz, A.J. Lipoprotein abnormalities and their consequences for patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 5, S19-27. (2003).
- 139. MacLean, P.S., Bower, J.F., Vadlamudi, S., Green, T. & Barakat, H.A. Lipoprotein subpopulation distributions in lean, obese, and type 2 diabetic

women: a comparison of African and white Americans. *Obesity Research* 8, 62-70 (2000).

- 140. Pascot, A., Lemieux, I., Prud'homme, D., Tremblay, A., Nadeau, A., Couillard, C., Bergeron, J., Lamarche, B. & Despres, J.-P. Reduced HDL particle size as an additional feature of the atherogenic dyslipidemia of abdominal obesity. *J. Lipid Res.* 42, 2007-2014 (2001).
- 141. Maison, P., Byrne, C.D., Hales, N. & Wareham, N.J. Hypertension and its treatment influences changes in fasting nonesterified fatty acid concentrations: a link between the sympathetic nervous system and the metabolic syndrome. *Metabolism* 49, 81-87 (2000).
- 142. Reusch, J.E. Current concepts in insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and the metabolic syndrome. *The American Journal of Cardiology* 90, 19G-26G (2002).
- 143. Hsiao, T.-J., Chen, J.-C. & Wang, J.-D. Insulin resistance and ferritin as major determinants of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in apparently healthy obese patients. *International journal of obesity* 28, 167-172 (2004).
- 144. Saverymuttu, S.H., Joseph, S.H. & Maxwell, J.D. Ultrasound scanning in the detection of hepatic fibrosis and steatosis. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)* 292, 13-5 (1986).
- 145. Nguyen, M., Stewart, R., Banerji, M., Gordon, D. & Kral, J. Relationships between tamoxifen use, liver fat and body fat distribution in women with breast cancer. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 25, 296-8 (2001).
- 146. Fishbein, M., Gardner, K., Potter, C., Schmalbrock, P. & Smith, M. Introduction of fast MR imaging in the assessment of hepatic steatosis. *Magn Reson Imaging* 15, 287-93 (1997).
- 147. Bhargava, R., Senior, P.A., Ackerman, T.E., Ryan, E.A., Paty, B.W., Lakey, J.R. & Shapiro, A.M. Prevalence of hepatic steatosis after islet transplantation and its relation to graft function. *Diabetes* 53, 1311-7. (2004).
- Saadeh, S., Younossi, Z.M., Remer, E.M., Gramlich, T., Ong, J.P., Hurley, M., Mullen, K.D., Cooper, J.N. & Sheridan, M.J. The utility of radiological imaging in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 123, 745-50. (2002).
- 149. Tominaga, K., Kurata, J.H., Chen, Y.K., Fujimoto, E., Miyagawa, S., Abe, I. & Kusano, Y. Prevalence of fatty liver in Japanese children and relationship to obesity. An epidemiological ultrasonographic survey. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences* 40, 2002-9 (1995).

- 150. Szczepaniak, L.S., Nurenberg, P., Leonard, D., Browning, J.D., Reingold, J.S., Grundy, S., Hobbs, H.H. & Dobbins, R.L. Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy to Measure Hepatic Triglyceride Content: Prevalence of Hepatic Steatosis in the General Population. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 00064.2004 (2004).
- 151. Bajaj, M., Suraamornkul, S., Piper, P., Hardies, L.J., Glass, L., Cersosimo, E., Pratipanawatr, T., Miyazaki, Y. & DeFronzo, R.A. Decreased plasma adiponectin concentrations are closely related to hepatic fat content and hepatic insulin resistance in pioglitazone-treated type 2 diabetic patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 89, 200-6 (2004).
- 152. Seppala-Lindroos, A., Vehkavaara, S., Hakkinen, A.-M., Goto, T., Westerbacka, J., Sovijarvi, A., Halavaara, J. & Yki-Jarvinen, H. Fat Accumulation in the Liver Is Associated with Defects in Insulin Suppression of Glucose Production and Serum Free Fatty Acids Independent of Obesity in Normal Men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87, 3023-3028 (2002).
- 153. Festi, D., Colecchia, A., Sacco, T., Bondi, M., Roda, E. & Marchesini, G. Hepatic steatosis in obese patients: clinical aspects and prognostic significance. *Obesity Reviews* 5, 27-42 (2004).
- 154. Mofrad, P., Contos, M.J., Haque, M., Sargeant, C., Fisher, R.A., Luketic, V.A., Sterling, R.K., Shiffman, M.L., Stravitz, R.T. & Sanyal, A.J. Clinical and histological spectrum of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease associated with normal ALT. *Hepatology* 37, 1286-92 (2003).
- 155. Brunt, E.M. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: definition and pathology. *Semin Liver Dis.* 21, 3-16. (2001).
- 156. Misra, A., Sinha, S., Kumar, M., Jagannathan, N.R. & Pandey, R.M. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study of soleus muscle in nonobese healthy and Type 2 diabetic Asian Northern Indian males: high intramyocellular lipid content correlates with excess body fat and abdominal obesity. *Diabet Med* 20, 361-367 (2003).
- 157. Itani, S.I., Ruderman, N.B., Schmieder, F. & Boden, G. Lipid-induced insulin resistance in human muscle is associated with changes in diacylglycerol, protein kinase C, and IkappaB-alpha. *Diabetes.* 51, 2005-11. (2002).
- Perseghin, G., Scifo, P., De Cobelli, F., Pagliato, E., Battezzati, A., Arcelloni, C., Vanzulli, A., Testolin, G., Pozza, G., Del Maschio, A. & Luzi, L. Intramyocellular triglyceride content is a determinant of in vivo insulin resistance in humans: a 1H-13C nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy assessment in offspring of type 2 diabetic parents. *Diabetes.* 48, 1600-6. (1999).

- 159. Petersen, K.F., Dufour, S., Befroy, D., Garcia, R. & Shulman, G.I. Impaired mitochondrial activity in the insulin-resistant offspring of patients with type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* 350, 664-71. (2004).
- 160. Walker, B.R. Abnormal glucocorticoid activity in subjects with risk factors for cardiovascular disease. *Endocrine Research* 22, 701-8 (1996).
- 161. Bjorntorp, P. The regulation of adipose tissue distribution in humans. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord Apr;20(4):291-302 (1996)*.
- 162. Phillips, D.I., Barker, D.J., Fall, C.H., Seckl, J.R., Whorwood, C.B., Wood, P.J. & Walker, B.R. Elevated plasma cortisol concentrations: a link between low birth weight and the insulin resistance syndrome? *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 83, 757-60 (1998).
- Reynolds, R.M., Walker, B.R., Syddall, H.E., Whorwood, C.B., Wood, P.J. & Phillips, D.I. Elevated plasma cortisol in glucose-intolerant men: differences in responses to glucose and habituation to venepuncture. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 86, 1149-53 (2001).
- 164. Reynolds, R.M., Walker, B.R., Syddall, H.E., Andrew, R., Wood, P.J., Whorwood, C.B. & Phillips, D.I. Altered control of cortisol secretion in adult men with low birth weight and cardiovascular risk factors. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 86, 245-50 (2001).
- 165. Rosmond, R. Stress-related cortisol secretion in men: relationships with abdominal obesity and endocrine, metabolic and haemodynamic abnormalities. *JCEM* 83, 1853-9 (1998).
- 166. Bujalska, I., Kumar, S. & Stewart, P. Does central obesity reflect "Cushing's disease of the omentum"? *Lancet* 349, 1210-3 (1997).
- Andrews, R.C., Herlihy, O., Livingstone, D.E.W., Andrew, R. & Walker, B.R. Abnormal Cortisol Metabolism and Tissue Sensitivity to Cortisol in Patients with Glucose Intolerance. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 87, 5587-5593 (2002).
- 168. Walker, B.R. Steroid metabolism in Metabolic Syndrome X. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrin Metab* 15, 111-22 (2001).
- 169. Erlichman, J., Kerbey, A.L. & James, W.P.T. Physical activity and its impact on health outcomes. Paper 1: the impact of physical activity on cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality: an historical perspective. *Obesity Reviews* 3, 257-271 (2002).
- 170. Laukkanen, J.A., Kurl, S., Salonen, R., Rauramaa, R. & Salonen, J.T. The predictive value of cardiorespiratory fitness for cardiovascular events in

men with various risk profiles: a prospective population-based cohort study. *Eur Heart J* 25, 1428-37. (2004).

- 171. Bertoli, A., Di Daniele, N., Ceccobelli, M., Ficara, A., Girasoli, C. & De Lorenzo, A. Lipid profile, BMI, body fat distribution, and aerobic fitness in men with metabolic syndrome. *Acta Diabetol* 40, S130-3. (2003).
- 172. Pigon, J., Karlsson, J. & Ostenson, C.G. Physical fitness and insulin sensitivity in human subjects with a low insulin response to glucose. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 87, 187-92. (1994).
- 173. Godsland, I.F., Leyva, F., Walton, C., Worthington, M. & Stevenson, J.C. Associations of smoking, alcohol and physical activity with risk factors for coronary heart disease and diabetes in the first follow-up cohort of the Heart Disease and Diabetes Risk Indicators in a Screened Cohort study (HDDRISC-1). *Journal of Internal Medicine* 244, 33-41 (1998).
- 174. Hu, F.B., Sigal, R.J., Rich\_Edwards, J.W., Colditz, G.A., Solomon, C.G., Willett, W.C., Speizer, F.E. & Manson, J.E. Walking compared with vigorous physical activity and risk of type 2 diabetes in women: a prospective study. *Jama : the Journal of the American Medical Association* 282, 1433-9 (1999).
- 175. Myers, J., Kaykha, A., George, S., Abella, J., Zaheer, N., Lear, S., Yamazaki, T. & Froelicher, V. Fitness versus physical activity patterns in predicting mortality in men. *Am J Med* 117, 912-8. (2004).
- 176. Ross, R., Rissanen, J., Pedwell, H., Clifford, J. & Shragge, P. Influence of diet and exercise on skeletal muscle and visceral adipose tissue in men. *J Appl Physiol* 81, 2445-55. (1996).
- 177. Samaras, K., Kelly, P.J., Chiano, M.N., Spector, T.D. & Campbell, L.V. Genetic and environmental influences on total-body and central abdominal fat: the effect of physical activity in female twins. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 130, 873-82 (1999).
- 178. Irwin, M.L., Yasui, Y., Ulrich, C.M., Bowen, D., Rudolph, R.E., Schwartz, R.S., Yukawa, M., Aiello, E., Potter, J.D. & McTiernan, A. Effect of Exercise on Total and Intra-abdominal Body Fat in Postmenopausal Women: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *JAMA* 289, 323-330 (2003).
- 179. Cox, K.L., Burke, V., Morton, A.R., Beilin, L.J. & Puddey, I.B. The independent and combined effects of 16 weeks of vigorous exercise and energy restriction on body mass and composition in free-living overweight men--a randomized controlled trial. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental* 52, 107-15 (2003).

- 180. Poehlman, E.T., McAuliffe, T.L., Van Houten, D.R. & Danforth, E., Jr. Influence of age and endurance training on metabolic rate and hormones in healthy men. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 259, 66-72 (1990).
- 181. Carroll, S. & Dudfield, M. What is the relationship between exercise and metabolic abnormalities? A review of the metabolic syndrome. *Sports Med* 34, 371-418. (2004).
- 182. Kraus, W.E., Houmard, J.A., Duscha, B.D., Knetzger, K.J., Wharton, M.B., McCartney, J.S., Bales, C.W., Henes, S., Samsa, G.P., Otvos, J.D., Kulkarni, K.R. & Slentz, C.A. Effects of the Amount and Intensity of Exercise on Plasma Lipoproteins. *N Engl J Med* 347, 1483-1492 (2002).
- 183. Park, H., Kaushik, V.K., Constant, S., Prentki, M., Przybytkowski, E., Ruderman, N.B. & Saha, A.K. Coordinate regulation of malonyl-CoA decarboxylase, sn-glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase, and acetyl-CoA carboxylase by AMP-activated protein kinase in rat tissues in response to exercise. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 32571-7 (2002).
- 184. Wareham, N., Hennings, S., Byrne, C., Hales, C., Prentice, A. & Day, N. A quantitative analysis of the relationship between habitual energy expenditure, fitness and the metabolic cardiovascular syndrome. *British Journal of Nutrition* 80, 235-241 (1998).
- 185. Johnson, M.S., Figueroa\_Colon, R., Herd, S.L., Fields, D.A., Sun, M., Hunter, G.R. & Goran, M.I. Aerobic fitness, not energy expenditure, influences subsequent increase in adiposity in black and white children. *Pediatrics* 106, E50 (2000).
- Franks, P.W., Ekelund, U., Brage, S., Wong, M.Y. & Wareham, N.J. Does the association of habitual physical activity with the metabolic syndrome differ by level of cardiorespiratory fitness? *Diabetes Care* 27, 1187-93. (2004).
- 187. Franks, P.W., Wong, M.Y., Luan, J., Mitchell, J., Hennings, S. & Wareham, N.J. Non-esterified fatty acid levels and physical inactivity: the relative importance of low habitual energy expenditure and cardio-respiratory fitness. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 88, 307-13 (2002).
- 188. Mitchell, J.H. & Blomqvist, G. Maximal oxygen uptake. *New England Journal of Medicine* 284, 1018-22 (1971).
- 189. Raven, P.B. & Potts, J.T. Cardiovascular responses to exercise and training. in *Oxford textbook of sports medicine* (eds. Harris, M., Williams, C., Stanish, W. & Micheli, L.) 32-46 (1998).
- 190. Bouchard, C., Lesage, R., Lortie, G., Simoneau, J.A., Hamel, P., Boulay, M.R., Perusse, L., Theriault, G. & Leblanc, C. Aerobic performance in

brothers, dizygotic and monozygotic twins. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 18, 639-46. (1986).

- Westerterp, K.R. Physical activity assessment with accelerometers. International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders 23 Suppl 3, S45-9 (1999).
- 192. Ekelund, U., Yngve, A., Westerterp, K. & Sjostrom, M. Energy expenditure assessed by heart rate and doubly labeled water in young athletes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 34, 1360-6. (2002).
- 193. Baecke, J., Burema, J. & Frijters, J. A short questionnaire for the measurement of habitual physical activity in epidemiological studies. *Am J Clin Nutr* 36, 936-942 (1982).
- 194. Duggleby, S. Protocol for anthropometric measurements. (1998).
- 195. Duggleby, S. & Fall, C. Protocol for measurement of skinfold thickness a protocol for fieldworkers at the MRC Environmental Epidemiology Unit, University of Southampton. (1998).
- 196. Han, T.S., Kelly, I.E., Walsh, K., Greene, R.M. & Lean, M.E. Relationship between volumes and areas from single transverse scans of intraabdominal fat measured by magnetic resonance imaging. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 21, 1161-6. (1997).
- 197. Thomas, E.L., Saeed, N., Hajnal, J.V., Brynes, A., Goldstone, A.P., Frost, G. & Bell, J.D. Magnetic resonance imaging of total body fat. *J Appl Physiol* 85, 1778-85. (1998).
- 198. Finegood, D.T. & Bergman, R.N. Optimal segments: a method for smoothing tracer data to calculate metabolic fluxes. *The American Journal of Physiology* 244, 472-479 (1983).
- 199. Finegood, D.T., Bergman, R.N. & Vranic, M. Modeling error and apparent isotope discrimination confound estimation of endogenous glucose production during euglycemic glucose clamps. *Diabetes* 37, 1025-34 (1988).
- Belfiore, F., Iannello, S. & Volpicelli, G. Insulin sensitivity indices calculated from basal and OGTT-induced insulin, glucose, and FFA levels. *Mol.Genet.Metab* 63, 134-141 (1998).
- 201. Holt, H.B., Wild, S.H., Wood, P.J., Zhang, J., Darekar, A.A., Dewbury, K., Poole, R.B., Holt, R.I., Phillips, D.I. & Byrne, C.D. Non-esterified fatty acid concentrations are independently associated with hepatic steatosis in obese subjects. *Diabetologia.* 49, 141-8 (2006).

- 202. Moore, A., Aitken, R., Burke, C., Gaskell, S., Groom, G., Holder, G., Selby, C. & Wood, P. Cortisol assays: guidelines for the provision of a clinical biochemistry service. *Ann Clin Biochem.* 22, 435-54. (1985).
- 203. Coolens, J.L., Van Baelen, H. & Heyns, W. Clinical use of unbound plasma cortisol as calculated from total cortisol and corticosteroid-binding globulin. *J Steroid Biochem.* 26, 197-202. (1987).
- 204. Kasuya, Y., Shibasaki, H. & Furuta, T. The use of deuterium-labeled cortisol for in vivo evaluation of renal 11beta-HSD activity in man: urinary excretion of cortisol, cortisone and their A-ring reduced metabolites. *Steroids* 65, 89-97 (2000).
- 205. Tait, J. Review: The use of isotopic steroids for the measurement of production rates in vivo. *Steroids* 23, 1285-1297 (1963).
- 206. Wareham, N.J., Hennings, S.J., Prentice, A.M. & Day, N.E. Feasibility of heart-rate monitoring to estimate total level and pattern of energy expenditure in a population-based epidemiological study: the Ely Young Cohort Feasibility Study 1994-5. *Br.J.Nutr* 78, 889-900 (1997).
- 207. Richardson, M.T., Ainsworth, B.E., Wu, H.C., Jacobs, D.R. & Leon, A.S. Ability of the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC)/Baecke Questionnaire to assess leisure-time physical activity. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 24, 685-93 (1995).
- 208. Banerji, M.A., Faridi, N., Atluri, R., Chaiken, R.L. & Lebovitz, H.E. Body composition, visceral fat, leptin, and insulin resistance in Asian Indian men. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 84, 137-44 (1999).
- 209. Smith, S.R., Lovejoy, J.C., Greenway, F., Ryan, D., deJonge, L., de\_la\_Bretonne, J., Volafova, J. & Bray, G.A. Contributions of total body fat, abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue compartments, and visceral adipose tissue to the metabolic complications of obesity. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental* 50, 425-35 (2001).
- 210. Zamboni, M., Turcato, E., Armellini, F., Kahn, H.S., Zivelonghi, A., Santana, H., Bergamo-Andreis, I.A. & Bosello, O. Sagittal abdominal diameter as a practical predictor of visceral fat. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.* 22, 655-60. (1998).
- Romero-Corral, A., Montori, V.M., Somers, V.K., Korinek, J., Thomas, R.J., Allison, T.G., Mookadam, F. & Lopez-Jimenez, F. Association of bodyweight with total mortality and with cardiovascular events in coronary artery disease: a systematic review of cohort studies. *Lancet.* 368, 666-78. (2006).

- 212. Teo, K.K., Ounpuu, S., Hawken, S., Pandey, M.R., Valentin, V., Hunt, D., Diaz, R., Rashed, W., Freeman, R., Jiang, L., Zhang, X. & Yusuf, S. Tobacco use and risk of myocardial infarction in 52 countries in the INTERHEART study: a case-control study. *The Lancet* 368, 647-658 (2006).
- 213. Bedogni, G., Miglioli, L., Masutti, F., Tiribelli, C., Marchesini, G. & Bellentani, S. Prevalence of and risk factors for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: the Dionysos nutrition and liver study. *Hepatology.* 42, 44-52. (2005).
- 214. Clarke, J.M. & Diehl, A.M. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: An underrecognised cause of cryptogenic cirrhosis. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 289, 3000-4 (2003).
- 215. Sheth, S.G., Gordon, F.D. & Chopra, S. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Ann Intern Med* 126, 137-45 (1997).
- 216. Staehr, P., Hother\_Nielsen, O., Levin, K., Holst, J.J. & Beck\_Nielsen, H. Assessment of hepatic insulin action in obese type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes* 50, 1363-70 (2001).
- 217. Boden, G., Cheung, P., Mozzoli, M. & Fried, S.K. Effect of thiazolidinediones on glucose and fatty acid metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Metabolism* 52, 753-9 (2003).
- 218. Byrne, C.D., Maison, P., Halsall, D., Martensz, N., Hales, C.N. & Wareham, N.J. Cross-sectional but not longitudinal associations between non-esterified fatty acid levels and glucose intolerance and other features of the metabolic syndrome. *Diabet Med* 16, 1007-1015 (1999).
- 219. Byrne, C.D., Wareham, N.J., Phillips, D.I., Hales, C.N. & Martensz, N.D. Is an exaggerated postprandial triglyceride response associated with the component features of the insulin resistance syndrome? *Diabetic Medicine : a Journal of the British Diabetic Association* 14, 942-50 (1997).
- 220. Byrne, C.D., Wareham, N.J., Mistry, P.K., Phillips, D.I., Martensz, N.D., Halsall, D., Talmud, P.J., Humphries, S.E. & Hales, C.N. The association between free fatty acid concentrations and triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in the post-prandial state is altered by a common deletion polymorphism of the apo B signal peptide. *Atherosclerosis* 127, 35-42. (1996).
- 221. Byrne, C.D., Wareham, N.J., Day, N.E., McLeish, R., Williams, D.R. & Hales, C.N. Decreased non-esterified fatty acid suppression and features of the insulin resistance syndrome occur in a sub-group of individuals with normal glucose tolerance. *Diabetologia* 38, 1358-66 (1995).

- 222. Ryysy, L., Hakkinen, A., Goto, T., Vehkavaara, S., Westerbacka, J., Halavaara, J. & Yki-Jarvinen, H. Hepatic fat content and insulin action on free fatty acids and glucose metabolism rather than insulin absorption are associated with insulin requirements during insulin therapy in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes* 49, 749-758 (2000).
- 223. Golay, A., Swislocki, A.L., Chen, Y.D. & Reaven, G.M. Relationships between plasma-free fatty acid concentration, endogenous glucose production, and fasting hyperglycemia in normal and non-insulindependent diabetic individuals. *Metabolism* 36, 692-6. (1987).
- 224. Saglam, K., Kilic, R., Yilmaz, M.I., Gulec, M., Baykal, Y. & Kutlu, M. Insulin resistance in patients with steatohepatitis. *Hepatogastroenterology* 50, 456-9. (2003).
- 225. Triplitt, C., Glass, L., Miyazaki, Y., Wajcberg, E., Gastaldelli, A., De Filippis, E., Cersosimo, E. & DeFronzo, R.A. Comparison of glargine insulin versus rosiglitazone addition in poorly controlled type 2 diabetic patients on metformin plus sulfonylurea. *Diabetes Care*. 29, 2371-7. (2006).
- 226. Nauck, M.A., Blietz, R.W. & Qualmann, C. Comparison of hyperinsulinaemic clamp experiments using venous, 'arterialized' venous or capillary euglycaemia. *Clin Physiol.* 16, 589-602. (1996).
- 227. Wahab, P.J., Rijnsburger, A.W., Oolbekkink, M. & Heine, R.J. Venous versus arterialised venous blood for assessment of blood glucose levels during glucose clamping: comparison in healthy men. *Horm Metab Res.* 24, 576-9. (1992).
- 228. Ueki, K., Kondo, T., Tseng, Y.H. & Kahn, C.R. Central role of suppressors of cytokine signaling proteins in hepatic steatosis, insulin resistance, and the metabolic syndrome in the mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 6, 6 (2004).
- 229. Buettner, R., Ottinger, I., Scholmerich, J. & Bollheimer, L.C. Preserved direct hepatic insulin action in rats with diet-induced hepatic steatosis. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 286, E828-33. Epub 2004 Jan 13. (2004).
- Carey, P.E., Gerrard, J., Cline, G.W., Dalla Man, C., English, P.T., Firbank, M.J., Cobelli, C. & Taylor, R. Acute inhibition of lipolysis does not affect postprandial suppression of endogenous glucose production. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 289, E941-7. Epub 2005 Jul 5. (2005).
- 231. Basu, A., Basu, R., Shah, P., Vella, A., Rizza, R.A. & Jensen, M.D. Systemic and regional free fatty acid metabolism in type 2 diabetes. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 280, 1000-1006 (2001).

- 232. Bacha, F., Saad, R., Gungor, N., Janosky, J. & Arslanian, S.A. Obesity, Regional Fat Distribution, and Syndrome X in Obese Black Versus White Adolescents: Race Differential in Diabetogenic and Atherogenic Risk Factors. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88, 2534-2540 (2003).
- 233. Ribeiro-Filho, F.F., Faria, A.N., Kohlmann, N.E.B., Zanella, M.-T. & Ferreira, S.R.G. Two-Hour Insulin Determination Improves the Ability of Abdominal Fat Measurement to Identify Risk for the Metabolic Syndrome. *Diabetes Care* 26, 1725-1730 (2003).
- 234. Tiikkainen, M., Tamminen, M., Hakkinen, A.-M., Bergholm, R.,
  Vehkavaara, S., Halavaara, J., Teramo, K., Rissanen, A. & Yki-Jarvinen,
  H. Liver-Fat Accumulation and Insulin Resistance in Obese Women with
  Previous Gestational Diabetes. *Obes Res* 10, 859-867 (2002).
- 235. Westerbacka, J., Corner, A., Tiikkainen, M., Tamminen, M., Vehkavaara, S., Hakkinen, A.M., Fredriksson, J. & Yki-Jarvinen, H. Women and men have similar amounts of liver and intra-abdominal fat, despite more subcutaneous fat in women: implications for sex differences in markers of cardiovascular risk. *Diabetologia* 47, 1360-9 (2004).
- 236. Day, C.P. Pathogenesis of steatohepatitis. *Best practice and research clinical gastroenterology* 16, 663-678 (2002).
- 237. Diehl, A. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Seminars in Liver Disease* 19, 221 (1999).
- 238. Feldstein, A.E., Werneburg, N.W., Canbay, A., Guicciardi, M.E., Bronk, S.F., Rydzewski, R., Burgart, L.J. & Gores, G.J. Free fatty acids promote hepatic lipotoxicity by stimulating TNF-alpha expression via a lysosomal pathway. *Hepatology* 40, 185-94. (2004).
- 239. Byrne, C.D., Wang, T.W. & Hales, C.N. Control of Hep G2-cell triacylglycerol and apolipoprotein B synthesis and secretion by polyunsaturated non-esterified fatty acids and insulin. *The Biochemical Journal* 288 (Pt 1), 101-7 (1992).
- 240. Angulo, P. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *N Engl J Med* 346, 1221-31. (2002).
- 241. Bugianesi, E., Zannoni, C., Vanni, E., Marzocchi, R. & Marchesini, G. Non-alcoholic fatty liver and insulin resistance: a cause-effect relationship? *Dig Liver Dis* 36, 165-73. (2004).
- Promrat, K., Lutchman, G., Uwaifo, G.I., Freedman, R.J., Soza, A., Heller, T., Doo, E., Ghany, M., Premkumar, A., Park, Y., Liang, T.J., Yanovski, J.A., Kleiner, D.E. & Hoofnagle, J.H. A pilot study of pioglitazone treatment for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology* 39, 188-96. (2004).

- 243. Wilson, J. *Williams textbook of endocrinology*, (WB Saunders company, Philadelphia, 1998).
- 244. Bjorntorp, P., Holm, G. & Rosmond, R. Hypothalamic arousal, insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabet Med* 16, 355-7 (1999).
- 245. Stewart, P.M. Cortisol, hypertension and obesity: the role of 11 betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase. *Journal of the Royal College of Physicians of London* 32, 154-9 (1998).
- 246. Utzschneider, K.M. & Kahn, S.E. The Role of Insulin Resistance in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 91, 4753-61 (2006).
- 247. Pasquali, R., Ambrosi, B., Armanini, D., Cavagnini, F., Uberti, E.D., Del Rio, G., de Pergola, G., Maccario, M., Mantero, F., Marugo, M., Rotella, C.M. & Vettor, R. Cortisol and ACTH Response to Oral Dexamethasone in Obesity and Effects of Sex, Body Fat Distribution, and Dexamethasone Concentrations: A Dose-Response Study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 87, 166-175 (2002).
- 248. Cassidy, F., Ritchie, J.C., Verghese, K. & Carroll, B.J. Dexamethasone metabolism in dexamethasone suppression test suppressors and nonsuppressors. *Biol Psychiatry.* 47, 677-80. (2000).
- 249. Huizenga, N.A., Koper, J.W., De Lange, P., Pols, H.A., Stolk, R.P., Burger, H., Grobbee, D.E., Brinkmann, A.O., De Jong, F.H. & Lamberts, S.W. A polymorphism in the glucocorticoid receptor gene may be associated with and increased sensitivity to glucocorticoids in vivo. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 83, 144-51. (1998).
- 250. Kleinbaum, D., Kupper, L., Muller, K. & Nizam, A. *Applied regression analysis and other multivariate methods*, (Duxberry Press, Pacific Grove, California, 1998).
- 251. Aldhahi, W., Mun, E. & Goldfine, A.B. Portal and peripheral cortisol levels in obese humans. *Diabetologia* 47, 833-6 (2004).
- 252. Lottenberg, S., Giannella-Neto, D., Derendorf, H., Rocha, M., A, B., Carvalho, S., Moretti, A., Lerario, A. & Wajchenberg, B. Effect of fat distribution on the pharmacokinetics of cortisol in obesity. *Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther* 36, 501-5 (1998).
- 253. Targher, G., Bertolini, L., Zoppini, G., Zenari, L. & Falezza, G. Relationship of non-alcoholic hepatic steatosis to cortisol secretion in dietcontrolled Type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabet Med.* 22, 1146-50. (2005).
- 254. Vicennati, V. & Pasquali, R. Abnormalities of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis in Nondepressed Women with Abdominal Obesity and

Relations with Insulin Resistance: Evidence for a Central and a Peripheral Alteration. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 85, 4093-4098 (2000).

- 255. Van Cauter, E., Leproult, R. & Kupfer. Effects of gender and age on the levels and circadian rhythmicity of plasma cortisol. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 81, 2468-73 (1996).
- 256. Rask, E., Olsson, T., Soderberg, S., Andrew, R., Livingstone, D., Johnson, O. & BR, W. Tissue-specific dysregulation of cortisol metabolism in human obesity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 86, 1418-21 (2001).
- 257. Morton, N.M., Paterson, J.M., Masuzaki, H., Holmes, M.C., Staels, B., Fievet, C., Walker, B.R., Flier, J.S., Mullins, J.J. & Seckl, J.R. Novel adipose tissue-mediated resistance to diet-induced visceral obesity in 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1-deficient mice. *Diabetes*. 53, 931-8. (2004).
- 258. Jamieson, P.M., Nyirenda, M.J., Walker, B.R., Chapman, K.E. & Seckl, J.R. Interactions between oestradiol and glucocorticoid regulatory effects on liver-specific glucocorticoid-inducible genes: possible evidence for a role of hepatic 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1. *Journal of Endocrinology* 160, 103-9 (1999).
- 259. Moller, D.E., Bjorbaek, C. & Vidal-Puig, A. Candidate genes for insulin resistance. *Diabetes Care.* 19, 396-400. (1996).
- 260. Groop, L.C. & Tuomi, T. Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus--a collision between thrifty genes and an affluent society. *Ann Med.* 29, 37-53. (1997).
- 261. Rice, T., Despres, J.P., Daw, E.W., Gagnon, J., Borecki, I.B., Perusse, L., Leon, A.S., Skinner, J.S., Wilmore, J.H., Rao, D.C. & Bouchard, C. Familial resemblance for abdominal visceral fat: the HERITAGE family study. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.* 21, 1024-31. (1997).
- 262. Pedersen, O. Genetics of insulin resistance. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes*. 107, 113-8. (1999).
- Inglis, G., Ingram, M., Holloway, C., Swan, L., Birnie, D., Hillis, W., Davies, E., Fraser, R. & Connell, J. Familial pattern of corticosteroids and their metabolism in adult human subjects--the Scottish Adult Twin Study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 84, 4132-7 (1999).
- 264. Barker, D.J. & Osmond, C. Infant mortality, childhood nutrition, and ischaemic heart disease in England and Wales. *Lancet* 1, 1077-81. (1986).

- 265. Hales, C.N. & Barker, D.J. The thrifty phenotype hypothesis. *Br Med Bull* 60, 5-20. (2001).
- 266. Burra, P., Franklyn, J.A., Ramsden, D.B., Elias, E. & Sheppard, M.C. Severity of alcoholic liver disease and markers of thyroid and steroid status. *Postgrad Med J.* 68, 804-10. (1992).
- 267. Fernandez-Real, J.M., Pugeat, M., Grasa, M., Broch, M., Vendrell, J., Brun, J. & Ricart, W. Serum corticosteroid-binding globulin concentration and insulin resistance syndrome: a population study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 87, 4686-90. (2002).
- Lewis, J.G., Mopert, B., Shand, B.I., Doogue, M.P., Soule, S.G., Frampton, C.M. & Elder, P.A. Plasma Variation of Corticosteroid-binding Globulin and Sex Hormone-binding Globulin. *Horm Metab Res.* 38, 241-5. (2006).
- 269. Ho, J.T., Al-Musalhi, H., Chapman, M.J., Quach, T., Thomas, P.D., Bagley, C.J., Lewis, J.G. & Torpy, D.J. Septic Shock and Sepsis: A Comparison of Total and Free Plasma Cortisol Levels. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 91, 105-114 (2006).
- 270. Muller, C.A., Vogeser, M., Belyaev, O., Gloor, B., Strobel, O., Weyhe, D., Werner, J., Borgstrom, A., Buchler, M.W. & Uhl, W. Role of endogenous glucocorticoid metabolism in human acute pancreatitis. *Crit Care Med.* 34, 1060-6. (2006).
- 271. Fernandez-Real, J.M., Pugeat, M., Lopez-Bermejo, A., Bornet, H. & Ricart, W. Corticosteroid-binding globulin affects the relationship between circulating adiponectin and cortisol in men and women. *Metabolism*. 54, 584-9. (2005).
- 272. Kajantie, E., Phillips, D.I., Andersson, S., Barker, D.J., Dunkel, L., Forsen, T., Osmond, C., Tuominen, J., Wood, P.J. & Eriksson, J. Size at birth, gestational age and cortisol secretion in adult life: foetal programming of both hyper- and hypocortisolism? 57, 635-41 (2002).
- 273. Stewart, P.M., Penn, R., Holder, R., Parton, A., Ratcliffe, J.G. & London, D.R. The hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis across the normal menstrual cycle and in polycystic ovary syndrome. 38, 387-91 (1993).
- 274. Mayer-Davis, E.J., D'Agostino, R., Jr., Karter, A.J., Haffner, S.M., Rewers, M.J., Saad, M. & Bergman, R.N. Intensity and amount of physical activity in relation to insulin sensitivity: the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. *Jama* 279, 669-74. (1998).

- 275. Carroll, S., Cooke, C.B. & Butterly, R.J. Metabolic clustering, physical activity and fitness in nonsmoking, middle-aged men. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 32, 2079-86 (2000).
- 276. Whaley, M.H., Kampert, J.B., Kohl, H.W. & Blair, S.N. Physical fitness and clustering of risk factors associated with the metabolic syndrome. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 31, 287-93 (1999).
- 277. Wei, M., Kampert, J., Barlow, C., Nichaman, M., Gibbons, L., Paffenbarger, R.J. & Blair, S. Relationship between low cardiorespiratory fitness and mortality in normal-weight, overweight, and obese men. *JAMA* 282, 1547-53 (1999).
- 278. Nassis, G.P., Papantakou, K., Skenderi, K., Triandafillopoulou, M., Kavouras, S.A., Yannakoulia, M., Chrousos, G.P. & Sidossis, L.S. Aerobic exercise training improves insulin sensitivity without changes in body weight, body fat, adiponectin, and inflammatory markers in overweight and obese girls. *Metabolism.* 54, 1472-9. (2005).
- 279. Kasa-Vubu, J., Lee, C., Rosenthal, A., Singer, K. & Halter, J. Cardiovascular Fitness and Exercise as Determinants of Insulin Resistance in Post-Pubertal Adolescent Females. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 30, 30 (2004).
- 280. LaMonte, M.J., Blair, S.N. & Church, T.S. Physical activity and diabetes prevention. *J Appl Physiol.* 99, 1205-13. (2005).
- 281. Lee, S., Kuk, J.L., Katzmarzyk, P.T., Blair, S.N., Church, T.S. & Ross, R. Cardiorespiratory fitness attenuates metabolic risk independent of abdominal subcutaneous and visceral fat in men. *Diabetes Care* 28, 895-901 (2005).
- 282. Borghouts, L.B. & Keizer, H.A. Exercise and insulin sensitivity: a review. *Int J Sports Med* 21, 1-12. (2000).
- Houmard, J.A., Tanner, C.J., Slentz, C.A., Duscha, B.D., McCartney, J.S. & Kraus, W.E. Effect of the volume and intensity of exercise training on insulin sensitivity. *J Appl Physiol* 96, 101-6 (2004).
- 284. Ross, R., Dagnone, D., Jones, P.J., Smith, H., Paddags, A., Hudson, R. & Janssen, I. Reduction in obesity and related comorbid conditions after diet-induced weight loss or exercise-induced weight loss in men. A randomized, controlled trial. *Ann Intern Med* 133, 92-103. (2000).
- Meyers, D.A., Goldberg, A.P., Bleecker, M.L., Coon, P.J., Drinkwater, D.T. & Bleecker, E.R. Relationship of obesity and physical fitness to cardiopulmonary and metabolic function in healthy older men. *Journal of Gerontology* 46, M57-65 (1991).

- 286. Groop, L. & Orho-Melander, M. The dysmetabolic syndrome. *J Intern Med* 250, 105-20 (2001).
- 287. Wei, M., Gibbons, L.W., Kampert, J.B., Nichaman, M.Z. & Blair, S.N. Low cardiorespiratory fitness and physical inactivity as predictors of mortality in men with type 2 diabetes. *Ann Intern Med.* 132, 605-11. (2000).
- 288. Katzmarzyk, P.T., Church, T.S., Janssen, I., Ross, R. & Blair, S.N. Metabolic Syndrome, Obesity, and Mortality: Impact of cardiorespiratory fitness. *Diabetes Care* 28, 391-397. (2005).
- 289. Jonsson, S., Hedblad, B., Engstrom, G., Nilsson, P., Berglund, G. & Janzon, L. Influence of obesity on cardiovascular risk. Twenty-three-year follow-up of 22,025 men from an urban Swedish population. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.* 26, 1046-53. (2002).
- 290. Stewart, K.J., Bacher, A.C., Turner, K., Lim, J.G., Hees, P.S., Shapiro, E.P., Tayback, M. & Ouyang, P. Exercise and risk factors associated with metabolic syndrome in older adults. *Am J Prev Med* 28, 9-18. (2005).
- 291. Walker, K.Z., Piers, L.S., Putt, R.S., Jones, J.A. & O'Dea, K. Effects of regular walking on cardiovascular risk factors and body composition in normoglycemic women and women with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* 22, 555-61. (1999).
- 292. Pedersen, B.K., Steensberg, A., Fischer, C., Keller, C., Keller, P., Plomgaard, P., Febbraio, M. & Saltin, B. Searching for the exercise factor: is IL-6 a candidate? *J Muscle Res Cell Motil.* 24, 113-9. (2003).
- 293. Lagathu, C., Yvan-Charvet, L., Bastard, J.P., Maachi, M., Quignard-Boulange, A., Capeau, J. & Caron, M. Long-term treatment with interleukin-1beta induces insulin resistance in murine and human adipocytes. *Diabetologia*. 49, 2162-73 (2006).
- 294. Fu, Y., Luo, L., Luo, N. & Garvey, W.T. Proinflammatory cytokine production and insulin sensitivity regulated by overexpression of resistin in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Nutr Metab (Lond).* 3, 28. (2006).
- 295. Shadid, S., Stehouwer, C.D. & Jensen, M.D. Diet/Exercise versus pioglitazone: effects of insulin sensitization with decreasing or increasing fat mass on adipokines and inflammatory markers. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 91, 3418-25 (2006).
- 296. Jamurtas, A.Z., Theocharis, V., Koukoulis, G., Stakias, N., Fatouros, I.G., Kouretas, D. & Koutedakis, Y. The effects of acute exercise on serum adiponectin and resistin levels and their relation to insulin sensitivity in overweight males. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 97, 122-6 (2006).

- 297. Giannopoulou, I., Fernhall, B., Carhart, R., Weinstock, R.S., Baynard, T., Figueroa, A. & Kanaley, J.A. Effects of diet and/or exercise on the adipocytokine and inflammatory cytokine levels of postmenopausal women with type 2 diabetes. *Metabolism*. 54, 866-75. (2005).
- 298. Brown, C.D., Higgins, M., Donato, K.A., Rohde, F.C., Garrison, R., Obarzanek, E., Ernst, N.D. & Horan, M. Body Mass Index and the Prevalence of Hypertension and Dyslipidemia. *Obes Res* 8, 605-619 (2000).
- 299. Brown, M.D., Dengel, D.R., Hogikyan, R.V. & Supiano, M.A. Sympathetic activity and the heterogenous blood pressure response to exercise training in hypertensives. *J Appl Physiol* 92, 1434-1442 (2002).
- 300. Ceesay, S., Prentice, A., Day, K., Murgatroyd, P., Goldberg, G., Scott, W. & GB, S. The use of heart rate monitoring in the estimation of energy expenditure: a validation study using indirect whole-body calorimetry. *Br J Nutr* 61, 175-86 (1989).
- 301. Ekelund, U., Brage, S., Franks, P.W., Hennings, S., Emms, S. & Wareham, N.J. Physical activity energy expenditure predicts progression toward the metabolic syndrome independently of aerobic fitness in middleaged healthy Caucasians: the Medical Research Council Ely Study. *Diabetes Care* 28, 1195-200. (2005).
- 302. Haskell, W.L., Yee, M.C., Evans, A. & Irby, P.J. Simultaneous measurement of heart rate and body motion to quantitate physical activity. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 25, 109-15 (1993).
- 303. Katsanos, C.S. Lipid-induced insulin resistance in the liver : role of exercise. *Sports Med* 34, 955-65. (2004).
- 304. Donsmark, M., Langfort, J., Holm, C., Ploug, T. & Galbo, H. Hormonesensitive lipase as mediator of lipolysis in contracting skeletal muscle. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* 33, 127-33. (2005).
- 305. Watt, M.J. & Spriet, L.L. Regulation and role of hormone-sensitive lipase activity in human skeletal muscle. *Proc Nutr Soc* 63, 315-22. (2004).
- 306. Kumagai, S., Tanaka, H., Kitajima, H., Kono, S., Ogawa, K., Yamauchi, M., Morita, N., Inoue, M. & Shindo, M. Relationships of lipid and glucose metabolism with waist-hip ratio and physical fitness in obese men. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders : Journal of the International Association For the Study of Obesity* 17, 437-40 (1993).
- 307. Torjesen, P.A., Birkeland, K.I., Anderssen, S.A., Hjermann, I., Holme, I. & Urdal, P. Lifestyle changes may reverse development of the insulin

resistance syndrome. The Oslo Diet and Exercise Study: a randomized trial. *Diabetes Care* 20, 26-31. (1997).

- 308. Tomlinson, J.W. & Stewart, P.M. Cortisol metabolism and the role of 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase. *Endocr Rev* 15, 61-78 (2001).
- 309. Livingstone, D., GC, J., K, S., PM, J., R, A., CJ, K. & BR., W. Understanding the role of glucocorticoids in obesity: tissue-specific alterations of corticosterone metabolism in obese Zucker rats. *Endocrinology* 141, 560-3 (2000).
- Rask, E., Walker, B.R., Soderberg, S., Livingstone, D.E., Eliasson, M., Johnson, O., Andrew, R. & Olsson, T. Tissue-specific changes in peripheral cortisol metabolism in obese women: increased adipose 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 activity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 87, 3360-6 (2002).
- 311. Rockall, A.G., Sohaib, S.A., Evans, D., Kaltsas, G., Isidori, A.M., Monson, J.P., Besser, G.M., Grossman, A.B. & Reznek, R.H. Computed tomography assessment of fat distribution in male and female patients with Cushing's syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol.* 149, 561-7. (2003).
- 312. Bjorntorp, P. & Rosmond, R. The metabolic syndrome--a neuroendocrine disorder? *The British Journal of Nutrition* 83 Suppl 1, S49-57 (2000).
- 313. Drapeau, V., Therrien, F., Richard, D. & Tremblay, A. Is visceral obesity a physiological adaptation to stress? *Panminerva Med.* 45, 189-95. (2003).
- 314. Marin, P., Darin, N., Amemiya, T., Andersson, B., Jern, S. & Bjorntorp, P. Cortisol secretion in relation to body fat distribution in obese premenopausal women. *Metabolism* 41, 882-6 (1992).
- 315. Kral, J.G., Buckley, M.C., Kissileff, H.R. & Schaffner, F. Metabolic correlates of eating behavior in severe obesity. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders : Journal of the International Association For the Study of Obesity* 25, 258-64 (2001).
- 316. Williams, D., Prevost, A., Whichelow, M., Cox, B., Day, N. & Wareham, N. A cross-sectional study of dietary patterns with glucose intolerance and other features of the metabolic syndrome. *Br J Nutr* 83, 257-66 (2000).
- 317. Clasey, J.L., Bouchard, C., Teates, C.D., Riblett, J.E., Thorner, M.O., Hartman, M.L., Weltman, A. The use of anthropometric and dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) measures to estimate total abdominal and abdominal visceral fat in men and women. *Obes Res* 7(3): 256-64 (1999).

## INDEX

Air displacement plethysmography	. 44
Anthropometry and blood pressure	. 41
Assessment of cardiorespiratory fitness and energy expenditure	. 36
Assessment of hepatic insulin sensitivity	. 26
Assessment of insulin sensitivity	. 24
Assessment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease	. 31
Assessment of whole body insulin sensitivity	. 47
Baecke Questionnaire	. 54
Bioelectrical impedance	. 44
Bioimpedance and other measurements of total body water	. 18
Blood pressure	. 46
Body composition	. 56
Body Mass Index (BMI) 16.	41
Calculating body fat percentage from skin fold thickness	. 43
Cardiorespiratory fitness	. 54
Central obesity	. 29
Corticosteroid binding globulin (CBG)	50
Cortisol clearance	51
Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA)	44
Dyslipidaemia	29
Energy expenditure	38
Ethical approval	39
Euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp	24
Features of the metabolic syndrome	28
Fitness1	14
Free cortisol	50
Glucocorticoid	96
HDL cholesterol	46
Height	41
Hip circumference	42
Homeostasis model assessment (HOMA)	24
HRFlex method	53
Hydrostatic weighing and air displacement plethysmography	19
Hypertension	30
Hypothalamic pituitary adrenocortical axis (HPAA) studies	50
Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis (HPAA)	96
Inclusion criteria	40
Insulin resistance	28
Definition, pathogenesis and molecular mechanisms	20
Insulin sensitivity in adipose tissue	49
Insulin sensitivity in muscle and liver	49
Interplay between the features of the metabolic syndrome	32
Lipid profile	46

Liver biopsy	
Liver enzymes	
Low dose ACTH test	
Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)	
Mass spectrometry for deuterated cortisol	
Maximal oxvgen uptake	
Measures of regional fatness	
Medical history and examination	
Metabolic syndrome	
Definition, epidemiology and metabolic consequences	
Morning cortisol	
MRI spectroscopy	
NAFLD	
Definition, pathogenesis and epidemiology	
Ultrasonography	
Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)	
Obesity	
Assessment of Obesity	
Definition, epidemiology and metabolic consequences	14
Oral glucose tolerance test	
Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) – 75g	
Physical activity	
Physical activity and fitness	
Physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE)	53
Physical activity questionnaires	
Preparation of deuterated cortisol	51
Recruitment of subjects	
Research facility	
Skin fold thickness	
Skin fold thickness measurement	
Subject characteristics	
Suppression of free fatty acids	
Tissue insulin sensitivity	
Total cholesterol	
Treadmill assessment of VO <sub>2</sub> max	
Triglycerides	
VO <sub>2</sub> max	
Waist circumterence	17, 20, 41
Waist hip ratio	
Weight	